
Children's Commissioning Committee 
The council is now holding virtual meetings. This plays a part in helping us to maintain 
the safety of the public, staff and councillors.

The City Mayor has asked that, as far as possible, there is still public involvement and 
input into the decision-making process.

Therefore, should you wish to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, 
which will be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, by 
sending an email to the address at the bottom of this agenda.

Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place.

Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus 

DATE: Wednesday, 11 November 2020

TIME: 9.30 am

VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting

AGENDA

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 9 September 2020 (Pages 1 - 6)

4  Matters arising 

5  Finance Report (David Warhurst) (Pages 7 - 18)

6  Children, Young People and Families Impact Assessment of 
Covid-19 (Debbie Blackburn) 

(Pages 19 - 78)

7  Salford Transitions Policy (Debbie Blackburn / Caitlin Chapman) (Pages 79 - 112)

8  Integrated Fund Business Plan and Financial Implications (David 
Warhurst) 

(Pages 113 - 136)

9  BOND Programme Business Case (Debbie Blackburn / Jane 
Case) 

(Pages 137 - 162)

10  0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups (For Information) 

- Therapies ERG

(Pages 163 - 182)

Public Document Pack



- Salford Thrive
- BOND Programme
- Early Help
- SEND Partnership

11  Urgent Business - Part 1 

12  Exclusion of the Public 

13  Ingleside Birth and Community Centre update (Eejay Whitehead) (Pages 183 - 194)

14  Urgent Business - Part 2 

15  Date and time of next meeting - Wednesday 13 January 2021 at 
9.30am 

Contact Officer: Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel No: 0161 793 3011
E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


1 | P a g e

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

9 September 2020

9.30 a.m. to 11.07 a.m.

PRESENT: Nick Browne (NB) - in the Chair
 
Members:

Councillor John Walsh (JW) Executive Support Member for Education and Learning
(SCC)

Kate Jones (KJ) Neighbourhood Lead (CCG)
David Warhurst (DW) Chief Finance Officer (CCG)
Councillor Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance and Support Services (SCC) 
Councillor Jim Cammell (JC) Executive Support Member for Social Care and Mental 

Health (SCC)
Karen Proctor (KP) Director of Commissioning (CCG)
Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Accountable Officer (CCG)
Charlotte Ramsden (SR) Strategic Director, People (SCC)

In Attendance:

Eejay Whitehead (EW) Senior Service Improvement Manager 
(Children & Maternity) (CCG)

Debbie Blackburn (DB) Assistant Director of Public Health Nursing and 
Wellbeing (SCC)

Michelle Whittaker (MW) Public Health Development Strategic Manager (SCC)
Mike McHugh (MM) Senior Democratic Services Officer (SCC)

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

1.1. NB welcomed those present to the meeting.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.1. Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor John Merry, Harry 
Golby and Chris Hesketh. 

3. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

3.1. No conflicts of interest were declared in respect of the items included on the agenda 
for this meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 5
Children’s Commissioning Committee
9 September 2020

4. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

4.1. The minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 2020, were approved as a correct record.

5. MATTERS ARISING

5.1. There were no matters arising.

6. FINANCE UPDATE

6.1. DW presented a finance report which provided the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee (CCC) with an in-year update in relation to the financial performance of 
the children's element of the integrated fund at month 4 2020 / 21 

6.2. It was reported that owing to the current uncertainty in relation to the NHS financial 
regime, the position was currently not forecast forward to the end of the financial 
year. It was noted that, at time of writing, the CCG had not yet formally received 
confirmation of its allocation for month 5. 

6.3. At month 4, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund is currently showing an
overspend of £0.8m.

6.4. The main areas of over and under performance within the fund against the 
approved integrated fund plan for 2020/21 were highlighted, as follows -  

- Looked After Children £2.8m overspend 

£2.1m of this overspend related to out of area placements. The other areas 
highlighted were independent fostering arrangements (£0.3m) and residential 
care (0.2m)  

- Committed Developments £1.9m underspend 

This predominantly related to the release of the contingency (£5m full year) 
which was set aside to offset the pressure on looked after children. 

- Committed Developments 

The nationally calculated block contracts resulted in overspends on 
children’s, offset by service underspends on adults. Consequently £1.4m of 
funding had been transferred into children’s. Without this transaction, the 
overspend would have been c. £2.2m. The Adult’s position following the 
transaction was materially balanced.

- Children’s Best value (BOND) 

The programme was expected to deliver significant savings through 2020/21, 
however as at Month 4, the benefits of this programme were being assessed 
and therefore the impact included in the fund was minimal.

Page 2



Page 3 of 5
Children’s Commissioning Committee
9 September 2020

6.5. Details were also provided which related to the key risks along with updates which 
were related to the children’s integrated fund. This was provided along with the next 
steps in delivering a balanced children’s integrated fund position for 2020/21.

6.6. RESOLVED: (1) THAT the in-year position of the children’s services within the 
Integrated Fund for 2020/21 be noted.

(2) THAT the risks and next steps for children’s services for the 
remainder of 2020/21 be noted.

7. URGENT BUSINESS - PART 1 

7.1. There were no items of urgent business. 

8. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

8.1. RESOLVED: THAT, under section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as specified in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

9. BOND PROGRAMME - QUARTERLY UPDATE

9.1. DB submitted a report which provided the Children’s Commissioning Committee 
(CCC) with a summary of the programmes in the Better Outcomes New
Delivery (BOND) programme formally known as Best Value.

9.2. DB provided details of the background for the programme and also the investment 
by the Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) into four programmes of 
children’s transformation.

9.3. It was confirmed that each programme had interdependencies and sought to 
improve the outcomes for Salford children and their families. 

9.4. It was noted that the programmes were implemented based on evidence of 
effectiveness from other parts of the country and had been localised to operate 
within existing systems. 

9.5. It was reported that each programme was funded on an ‘invest to save’ basis and 
details were provided relating to the savings and cost avoidance for each 
programme. 

9.6. RESOLVED: (1) THAT the report we noted. 

(2) THAT the ongoing investment into these programmes be 
supported. 

(3) THAT a detailed evaluation report be presented at the next 
meeting of this committee to support a business case for the programme 

Page 3



Page 4 of 5
Children’s Commissioning Committee
9 September 2020

10. 0-19 CHILDREN’S INTEGRATED HEALTH SERVICE, SPECIALIST HEALTH 
SERVICE FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND THE YOUTH JUSTICE 
SERVICE

10.1. MW submitted a report which provided the Children’s Commissioning Committee 
(CCC) With an update and assurance on key issues raised relating to 0-19 
Children’s Integrated Health Service, Specialist Health Service for Looked After 
Children and the Youth Justice Service contracts.

10.2. Updates were provided on the progress of the services and further information was 
submitted in order to give assurance on the quality and evidence required.  

10.3. RESOLVED: (1) THAT the information received from Salford Royal Foundation 
Trust (SRFT) as assurance on provision of the 0-19 services be noted.  

(2) THAT the issues raised regarding the Looked After Children (LAC) 
/ Youth Justice Service (YJS) specialist health contract; the interdependencies with 
other commissioned services and the ongoing work with SRFT, be noted.  

11. INGLESIDE BIRTH AND COMMUNITY CENTRE

11.1. EW and KP submitted a report which provided the Children’s Commissioning 
Committee (CCC) with an update on progress following the discussion at previous 
meetings on the future commissioning of Ingleside BCC.

11.2. RESOLVED: (1) THAT the content of report and progress to date with existing 
maternity service providers on a collaborative approach be noted.

(2) THAT the risks highlighted in relation to the timeline be noted.
 

(3) THAT The proposal to allow Salford Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) to negotiate a contract extension with the current provider be approved. 

12. URGENT BUSINESS - PART 2

12.1. There were no items of urgent business.

13. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION ONLY

13.1. The following items were submitted to the Committee for information -

- 0-25 Highlight - Therapies ERG - OT / PT Service Review / SLCN
- 0-25 Highlight - Salford Thrive 
- 0-25 Highlight - Voice of the Child Advisory Group 
- 0-25 Highlight - CAN ERG 
- 0-25 Highlight - Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG) 

13.2. RESOLVED: THAT further copies of the updates be provided to members, including 
the embedded documents contained within the current versions.

Page 4



Page 5 of 5
Children’s Commissioning Committee
9 September 2020

14. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

14.1. RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of this Committee be held on Wednesday 11 
November 2020 at 9.30 a.m.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (CCC) 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

11th November 2020 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Chief Accountable Officer

Date of Paper: 30th October 2020

Subject: Finance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

David Warhurst, Interim Chief Finance 
Officer

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

 Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Children’s Commissioning Committee with:

 An update on the 2020/21 financial performance of the Integrated Fund for 
Children services (Section 2)

 An update on the projected future performance of the Integrated Fund for 
Children’s services beyond September 2020 (Section 3&4).

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

NONE

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 8



  
Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?
Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 



Legal Advice Sought


Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)



Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 9



  
Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC)

Finance Report – 11th November 2020

1. Executive Summary

This finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) with an in-
year update in relation to the financial performance of the children’s element of the 
Integrated Fund at month 6 (September) 2020/21.

At month 6, the children’s element of the Integrated Fund (IF) is currently showing an 
overspend of £1.3m.

Section 2 highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the Fund against 
the approved IF plan for 2020/21.  The key areas that resulted in the outturn are highlighted 
below:

 Looked After Children £3.0m overspend - £2.0m of this overspend relates to out of 
area placements. The other areas to note are Independent Fostering Arrangements 
£0.5 and Residential care £0.3m. 

 Committed Developments £3.3m underspend – This predominantly relates to the 
release of the contingency (£5m full year) that was set aside to offset the pressure on 
looked after children.

 Committed Developments - The nationally calculated block contracts resulted in 
overspends on Children’s, offset by services underspends on Adults. Consequently a 
further £0.7m has been transferred to September 2020 bring the total transferred to 
£2.1m. The Adult’s position post the transaction is materially balanced.

Section 3 gives an indication of the likely spend related to the children’s IF for the 
remainder of 2020/21 and whether the plan can be afforded for the rest of the year based 
on the latest funding allocations received.
Section 4 highlights the key risks and next steps for the remainder of 2020/21 that are 
related to the children’s IF in delivering a balanced children’s IF position for 2020/21 and 
possible future years considerations.
CCC is asked to note the in-year position for the children’s integrated fund for 2020/21 and 
the risks identified affecting the children’s integrated fund presently and in the future.

Page 10



  
2. 2020/21 In Year Monitoring
2.1 This latest finance report provides the Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) 

with the in-year position up to September 2020 of the Children’s element of the 
Integrated Fund for the financial year (2020/21).  The appendices contain a lot of 
detail and are appended to give members a more thorough understanding of the 
scope of the Children’s Integrated Fund.  There are explanatory notes included in the 
appendices which hopefully explain the key messages contained within them.

2.2 This finance report is based on September 2020 CCG and local authority information 
available at the time of writing the report.  A detailed analysis of the key children’s 
services within the Children’s Integrated Fund is shown in Appendices One to Four. 
The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have scrutinised the position and agreed to 
the key messages. 

2.4 The in-year position of children’s services is an over performance of £1.3m to 
September 2020 the movement of £0.4m is in line with expectations from the July 
2020 position, as shown in Table 1 below.

Table 1: 2020/21 Financial Summary

Page 11



  
2.5 Looked After Children – Compared to planned 2020/21 levels to September 2020 

there is an overspend of £2.9m on this area. £2.0m of the over spend relates to out of 
area placements. The cost pressures in these areas have been exacerbated by the 
impact of Covid-19, for which the estimated cost impact has currently been included 
against the committed developments budget line within the fund. Appendix 1 gives a 
breakdown of the other services in the Looked after Children category.
Partners are working to quantify the immediate impact on expenditure and funding as 
a result of Covid-19, whilst also trying to model the financial impact of how services 
will continue to be delivered as part of planning for recovery. 

2.6 Contingency - As part of the approved plan a contingency of £5m full year was set to 
reduce the 2019/20 financial pressure (£7.5m) within children’s services. The 
expectation is that the children’s best value transformation, such as Route 29, would 
offset the remaining pressure from 2019/20.

2.7 Committed Developments - £2.1m of funding has been transferred between Adults’ 
and Children’s services. NHSE mandated that commissioners pay providers on a 
block contract basis, initially until the end of July, since extended to the end of 
September. These block prices were calculated predicated on expenditure to Month 9 
in 2019/20, including uplift for growth. Therefore, these calculations are significantly 
different from those expected through locally commissioned contract values. As an 
example, one off 2019/20 critical care costs are in the nationally calculated contract, 
whereas these wouldn’t have been in local plans.
This resulted in an under spend within Children’s offset by an over spend within 
Adults, conveyed primarily in the Acute lines in table 1.  As these changes where not 
linked to service provision, it was necessary to transfer an appropriate level of 
funding. It should be noted this transfer covers M1-6 and the expectation is this will 
also be required for the remainder of the financial year.

3. Remainder of 2020/21 (M7-12)
3.1 The below table reflects the funding changes that have been imposed on the 

Children’s IF, these have previously been include within reports to CCC. This reflects 
the new annual combined funding available to the Children’s IF for 2020/21.

Table 2: 2020/21 Income Adjustment

3.2 Due to the split of acute spend between children’s and adults services £2.6m has 
been transferred between the 2 funds to cover the cost transference that has 
occurred. This also includes the £0.4m uplift in the public health grant for 2020/21.

3.3 This identifies that a £2.6m pressure remains for children’s services when funding is 
compared to expected spend for 2020/21. This needs to be considered against the 
below table showing the proposed forecast of 2020/21.

Page 12



  

Table 3: 2020/21 Financial Forecast

3.3.1 Opening budget – Children’s started 2020/21 with a balanced position but this was 
subject to the previous overspend of £7.5m being accounted for in the £5.0m 
contingency and the children’s best value (BOND) delivering £2.5m in cost reductions 
through the year. The current forecast assumes that the £2.5m cost reduction won’t 
be achieved in 2020/21 as such giving a risk adverse position.

3.3.2 Investments – Committed developments is mostly the contingency set at the start of 
the year. However this also includes some small investments planned for the 
remainder of 2020/21 that aren’t related to the children’s best value (BOND). These 
can be found in appendix 3.

3.3.3 Level of risk – The above is predicated on 31% of the proposed spend being on 
block payments for the rest of the year. The risk to this position sits with the services 
that are directly delivered by the council.

Page 13



  
4. Key Risks/Updates
4.1 The £2.6m over performance is predicated on the children’s best value (BOND) 

programme not delivering the required saving through 2020/21. However this may still 
deliver some savings as a risk adverse position has been reported to September 
2020.

4.2 From October 2020 there will little access to national funding in order to cover any 
COVID-19 costs. Up to September 2020 these costs have been managed outside 
current funding arrangements due to national funding, however as there is a shortfall 
in funding for COVID-19 costs going forward, this may become a cost pressure for 
the fund and there is no contingency within the plan to cover these costs as it stands

4.3 Consideration also needs to be given to the wider impact of COVID-19 on the health 
needs of Salford residents given referrals into services have reduced and will mean 
that waiting lists will no doubt increase in the future as we overcome the pandemic.

4.4 Looking to future years allocations the CCG are expecting this to be available in 
January 2021 and the Council spending review should be available around the same 
time. Updates will be provided to CCC once they are available.

4.5 It is worth noting that the grants the council received were rolled over for 2020/21 and 
at present it is unknown if any of these will continue beyond 2020/21 given they were 
set to end in March 2020.

5. Recommendations
5.1 The Children’s Commissioning Committee (CCC) is asked to:

 Note the in-year position of the children’s services within the Integrated Fund for 
2020/21.

 Note the risks and next steps for children’s services for the rest of 2020/21.

David Warhurst
Interim Chief Finance Officer, Salford CCG
3rd November 2020

Page 14



  
Appendix 1 – Looked After Children 2020/21

Notes on this Appendix:
This appendix shows all of the Looked after Children services that are managed directly by 
Salford City Council.
The in-year position shows a £2.9m overspend to September 2020. This is predominantly 
due to outside placements already showing a £2.0m over spend to September 2020. This 
has increased at the same level as we saw to July 2020 with costs reducing slightly on the 
July 2020 position. Other areas of note are Fostering at £0.5m over spend and Residential at 
£0.3m over spend. These areas have continued at July 2020 levels of spend with Fostering 
being slightly higher to September than July 2020.
This is the biggest area of financial risk for the Children’s Integrated Fund. The impact of the 
“Route 29” scheme should be within the position but this should have a positive impact on 
improving the position through the rest of the year. A separate update to this committee is 
provided on progress of this scheme.

Page 15



Appendix 2 – Localities 2020/21

Notes on this Appendix:
This appendix shows all of the Localities Services that are managed directly by Salford City Council.
The in-year position shows these services have over spent by £0.2m to September 2020. These 
services overspent due to increased assessment and child protection costs this is in line with last 
year’s spend. Between July 2020 and September 2020 there has been a clear reduction in the 
amount spent by locality teams throughout Salford this has resulted in a lower spend since July 
2020 to September 2020 in this area.

Page 16



Appendix 3 – 2020/21 Children’s Investments

The above table shows the level of investment proposed into children’s for the rest of 2020/21. The 
£5.0m contingency is still required to offset any potential overspend within children’s services. A 
small investment for recovery has been requested that doesn’t fall under the current best value 
(BOND) scheme.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No.

REPORT OF Steve Dixon and Charlotte Ramsden 

TO
Childrens Commissioning Committee 

ON 

    11 November 2020 

TITLE: Children, Young People and Families Impact Assessment 
Framework Covid-19

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the content of the 
report 

 Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the link to the 
recovery plan process and be assured that this work is ongoing 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: The document that has been collated to develop a whole 
system approach and engage with a wider range of partners to really help us 
understand the impact and the emerging issues and to track back how we are 
progressing. The impact assessment identifies some of the positive impacts to 
enable us to learn and evolve and to consider opportunities going forward as well as 
the negative impacts that the pandemic has created, currently there is no 
benchmarking or comparators with other GM authorities available but this has been 
escalated via the Strategic Clinical Network.

KEY DECISION: NO

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



2

DETAILS: 
The impact assessment document has been developed based on the Wales Impact 
assessment and adapted for use in Salford to enable a system wide response to the 
impact of Covid 19 and allow us to monitor on an ongoing basis the impact 

Page 20



3

Children, Young People and Families Impact Assessment Framework Covid-19

Overarching Context:-

Impact Assessment to improve knowledge and understanding of the wide-ranging impacts of the Staying at Home and Social Distancing Policy, during a 
complex and evolving situation. It is intended that this will help us to identify actions to mitigate negative impacts and enhance positive impacts of the 
policy and further inform strategies for recovery and renewal.

The following has been developed from a number of sources and provides a strategic overview of the impact of COVID 19.

Positive impacts:- 

 Mobilisation of society as a whole to protect those who are more vulnerable, contributing to increased community cohesion and resilience for 
example the local SOS network. A rapid increase in use of digital technology, which has helped people to stay connected with loved ones, continue 
working, continue with their education, and access key services such as health and social care.

 Significant engagement and support from the VCSE sector
 The strengthening of family and friendship bonds, for example through increased contact through social media and digital technology.
 Home working has provided greater flexibility for some individuals, enabling individuals to achieve a better work-life balance. Home working may 

have increased productivity. 
 There has been rapid action to place those who are homeless in accommodation.
 The protection of those who are vulnerable, for example by providing food for children who are eligible for free school meals – localised Holiday 

Health programme established.
 A reduction in overall crime rates and juvenile nuisance
 Reduced car use and traffic, along with improved air quality and reduced NO2 emissions.

P
age 21



4

 An increased appreciation of the importance of physical activity, including in promoting mental well-being. For some of the population, physical 
activity levels have increased.

 Increased use of technology in Health and Social Care provision virtual clinics – telephone and video conferencing 
 Revisions to patient pathways
 Increase in self-care 
 Evidence that some children have experienced improved wellbeing during COVID

Negative Impacts:-

The Staying at Home and Social Distancing Policy has had an unintended negative impact for nearly all population groups and across a range of policy areas 
and health and well-being determinants.

 Population groups: Low-income households have been disproportionately affected in a number of ways, including economic and financial impacts; 
some impacts have been partially mitigated by the national financial support measures such as furloughing.

 All groups have been affected by reduced interpersonal and social contact, resulting in feelings of isolation and loneliness.
 Worsening of mental well-being across the population (such as depression and feelings of confusion, anger, anxiety and loneliness, and increased 

suicidal ideation), as well as an exacerbation of mental health conditions.
 Those most at risk include women, women with children, those on low incomes, healthcare workers, those with existing mental health conditions, 

those who have been shielded and older people and people of any age who live alone
 Those who work in sectors which have closed due to restrictions, resulting in people losing jobs, or experiencing reduced income
 Impact on self-employed and business owners, and business closures in communities/town centres
 Women and children who are more likely to have experienced violence including domestic violence and sexual abuse.
 Those who usually rely on others to provide care and support in the home may have faced difficulties in obtaining this due to movement 

restrictions.
 Babies, children and young people (including young adults) have had their education interrupted, have experienced major changes to their routines 

and structures and have experienced reduced opportunities for socialising with peers. 
 Children from low-income households are more likely to have been adversely affected.
 The closure of childcare settings and schools has meant that some children may have lost access to a place of safety. Children could be at greater 

P
age 22



5

risk of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) due to a range of factors dependent on the family situation.
 Key workers who have continued working have been placed at increased risk of contracting the virus and of experiencing mental health impacts 

such as anxiety and distress.
 Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups, who have been identified as having worse health outcomes as a result of contracting COVID-19, 

and who may also have experienced an increase in hate crimes.
 Impact of bereavement, weddings, births and other significant life events 
 Impact of anxiety regarding academic qualifications and meeting access requirements for further/higher education courses
 impacts on young people transitioning from primary to secondary, to FE and HE and/or into work, with fewer job opportunities for young people
 Challenges of home-schooling and stresses of child care, combined with home working
 Difficulties relating to working from home for some people due to busy house, noisy neighbourhood and/or lack of appropriate space to work
 Impact for some people on not having access to ‘face to face’ services and practical/hands on support in the home

Determinants of health and well-being:

 Negative impacts on the economy resulting in reduced income and spending, increased unemployment, and closure of small businesses; the 
subsequent health impacts will continue to be felt when measures have been lifted.

 Reduced public transport use, which is likely to continue with the easing of restrictions; this is anticipated to result in an increase in the number of 
car journeys. This could impact on achieving active and sustainable travel policy goals.

 Reduced use and / or reduced access and increased waiting times for some health and care services, such as hospital Emergency Departments, and 
the suspension of a number of healthcare interventions, potentially leading to increased morbidity and mortality from non-COVID-19 health 
conditions. 

 An increase in health harming behaviours such as snacking and an increase in alcohol consumption.
 Increased domestic abuse
 Social media use has increased the spread of misinformation and feelings of stress and panic.
 Crowded or poor housing quality exacerbating existing health conditions and negatively impacting on mental well-being. 

Opportunities:-

P
age 23



6

There are a number of opportunities to promote and protect population health and well-being and reduce health inequity. These include (not in any order 
of priority):

 Accelerated use of digital technology across many aspects of daily life including the delivery of Health and Social Care.
 Improved working arrangements across Primary and Secondary Care.
 Building on the Self-care opportunities
 Increased use of home and agile working, such as promoting flexible working practices such as staggered start and finish working times, and more 

flexible service opening hours.
 Moving to a sustainable economic development model, where health and factors contributing to population well-being are at the forefront of 

decision-making.
 Building on the increase in volunteering to harness the strengths of the VCSE Sector, thereby promoting community cohesion and ensuring greater 

resilience to the ongoing pandemic response.
 Promoting healthy behaviours related to alcohol, tobacco, diet and physical activity and reinforcing whole system approaches to health protection 

and well-being in schools.
 Promoting and supporting opportunities for active travel and increasing public transport provision and use in the longer term.
 Advocating interventions that will protect against future outbreaks (whether COVID-19 or other infectious diseases), such as improved health 

literacy on hygiene measures.
 Reducing car use / ownership and increased car sharing, and associated environmental benefits 

Considerations:-

 Mitigate against worsening health inequity as a result of the policy through: monitoring the impacts on different population groups over the short, 
medium and longer term; and ensuring that any support measures and interventions are targeted proportionately at individuals and communities 
who are most affected or to those that most need support (prioritising services).

 The policy has negatively impacted on the mental well-being for the whole population. Ongoing mental health and well-being support is needed for 
individuals and communities particularly affected even when policy restrictions are lifted, as this phase may cause further uncertainty and fear. 
Mental well-being needs to be a key consideration of policy changes and integral to the recovery and renewal phases. 

 The needs and views of babies, children and young people should to be central to decision-making on issues such as the re-opening of childcare 

P
age 24



7

settings and schools, provision of services for children, and supporting children’s mental health and wellbeing. Early action across the whole system 
is needed to support babies, children and young people from low-income households who have been most affected by the Social Distancing Policy, 
in order to mitigate long-term impacts on their life chances

 The jobs and livelihoods of a significant proportion of the population have been affected, with ongoing uncertainty about how many more will be 
impacted Mitigation measures should be targeted at specific groups with greater need, such as individuals and families on low income, those living 
in areas of deprivation, and those who have / or are at risk of losing their jobs. The health and wellbeing impacts of an economic downturn need to 
be considered in conjunction with the potential impacts of Brexit and negotiated Free Trade Agreements.

 There is little evidence regarding the potential impacts of phasing out and reintroducing the policy. Decision makers should identify how easing 
restrictions or introducing measures in future will impact on health, well-being and equity. This should include identifying population-level impacts, 
for example on excess morbidity and mortality. HIA should be embedded in policymaking and planning processes, particularly for areas where there 
is limited evidence on impacts, to allow policy adaptation or for mitigation measures to be introduced at an early stage. 

 A number of opportunities for improving population health and well-being have emerged as a result of the pandemic and the policy response, such 
as increased home working or use of digital technology .Recovery planning should build on learning from the emergency pandemic response, 
including the rapid scale and speed at which collaborations have been forged and action taken, and the unique opportunity to embed the 
Sustainable Development Principle and tackle other emergencies such as climate change.

 Both retrospective and prospective analyses of evidence, data and health intelligence can provide timely insights into the impacts on the population 
of the virus and the policy response measures.  As well as gain insight into the acceptability and effectiveness of future policies and plans, for 
example in the event of further pandemic waves. Monitoring population health and well-being impacts of COVID-19 and response measures is 
being undertaken by Public Health and can be used by decision makers to identify the optimal balance between COVID-19 control measures and 
minimising unintended negative impacts over the longer term.

Summary Specific Impact of COVID on Children and Young People:-

 Increased mental health or wellbeing concerns, and increased levels of distress and complexity of presentations (including suicidal ideation and self-
harm)

 Increased loneliness and isolation missing friends, family and school
 Disruption  (and inequity of access) to education – impact on exams, and transitions
 Lack of safe space – including not being able to access their youth club/ service and lack of safe spaces at home

P
age 25



8

 Challenging family relationships
 Impact of an increase in the incidence of Domestic abuse
 Lack of trusted relationships or someone to turn to
 Increased social media or online pressure – for some digital poverty and access to technology
 Higher risk for engaging in gangs, substance misuse, carrying weapons or other harmful practices
 Higher risk for sexual exploitation or grooming
 Impact may be higher for those already experiencing ACE’s
 Not being able to access health care in the same way or independently or privately
 Reduced amount of physical activity

Local impact Analysis:-

Reflecting on the context provided above and utilising the approach in the table below we are asking services at a local level to assess the impact of COVID 
19 on Children and Young people in Salford.  Where possible we would like to get a feel for how this year compares to last year in relation to recorded data 
it is acknowledged that this is not a true indication of the impact but it will provide us with a baseline from which to assess changes. We are specifically 
interested in the narrative relating to the impact set against the context already described. It is important to harness both the positive and negative effects 
and to incorporate the learning from changes to delivery and how best we might take these forward in developing new pathways and ways of working. The 
table below provides the framework to support the collection of localised information.

Type of impact 
Positive/Opportunity 
Impacts that are considered to improved status 
or opportunity to do so

Negative
Impacts that are considered to 

diminish health status 
Likelihood of impact 

Confirmed Strong direct evidence e.g. from a range of sources that an 
impact has happened or will happen 

Confirmed

Probable More likely to happen than not. Direct evidence but not Probable 

P
age 26



9

from limited sources.
Possible May or may not happen. Plausible, but with limited 

evidence to support.
Possible

Intensity or severity of impact
Major Significant in intensity, quality or extent. Significant or 

important enough to be worthy of attention, noteworthy.
Major

Moderate Average in intensity, quality or degree Moderate

Minimal Of a minimum amount, quantity or degree, negligible. Minimal 

Duration of impact
Short term (S) Impact seen in 0 – 1 year Short term (S)

Medium Term (M) Impact seen in 1 – 5 years Medium Term (M)

Long Term (L) Impact seen in > 5 years Long Term (L)

Children, Young People and Families Impact Assessment Framework COVID 19

Salford Hospital 
Attendances at 
PANDA

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

P
age 27



10

Provided by Alison 
Pike

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments

Reduction in attendance 
at Panda unit through 
Covid period. Now 
increasing but not yet 
back to usual levels. 

Probable
Moderate

Impact likely to be immediate as Panda 
attendances are for immediate / acute ill 
health. Possible immediate complications 
from late presentation/delayed treatment

Possible
Moderate

Possible delayed complications from late 
presentations / delayed treatments leading 
to complications in the longer term

Evidence collected for RCPCH 
survey does not suggest a high 
number of late presentations.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
Panda Unit has 
continued to run normal 
services throughout 
Covid period but has put 
in place innovative 

Panda Unit will continue to run normal 
services 

Panda Unit will continue to run normal 
services 

Panda Unit has remained open and 
able to see any sick child that 
presents throughout covid. 
Innovative solutions that have been 
used to see patients off site will be 

P
age 28



11

solutions to see / advise 
patients in their own 
home where possible to 
avoid the physical need 
to attend the unit.

evaluated and considered for 
longer term use as appropriate

Other health services have been operating and treatment may have been sought appropriately elsewhere (e.g. PrimaryCcare) or recovery successful 
without additional support needed.

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 CommentsAttendance at 
School
Provided by Cathy 
Starbuck

Average % attendance will be 95% % attendance ranged from 5-50% in schools 
since March – July 

For vulnerable children this 
reached a maximum of 25% for 
children with social workers and 
20% for children with EHCPS

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Probable

Major
 Impact on the children’s education 
progress, particularly vulnerable groups.
In Salford, in line with the North West, 
attendance is well below the national 
average. This is due to the high numbers 
of positive cases that are impacting on 
schools and the knock on impacts of pupils 
who are having to self isolate due to being 
contacts. In October 2020  around 2700 
pupils on average  were isolating on any 
one day which is around 7.5% of the 
cohort. The % of other absences are about 

Not yet known 

P
age 29



12

4% higher than would normally be 
expected due to school avoidance due to 
anxiety of parents. 

Probable
Major

Impact on safeguarding outcomes, 
particularly vulnerable groups.
Early analysis shows that the  attendance of 
vulnerable groups such as the EHC cohort 
and those pupils with social workers is 
below that of their peers. The attendance 
of children in need and those on child 
protection plans is weaker than Looked 
after children 

Not yet known

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

Strategy to promote and support 
attendance in place, with specific support 
for vulnerable groups. 

Not yet known

Schools make effective use of additional 
intervention funding to enable pupils to 
catch up 

Not yet known

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 CommentsYoung People not 
in education, 
employment and 
training (NEET) 
aged 16/17  

Jan – 5.6%
Feb – 5.7%
Mar – 5.6%
Apr – 5.5%
May – 5.4%

Jan – 5.2%
Feb – 5.4%
Mar – 5.2%
Apr – 5.6%
May – 5.6%

These are NEET only figures and do 
not include the ‘Not Known’ figure 
which is usually around 1.5%

P
age 30



13

Provided by Sarah 
Scanlan 

June – 6%
July – 6.5%

June – 5.9%
July – 6.2%

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Probable
Major

NEET has increased slightly but we expect 
a higher spike into the autumn once year 
11 leavers settle down and other young 
people have completed provision in the 
summer and have not moved into 
employment/further training.  Retention 
in full time education could also become a 
greater issue.

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Probable
Moderate

Government schemes with grant 
incentives to employers may support 
some young people into traineeships and 
apprenticeships.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

Weekly updates on NEET from Connexions 
from Sept – Dec (and beyond where 
necessary).

P
age 31



14

Closely working with providers to ensure 
YP are handed over to services where 
there is no onward progression in place.  
Also ensuring any early leavers are well 
supported to prevent long term NEET.
Working with local employers to 
encourage placement opportunities, 
alongside government schemes.

Early Help 
Provided by Becky 
Bibby 

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

Early Help 1,293 requests for Early Help Support 
during the above period (Q4 18/19-Q1 
19/20)

1,007 requests for Early Help support during 
the above period (Q4 19/20-Q1 20/21)

Referrals during Q1 20/21 (Apr-Jun 
20) were down 52% on the same 
period the previous year.

Reduction in referrals from 
universal health services and 
schools account for greatest impact 
on demand.

Universal 18-month 
Assessment

No comparative data for this period. 262 requests for 18-month child 
development check during the above period 
(Q4 19/20-Q1 20/21).  These were all 
received during Q1 (Jan-Mar 20).

There were no (zero) referrals 
during Q1 20/21 (Apr-Jun 20).

School Readiness In academic year 2018/2019, the 
percentage of children achieving a good 
level of development (GLD) was 68% and 
the national GLD was 72%.

No data available for this period. No EYFSP took place in 2020 due to 
Covid.

P
age 32



15

Speech and Language During Summer Term 2018/19, a total of 
2,196 WellComm Assessments were 
completed:
‘Green’ rated: 56%
‘Amber’ rated: 17%
‘Red’ rated: 27%

During Summer Term 2019/20, a total of 
113 WellComm Assessments were 
completed.  
‘Green’ rated: 57%
‘Amber’ rated: 21%
‘Red’ rated: 22%

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Early Help Probable
Moderate

Expecting increased volumes of referrals 
for Early Help during Q3 20/21 as schools 
re-open. Referral volumes are already 
approaching pre-COVID levels.

Probable
Moderate

Restricted use of home visits impacts on 
the ability of the service to effectively 
engage and work in partnership with 
families, particularly vulnerable groups.

Probable
Major

Referrals for families who may not have 
previously experienced contact with 
children’s services and anticipated increase 
in complexity and prevalence of need within 
families would present capacity challenges 
for the service.

Universal 18-month Possible Not yet known.

P
age 33



16

Assessment Moderate

Delay to the roll-out of the universal 
18month assessment may impact on child 
development outcomes, particularly 
vulnerable groups.

School Readiness Probable
Major

Anticipated negative impact on school 
readiness, particularly vulnerable groups.

Not yet known.

Speech and Language Probable
Major

Anticipated negative impact on speech 
and language, particularly vulnerable 
groups.

Not yet known.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
Early Help Reduction in new demand during 

lockdown enabled a focus on 
managing risk and support for existing 
caseloads.  

All cases RAG rated and risk managed and 
reviewed through weekly partnership 
Triangulation meetings.

Opportunities to have a mixed model of 
engagement with families that includes 
online, video, telephone and face to face 
contact.

Prioritisation of face to face contact for 
vulnerable families.

P
age 34



17

Triangulation meetings in place across all 
localities 
Individual risk assessments and visiting 
schedule in place for all families.  
Estimated 95% of visits undertaken 
virtually using new technology.

All practitioners have undertaken a self-
audit on current caseloads to enable 
managers to monitor when every child 
was last seen.

Early Help Schools Coordinators 
collaborating with schools and partners to 
deliver a multi-agency support pathway 
for EBSA (Emotionally Based School 
Avoidance).  

Developed a universal/targeted online 
early help offer, including Solihull 
parenting courses.

Explore how further development of online 
offer may extend reach into communities to 
enable self-help and free up capacity to 
support vulnerable groups.

Peer volunteer programme being 
considered. 

Universal 18-month 
Assessment

Universal 18 month checks resumed in 
West Locality from June 2020.

Roll-out of universal 18 month checks 
across the city to resume from November 
2020.

Not yet known.

P
age 35



18

School Readiness Starting Life Well are working with 
colleagues across GM and have set up a 
series of free sessions to focus on Year 1 
recovery curriculum.

Extra EYFS schools’ coordinators’ meetings 
planned for autumn term (1 per month) to 
support EY school leaders with the 
challenges of the new school year

Salford webpages to support Home 
learning have been completely updated 
with sections for each age range of 
children from 0-5 with accompanying Key 
Learning expectations

Not yet known.

Speech and Language Suggested that WellComm screening 
which is currently used on entry to nursery 
is also used on entry to reception this year 
to give a baseline starting point and clear 
individualised learning objectives for 
teachers to use to move children on 
successfully

Not yet known

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments0-19 provision
Provided by 
Michelle Ward Jan-March Q4 2018/19 Data Jan-March Q4 2019/20 Data

*Reviews done within time frame

P
age 36



19

April-June Q1 2019/20 Data

*NBV 97%
*6-8 week review 89%
*9 month review 90%
*2-2 ½ yr review 87%
Breastfeeding rate at 6 weeks 48%

*NBV 96%
*6-8 week review 90%
*9 month review 88%
*2-2 ½ yr review 83%
Breastfeeding rate at 6 weeks 41%

*NBV 97%
*6-8 week review 90%
*9 month review 88%
*2-2 ½ yr review 87%
Breastfeeding rate at 6weeks 49%

April-June Q1 2020/21 Data

*NBV 98%
*6-8 week review 90%
*9 month review 92%
*2-2 ½ yr review 96%
Breastfeeding rate at 6weeks 53%

NCMP Coverage reception and Yr 6 above 
96%

NCMP  coverage Reception 67.5%
NCMP Coverage Year 6 92.1%

NCMP Programme has ceased 
during COVID

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Confirmed 

Major

Increase in breastfeeding figures should
 have a positive impact on infant and 
maternal mental health and physical 
health.

Confirmed 
Major

Increase in breastfeeding figures should 
have a positive impact on infant and 
maternal mental health and physical health.

P
age 37



20

Probable
Moderate

Decrease  in face to face contacts has led 
to a reduction in safeguarding referrals to 
the Bridge.

Probable
Moderate

Increase in safeguarding referrals as face to 
face visits take place.

Probable
Moderate

Possible decrease in early identification of 
need to put in appropriate professional 
advice, support and treatment.

Probable
Moderate

Identification of needs at a later stage 
requiring intervention rather than 
prevention.

Possible
Moderate

Decrease in identification of childhood 
obesity through NCMP thus impacting on 
child health.

Possible
Moderate

Decrease in identification of childhood 
obesity through NCMP thus impacting on 
child health.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
Service has followed 
national advice for 
community services, 
maintaining contacts but 
providing these virtually 
where possible and safe 
to do so.

Service will follow NHSE set plans for 
future programme delivery .

Service will follow NHSE set plans for future 
programme delivery.

Triangulation meetings provide a 
way for families who are struggling 
to be identified and supported.

P
age 38



21

Any concerns raised 
through virtual contacts 
are followed up and 
supported as normal.
Free School Meals
Provided by Cathy 
Starbuck

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

Pupils eligible for Free 
School Meals 

Range during this period is 7592-8192 Range during this period of 9550 -10610 This increase in uptake is far more 
than in previous years. The 
increased uptake could be due to 
increased eligibility in the 
population due to increased 
poverty or that the FSM vouchers 
available via the schools during the 
period of school closure has made 
applying for FSM more attractive to 
some families. 

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Confirmed 

Major

Increase in FSM uptake has increased 
significantly, and this will have a positive 
impact on pupil’s take up of the Free school 
meals during this time and also the Pupil 
premium that schools will receive for pupils 

Confirmed 
Major

It is hoped that this eligibility will be 
maintained. 

P
age 39



22

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

 Need to retain this high level of take up. 
 Need to reinforce comms with families to ensure the eligibility is maintained 

Domestic Abuse
Provided by Claire Baddley and Jane Case 
COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Positive: from April to 
July Harbour Young 
People’s Domestic 
Abuse Service offered 
support to practitioners 
in response to Covid to 
complete safety 
planning and de-
escalation plans to 
support with the 738 
CIN cases for domestic 
abuse and the 513 CP 
families with primal 
concern to be domestic 
abuse. 

Probable 
Moderate

Over this period, it’s resulted in most 
families now having a robust save-lives 
safety plan and de-escalation plan.

Probable 
Moderate

It is hoped that the service will be able to 
increase attendance numbers and 
engagement levels on groups once 
restrictions are less.

 Harbour is a new service 
developed through Covid that 
couldn’t currently comment on 
increase as a result of Covid 
due to the short time the 
service has been running. 

 There has been concerns with 
IT access for young people. 

 LGBT engagement 
 BME engagement
 Substance misuse and 

dependency to be high-lighted 
due to the increase in numbers 
reported vis the drug and 
alcohol services and mental 
health sector.

 There has been issues with 
facilitation bases.

P
age 40



23

 There has been issue with 
sexual health clinics for young 
people and training from their 
staff due to Covid and reduced 
numbers in the buildings

 Since the service 
started to work with 
young people 
directly in June 
2020, we have had 
over 90 referrals 
into the service for 
121 which is 
positive.

 No groups are 
currently running 
due to Covid  
restrictions on 
delivery

 Counselling 
provisions been set 
back until October 
1st but is due to start 
shortly with a 
waiting list already. 

 Staff training for 
DART and TRAP 

Probable
Moderate

This is impacting on the fact that groups 
can’t take place and the delivery model 
and outcomes can’t be delivered so aren’t 
met.

Covid prevented people accessing this 
support due to appropriate building space 
( can’t happen at home due to following a 
trauma informed model)

Being addressed currently. minor set back 

Probable 

Probable
Moderate

In October groups are expected to be 
delivered weekly which shouldn’t impact the 
12-24-month contract overall.

This should not impact on the number of 
counselling sessions bought because of the 
block booking ensuring a carryover in 
counselling hours for the next 3 months.

P
age 41



24

funded through the 
BOND hasn’t stated 
yet due to Covid 
restrictions on 
training delivery and 
the external 
providers being 
behind on delivery 
sessions

 New resources 
implemented, 
process to support 
DA cases and 
practitioners guide 
has been introduced 
and the resource 
tool kit.

Moderate

Covid enabled these tools to be 
introduced via Microsoft teams with most 
practitioners working from home and 22 
training sessions to be delivered including 
1 lunch bowl. This has supported in 
tightening practice when supporting cases 
and risk assessing more appropriately.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
 Jane case is leading on a new integrated strategy for domestic abuse including the young person’s provision.
 Perpetrator provisions been provisionally funded by the CCG over the next 12 months to support with a full family approach (Covid funding)
 Dartington are completing an evaluation of harbour and developing the theory of change and trauma informed outcome framework in line with Covid
Childrens Social 
Care
Provided by Zoe 
Fearon and Chris 

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

P
age 42



25

Pitchford 
Awaiting data for this section

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Children’s Social Care 
Probable
Moderate

Reduction in new referrals and demand 
demand during lockdown enabled a focus 
on managing risk and support for existing 
caseloads.  

All cases RAG rated and risk managed and 
reviewed through individual children’s 
plans.

Triangulation meetings in place across 
teams at the beginning and continued in 
the LAC service as very beneficial.

Individual risk assessments and visiting 
schedule in place for all families based 
upon individual circumstances and level of 
risk/need

Regular audits undertaken by QAU on 

           
Probable
Moderate

Once children are back and school and 
visible to services then demand may 
significantly increase which will impact upon 
capacity.

Children may have been living in risky 
situations without early identification due to 
a lack of contact with professionals meaning 
a higher level of need is identified when a 
contact is made.

Significant increase in family tensions 
throughout lockdown may lead to increased 
cases of family breakdown which will impact 
upon the sufficiency of placements within 
the City.

Increase in demand across the service 
meaning reduced capacity to respond.

P
age 43



26

Covid risk assessments in order to check 
consistency and quality.
Difficulty in engaging with families to 
ensure vulnerable children return to 
school

Virtual engagement with the teenage 
cohort has been positive in some instances 
as they have been comfortable with the 
medium of engagement which has led to 
increased participation in some instances

Potential increase in online exploitation 
due to a significant amount of time spent 
online during lockdown

Increase in family tensions has led to 
significant injuries to children being 
identified.

Technology has been a barrier for some 
families in terms of participation in 
meetings.

Children have missed significant amounts of 
their education

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including  detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and 
what we would like to keep)

Individual children’s plans have been 
regularly reviewed to ensure that risk 
assessment are clear in terms of whether 

Increased attendance at meetings due to the 
availability of technology, time saving with 
not having to travel has been positive for 

P
age 44



27

face to face visits are required.

Staff have utilised a blended approach to 
visiting dependant on threshold and levels 
of risk.

Staff have had increased flexibilities 
around working remotely and planning the 
work week to ensure their time is utilised 
effectively.

Cases have progress and been closed in a 
more timely way due to increased scrutiny 
which has created some capacity in the 
system to deal with a potential increase in 
referrals.

staff.

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 CommentsImmunisations 
and Vaccinations 
Provided by Jane 
Ramm

Imms 18/19 academic 
year

Data

SLB/Men ACWY  Yr 9 2086 86.7%
*HPV1 (Female only) 1018 76.3%
*HPV 2 (Female only) 951 71.3

Imms 19/20 academic year Data

SLB/Men ACWY  Yr 9 1806 66.9%
*HPV1 yr 8 (Female) 1041 74.8%
HPV 1 yr 8 (Male) 1120 75.6%
*HPV 2 yr 8 (Female) 6        0.2%
HPV 2 Yr 8 (Male) 2        0.1%

*School Based Delivery including 
female Jewish population that 
declines vaccine

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Probable

Moderate
Possible

Moderate

P
age 45



28

Children remain unimmunised therefore 
susceptible to infections

Children remain unimmunised therefore 
susceptible to infections

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

 Immunisation recovery plan in place for academic year 2019/20 whilst undertaking scheduled immunisation programmes
 To complete scheduled immunisation programme in schools

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 CommentsSALT
Provided by 
Michelle Morris

Info requirements not established

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Challenges Probable
Moderate

Families not all having access to suitable IT 
or not wanting virtual input has led to:
 Not all children have been able to 

access SLT input
 Quality of assessment & interventions 

has been affected
 Children/young people waiting longer 

for direct interventions

Probable
Moderate

 Longer term impact of the “word gap” 
having an adverse impact upon 
children’s vocabulary development and 
widening existing differences which will 
impact upon children’s communication 
skills and achievement within school.

 Children being missed or not receiving 
timely support may lead to 

P
age 46



29

 Risk of children being missed due to 
need to ‘catch up / prioritise’ when 
dealing with backlog

 Possible negative impact of lockdown 
on children's health / communication 
meaning they aren’t attending 
school/settings or feel able to access 
SLT input (e.g., clinic appointments)

 “Word gap” being heightened due to 
reduced access to services and 
parent/carers not accessing/receiving 
support from professionals to 
promote communication

 Schools may be limited in the support 
they can offer due to need to maintain 
Covid secure environments.

 Families feeling anxious about 
travelling to different settings may 
lead to them not accessing 
appointments.

 Reduced social opportunities for 
children/young people means reduced 
language opportunities and models. 
This is likely to impact upon 
development of social skills

communication difficulties increasing 
and having a negative impact upon 
behaviour, motivation and attendance in 
school.

 If many of our families are technology 
poor than they will continue to miss out 
on any virtual offer from the service 
around strategies, training and 
intervention.

 Continued local lockdowns and limits to 
group numbers will lead to reduced 
social opportunities for children/young 
people means reduced language 
opportunities and models. This is likely 
to impact upon development of social 
skills

Positives Feedback from impact of 

P
age 47



30

Confirmed 
Major

 Strengthened online offer (website 
and helpline)

 Better access to info for families / 
professionals (if they have access to 
appropriate technology)

 Service developed flexible access and 
range of access for service users

 Staff have better access to IT and 
flexible working

 Work with schools to support them 
using catch up funding appropriately

 Parental engagement has been 
positive

Confirmed 
Major

 Continued flexibility and offer from the 
service to meet needs in a more creative 
way.

 Improved multi-agency approaches to 
working.

teletherapy from children/young 
people, parents/carers and schools 
indicating a positive impact

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

 Maintain flexibility of service provision 
and strengthen access to online 
support information

 Maintain parental engagement
 Promote and maintain Thrive model of 

provision for children with SLCN and 
support schools, settings and other 

P
age 48



31

professionals in their understanding of 
what they can be doing to support 
development of communications.

Development of systems to support data 
collection to show input and impact from 
SLT.
Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 CommentsEHCPs

Provided by Geoff 
Catterall 

277 requests for EHC needs assessments 
(236 from professionals; 41 from parents).

230 requests for EHC needs assessments 
(185 from professionals; 45 from parents). 

Although a reduction in EHC 
requests, it was not as low as 
anticipated. There was a slight rise 
in parental requests which would 
be expected as parents have 
requested assessments during 
lockdown partly based upon their 
home learning experiences. 

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Probable

Major

Although schools remained open for 
children with EHCPs during lockdown, 
attendance was below or at the national 
average as many families opted to keep 
their children at home. Children broadly 
fell into 2 categories:
1. Children and young people whose 

needs could be met at home. For 

Probable
Major

 Educational services may continue 
to be affected by staff shortages, 
school closures, or other 
limitations.  

 Catch up opportunities
 Funding pressures
 Re-assessments of needs – 

pressures on services 

The Coronavirus Act 2020 gave the 
Secretary of State powers to issue 
a notice to temporarily disapply 
 educational requirements, which 
are usually required by law. 

This included requirements on the  
local authority to secure education 
and health care provision under 
an EHCP. The duty was still fulfilled 
if the LA  made ‘reasonable 

P
age 49



32

example, those children who were not 
receiving personal care from their 
setting, or whose limited need for 
personal care could be met in their 
home. 

2. Children and young people who were 
at significant risk if their education, 
health and care provision and 
placement did not continue. These 
children could not safely be supported 
at home. 
 Managed via co-produced risk 

assessments 
 Massive disruption to children’s  

routines caused by school closures 
– struggle to adapt to the new 
routines (especially for those with 
complexity of needs relating to 
autism)

 Impact upon emotional and 
mental wellbeing. 

 Increased anxiety and sometimes, 
agitation. 

 Changes to the way that therapies 
have been delivered have 
impacted at first, but this has been 
managed well, ultimately to 
children’s improving outcomes.  

 The continued ‘challenge’ around 
social distancing and implications of 
changes to guidance being shared 
with children. 

 Anticipated rise in requests for EHC 
needs assessments where children 
are not able to ‘catch up’. 

endeavours’ to fulfil these 
requirements. 

This meant that some of the 
support children received was 
altered.  

P
age 50



33

 Not being able to see friends was 
very upsetting and frustrating for 
some.

 Not all EHCP children understood 
the reasons for the multiple 
changes to their daily lives. 

 Parents distressed at trying to 
explain the pandemic and feeling 
of ‘not being able to cope’ 

 Reports from some parents of 
their children having ‘regressed’ 
during the lockdown period.

 Friendships have changed. 
 Emotionally based school 

avoidance as some children are 
quite fearful of other adults, 
having been with close family for 
such a long period of time. 

 Heightened feelings of insecurity. 
 Some families report increases in 

distressing behaviours. 
 Sense of being overwhelmed
 Use of IT has been hugely 

successful in a lot of situations but 
does not suit all EHCPs

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

 Continue with virtual multi agency meetings where families are comfortable with this approach

P
age 51



34

 Clear communication and co-production with families is key
 Blended learning has worked well for a number of EHCPs, but not all – personalised approaches

CAMHS referrals
Provided by Emily 
Edwards 

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

CAMHS Nr Referrals 2179

Nr Referrals Accepted 1730

Nr of Not accepted 
referrals

449

Waiting Times Ref to 1st 
Contact (Weeks Avg)

3.8

Waiting Times Ref to 2nd 
Contact (Weeks Avg)

8.3

DNA’s (new appt) 17%

DNA’s (ongoing appt) 12%

Nr Referrals 1604

Nr Referrals Accepted 1360

Nr of Not accepted 
referrals

244

Waiting Times Ref to 1st 
Contact (Weeks Avg)

3.6

Waiting Times Ref to 2nd 
Contact (Weeks Avg)

8.4

DNA’s (new appt) 16%

DNA’s (ongoing appt) 15%

CAMHS reduction in referrals in Q1 
(871 in 2019 vs 451 in 2020), 
though July data shows referrals 
now nearly at usual levels.
Current caseload – 1798 cases open 
with 40 cases per caseload on 
average.
CAMHS has noted a significant 
increase in inappropriate referral 
from April 2020, reflecting the fact 
that other parts of the system were 
not ‘open as usual’, particularly 
Education and social care, and 42nd 
st provision was closed to paper 
based referrals.
Waits to 2nd have increased slightly 
in 2020 but this is skewed by 
holding onto referrals due to 
implementation of the new Neuro 
Development pathway.

42nd Street Core Service Core Service No paper based referrals have been 

P
age 52



35

Nr Referrals 277

Nr people on 
waiting list

576

Referral to 
assessment 
(weeks)

9.7

Referral to 
treatment 
(Counselling)

41.4

Referral to 
therapeutic 
support: 
(Complex)

41.0

Referral to 
treatment 
(Early Help)

24.0

% DNA’s (At 
assessment) 

11%

Nr Referrals 100

Nr people on 
waiting list

593

Referral to 
assessment 
(weeks)

15.01

Referral to 
treatment 
(Counselling)

48.06

Referral to 
therapeutic 
support: 
(Complex)

68.46

Referral to 
treatment 
(Early Help)

12

% DNA’s (At 
assessment) 

3%

Online referrals
To date (Oct 19-June 20), Salford YP have 
accounted for 27% of all referrals into on-
line support and 72 YP have been supported. 
For Q1, April – June 2020: 38% all referrals, 
61 YP supported, 12 current 9 awaiting start.

accepted since April 2020, however 
young people already in the system 
have continued to be assessed and 
supported (via the core service, via 
ICR and GM offer to 
schools/schools directly 
commissioned) , and new referrals 
have been routed via the on-line 
offer (see data below). 
In this time 115 YP came off the 
waiting list, however waiting times 
have lengthened and waits for 
Counselling and 1-2-1 Psycho-social 
support went up by an average of 5 
weeks in July 2020. The level of 
complexity and risk relating to 1-2-
1 PS support has increased notably 
during COVID, and endings have 
been more difficult. 

P
age 53



36

All Age Liaison Mental 
Health (GMMH) – Panda 
under 18 Presentations 
(under 18s)

 Total
Nr Referrals 292

 Total
Nr Referrals 239

Referrals down in Q1 20/21
Only 18 referrals in April and May 
2020, but increased in June with 
referrals approaching normal 
levels.
Direct impacts of COVID noted in 
assessments in Q1 (see below data) 

GM Crisis Care Pathway – 
Rapid Response Team 
(GM commissioned)

GM CCP has now been running for 1 year with the first full year report providing data 
from June 201 – June 2020. Please note that this is a GM provision and that YP crises do 
not respect boundaries and can therefore YP can be supported by any GM team, not just 
the team which is responsible for the area in which they reside or in which their GP is 
registered. However, the following headlines show a steady increase in GM CCP activity 
over the year and a notable growth pan GM in crisis presentations & attended contacts 
from April – June 2020.
GM data:
June 2019 (65 referrals) vs June 2020 (102)
In 6 months from Jan – June 2020 (454 referrals) vs (343) from July- Dec 2019
Salford:
Referrals by CCG June 2019 - June 2020 – 50 referrals (Salford lowest of all in GM)
Central Team (Salford referrals) April to June 2020 = 13, July 2020 = 6 (of which 5 
accepted, 1 declined due to mum calling an ambulance rather than RRT)
RRT attended contacts by team and patient registered CCG (April – June 2020):
Central Team (Salford CCG contacts) = 147 (joint 5th highest in GM with Oldham) after 
Manchester, Bolton, Wigan and Bury.

Note that GM CCP reporting is 
relatively new and a first year 
review in pending.

COVID Impact analysis Short term Longer term Comments 

P
age 54



37

Impact description both 
positive and negative

(6-12 Month) impact (12 – 24 Month) impact

CAMHS Probable
Major

Good levels of engagement in new digital 
offer which CAMHS implemented at pace. 
Service maintained and increased opening 
hours during Covid. 
Anticipated increased demand/referrals 
over the coming months. Referral 
numbers now approaching pre-Covid 
levels.
Service has reported increased levels of 
distress and number of admissions.

Probable
Major

Close monitoring is required to assess longer 
term impact / anticipated increase in 
referrals (surge), whether increase of YP not 
known to CAMHS, nature of  presentations 
and levels of distress/risk and admissions.
It is hoped that roll out of new Thrive in 
Education offer and dedicated MH Support 
team will help manage increase demand / 
reduce number of inappropriate referrals 
and provide earlier help. 

42nd St Confirmed
Major

Positive development of online offer 
during COVID and use of phone/video has 
been beneficial for some young people, 
but not for all. Some people paused to 
await F2F offer.
Service closed to new / paper-based 
referrals during Covid with plans to reopen 
from Oct. Anticipated increased demand 
in referrals (minimum 10% surge, more 
likely to be 20%+) expected over the 
coming months. 

Probable
Major

Close monitoring of service demand and 
capacity and nature of presentations is 
required to inform further 
investment/mitigation. 
The on-line offer has been a significant 
development and at pace and is now at 
capacity. This has been reported to GM and 
CCG commissioners and is identified as a 
current risk. 

P
age 55



38

Waiting times and pressures service 
capacity are at significant risk of increasing 
further as referral pathways are re-
opened. 
Increased levels of distress/risk reported, 
self-harm & suicide ideation.
Endings have been more difficult and 
those young people accessing ongoing 
support have taken up more service 
capacity than usual.

On-Line
42nd were soft launching an online offer on 
Salford following a successful CCG 
innovation funded pilot. However, in 
response to anticipated COVID demand 
pressures and closure of paper-based 
referrals to core service, 42nd st have 
trained core staff to offer to existing YP on 
caseload and as a new self-referral route 
into the service. See data above. This now 
needs to be incorporated into core service 
monitoring reports. 

AALMH (GMMH) – Panda 
under 18 Presentations

Probable
Moderate

Nearing the end of lockdown, we saw an 
increase in demand for YP with a diagnosis 

Probable
Moderate

Longer term impacts will be closely 
monitored.

P
age 56



39

of (or suspected) ADHD and ASC, who 
were struggling as a result of 
Covid/lockdown measures. In May, the 
service noted that CV19 was directly linked 
to 63% of presentations. Of those 
affected, 71% had a diagnosis of ADHD or 
ASC.

GM CCP/RRT Possible
Moderate

Not yet known.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what we 
would like to keep)
CAMHS See joint work started with 42nd St and Early help below.

Service opening hours extended to 8am-8pm to allow maximum appointments to be 
offered, currently proving 18 assessments per week for routine referrals on reduced 
staffing capacity model compared to usual 36 appointments, but now increasing to 25 per 
week capacity. If referrals increased significantly (e.g. up to 50+), CAMHS can manage but 
waits for assessment will increase from 3 to 6-8 weeks.  Capacity has been increased in 
duty function to provide timely support for urgent cases (support within 7 days) and 
consultation for the wider system. All referrals/risks are reviewed via weekly MDT 
meetings. CAMHS report effective working with GM CCP RRT.

42nd St As described above. Risks identified/reported – impacting on waiting times and capacity 
of service to respond, especially as referral pathways are reopened. Recommendations 
made to CCG for urgent increased funding / capacity, (COVID related).
GM commissioners have met with 42nd St to review COVID data and recovery plans, risks 
and issues are understood and being managed in line with locality plans. Manchester CCG 
have commissioned a full  independent review of 42nd St service delivery and this will be 
useful in informing long term plans in Salford and joint commissioning with Manchester 
CCG. 

P
age 57



40

A first meeting with CAMHS, 42nd St and Early Help on 07.09.20 has identified a number of 
areas for joint work to support 42nd St pressures and explore opportunities for sharing a 
proportion of new referrals/discharge (step down) of cases into Early Help provision 
(including opportunities for joint development & delivery of group work between Youth 
service and 42nd St) , and to determine is any cases should be stepped up/re-directed to 
CAMHS. Further investigations and review of sample cases will inform whether any joint 
COVID surge plans can be trialled to assess and manage new ‘COVID specific’ referrals.

AALMH Service continues to monitor increasing demand and nature of presentations. AALMH can 
now refer to RRTs though this hasn’t been reported in Salford.

GM CCP / RRT First full year evaluation pending.
Adult Mental 
Health Referrals
Provided by Judd 
Skelton and Clare 
Mayo 

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

IAPT Referrals (talking 
therapies)

 

Average referrals for the above period 
were 1448 across the IAPT system. 

Average referrals for the above period were 
1075. 

Significant drop in referrals in April 
2020 to 666 which is comparable to 
1332 in April 2019. 

Current referrals (September 2020) 
are 1381 which is only slightly 
under the 1469 referrals for 
September 2019.

Beyond Data for May – July 2020 
Referrals to the Beyond line from Spirit of 
Salford were approx. 250 

Referrals to date (September 2020) 
showing as 456.

Crisis and Crisis  April May June July August 

P
age 58



41

Prevention A+E Liaison 
Referrals in 
2019

583 625 585 680 562

A+E Liaison 
Referrals in 
2020

341 434 531 549 545

Referral rates remain consistent with pre COVID levels. However increased acuity remains 
a factor in the presentation of patients being seen by mental health liaison. Service 
reports increased acuity with 57% of assessments leading to mental health services 
following up / referral.  7% of presentations progressing to formal mental health act 
admission.  Admission rate remains stable but at an increased level due to this. There has 
also been a small increase in the number of section 136 patients being brought to Salford 
services.

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

IAPT
Probable

Major

Anticipating increased numbers of 
referrals over the coming months. Referral 
numbers are already approaching pre-
Covid levels. 

Presentation of people who may not have 
experienced contact with mental health 
services previously. 
Capacity of the service may be challenged to 
meet the increased prevalence. 

Probable
Major

Living Well + Beyond Living Well programme is linked 

P
age 59



42

Major
Confirmed

Contact via the Spirit of Salford line for 
people needing mental health support as a 
result of COVID-19 and associated 
restrictions.  Anticipated that this cohort 
will continue to present and may increase 
– although this may not be via the Spirit of 
Salford pathway. 

Major
Confirmed

Opportunity to consider how the Living Well 
and Beyond models continues to interact to 
inform a future model. 

into the work re Trauma informed 
care and resilience / Aces work 
across CYP provision. 

Crisis Prevention 
Moderate
Possible

Increased acuity of presentation to A+E 
Liaison MH team. Risk that this will lead to 
increased support requirements on the 
Liaison Team, Home Based Treatment 
Teams, Inpatient services and CMHTs. 

Moderate
Possible

May lead to capacity challenges in mental 
health teams. Increased demand / acuity in 
A+E may impact on national targets and 
outcomes for individuals. 

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
IAPT Services offering delivery online and 

telephone and have done so since 
February/March. 

Liaison between services and GP 
underway to support referrals. 
Commission of online therapy offers e.g. 
Silvercloud at a GM level have provided 

Blended offer of service delivery planned for 
the future (mix of video, telephone and face 
to face). 
Prioritising exercise to identify vulnerable 
cohorts requiring face to face offers, taking 
into account equalities requirements. 
Group work being considered. 
Non IAPT Bereavement counselling being 

P
age 60



43

additional support to the wider public. explored in addition to exploring how IAPT 
may support people presenting with some 
aspects of bereavement needs. 

Living Well + Beyond Anticipating that there will be a significant 
number of people who ‘fall between the 
gap’ between primary and secondary care. 
The Living Well pilot is operating across 
Broughton, starting with a handful of 
people referred to CMHT but do not meet 
criteria. This will be scaled up over the 
next few months to cover all referrals to 
CMHT for Broughton that are not eligible 
for the service. 

Wider reach across Salford is being 
anticipated for October 202-Jan 2021 
Roll out to a second neighbourhood is 
anticipated for 2021 and a full business 
case for city wide implementation ahead 
of March 2022. 

Beyond service initiated May 2020 to 
support people not known to Greater 
Manchester Mental Health Trust (GMMH).  
Approx. 250 + referrals to date. Offers a 
mix of online interventions via VCSE 
providers. 
GMMH 24/7 helpline established in March 

Wider Living Well reach across Salford is 
being anticipated for October 202-Jan 2021 
Living Well roll out to a second 
neighbourhood is anticipated for 2021 and a 
full business case for city wide 
implementation ahead of March 2022.

Beyond service funded for 12 months, after 
which it will align with Living Well, with 
some of the functions sitting in the Living 
Well MDT. 

GMMH 24/7 helpline planned to continue. 

VCSE Mental Health Grants Programme – 
priority areas for Living Well include: 
bereavement and families / carers (breaking 
the cycle of poor mental health). Large 
grants (£70k for 18 months) to be awarded 
in October 2020. 

P
age 61



44

to support people known to the service. 
Crisis Prevention Mental Health Clinical Assessment Service 

(CAS) in place, commissioned via GM. 
Directs people through to the right part of 
the system to stream away from A+E 
where possible. 
Considering a GMMH footprint approach 
to crisis provision / prevention.
Work underway to explore A+E streaming 
/ diversion for up to 25% of people 
presenting in A+E with a mental health 
need. 

Consideration of local mental health 
intermediate care bed approach to prevent 
admission. 
‘Listening Lounge’ is a key element of the 
Living Well offer and would provide a 
‘through the night’ offer of support, staffed 
with a mix of mental health practitioners 
and peer workers. 
Developing crisis prevention infrastructure 
in the locality to underpin wider GMMH 
footprint and GM crisis offers.

Unemployment 
(Claimant Count)
Provided by Alison 
Burnett

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

P
age 62



45

The claimant count figures rose 19% for 
January 2019 to July 2019.

We have seen a huge increase of 113% from 
January 2020 to July 2020 with a total of 
7,540 more claimants

The unemployment rate in Salford (as at July 
2020) stands at 8.4%, which is above the GM 
(8%) and UK (6.5%) rate. 

In the 18 months from January 2019 to July 
2020, the claimant count has risen by 161%.

The claimant count consists of 
people claiming Jobseekers 
Allowance (JSA) and the 
unemployment elements of 
Universal Credit (UC).    

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Probable

Major

We’ve seen a huge rise in unemployment 
levels (claimant count) this year.  Since 
COVID (March 2020) we have seen the 
count nearly double with an extra 7,000 
claimants in Salford. 
The most affected age group is the 18-24-
year olds.  As of July 2020, the count for 
them sits at 2,805 which is 20% of the 
total.

Not yet known. Some scenario planning has 
been done at a GM level which varies from a 
modest recovery from winter 2020/21 
through to the triggering of a deep 
recession.    

P
age 63



46

Salford has seen a slightly higher increase 
than Greater Manchester which has seen a 
rise of 107% (73,739) since January 2020 
with Salford at 113% (7,540).  The national 
average increase since January 2020 
currently stands at 120% (2,679,885).

There is a real risk that unemployment 
levels could increase significantly as the 
Government support programmes, 
particularly the Job Retention scheme 
(Furlough), come to an end in the autumn. 
This will be further exacerbated if there is 
a second wave of COVID-19.       

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
 Labour market position being reviewed monthly.
 Commissioned frontline skills and work support services continue to deliver remotely and these services have been extended through to 2020/21 to 

ensure stability for residents and providers.  
 National, GM and local offer has been promoted as part of Salford COVID response via City Council website, FindmyFuture and Skills and Work Helpline.
 Working with GM and local partners to shape and integrate local support and create opportunities, including maximising opportunities from new 

government programmes announced in the recent ‘Plan for Jobs’.  

P
age 64



47

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 CommentsUniversal Credit 
Claimants 
Provided by Alison 
Burnett

The Universal Credit Claimants figure 
within Salford was 6,766 on January 2019 
and rose to 11,446 in July 2019.  This is an 
increase of 69%.

The Universal Credit Claimants figure within 
Salford was 14,538 on January 2020 and 
rose to 29,195 in July 2020.  This is an 
increase of 101%.

Universal Credit covers six different 
types of benefit, including support 
for the unemployed (see above).  

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Probable

Major

The increase in the number of universal 
claimants in the last 18 months has been 
substantial.  The impact of COVID can be 
clearly be seen with a 101% increase in 
Salford from January 2020 until July 2020. 

Greater Manchester has seen an 86% rise 
in UC claimants since January 2020 with the 

P
age 65



48

total now at 298,794.  Salford has the 3rd 
highest increase rate in Greater 
Manchester only behind Rochdale with 
120% and Stockport 113%. 

The UK has seen a 100% increase since 
January 2020, with a current total of 
5,547,041 people claiming Universal Credit.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
Mitigation activity - please see summary above in relation to the unemployment (Claimant Count) figure. 
Youth Justice 
Service
Provided by Kay 
Davidson

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

First Time Entrants to the 
Youth Justice System 

46 12

Custody 13 8

Prevention & Out of 
Court Disposals  

93 57

Significant reduction in the number 
of Salford children and young 
people becoming involved with the 
YJS during the two periods.  Linked 
to lock down, changes in police 
activity and court listings. There are 
now concerns about the number of 
children and young people being 

P
age 66



49

Court Disposals 62 22 released under investigation by the 
police or awaiting a court date so 
delaying intervention from the YJS 
and support to victims. 

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative Confirmed 

Moderate

Medium Term 

Confirmed 

Moderate

Medium Term 

Dependant on Police and Court 
recovery plans.

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
The deputy GM major has taken a specific interest on the impact of COVID on the youth justice system. A number of initiatives are under way to deal with 
the back log of cases with the Police and Courts. Salford YJS has also extended its remit offer diversion (prevention) contact to families where a young person 
has a prosecution  pending or there are concerns about their behaviour which might lead to them becoming involved in offending or anti-social behaviour. 
Dental Care 
Response provided by Harry Golby

The Salford locality is unable to complete an assessment of the impact of COVID on dental services for the children and  young people of Salford, as the 
information / responsibility is not held at a locality level it rests with individual dental practices or their commissioner, the Greater Manchester Health & 
Social Care Partnership.  The pandemic has had a very significant impact on dental services – the potential of transmission between clinicians and patients is 
higher than many other health services due to the nature of dentistry (i.e. investigations in the mouth, aerosol generating procedures) and this was initially 
compounded by lack of PPE.  This meant many dental practices stopped seeing most patients and only offered basic advice, analgesia and assessment. 

Emergency services were commissioned across Greater Manchester for who had been assessed with the highest clinical need.  Over time dental services have 

P
age 67



50

started to be restored but remain significantly short of pre-COVID levels.  A daily SITREP from dentists shows on 26 August of the 35 dental practices in Salford 
12 had not submitted a SITREP, 13 had described their situation as “Challenging but Coping”, 10 had described themselves as “Coping” and 0 had described 
themselves as “Significantly Challenged”.  No information specific to children and young people was available.

Update from NHS England 04/11/20 
On 25 March 2020, all NHS dental practices were required to make immediate changes to services due to the overriding need to limit transmission of COVID-
19. These included: deferring routine, non-urgent dental care including orthodontics, establishing remote urgent care services, providing telephone triage for 
patients with urgent needs and setting up networks of urgent dental care (UDC) sites for face-to-face care where clinically necessary. 

Every dental practice in Greater Manchester has now reopened and is able to offer patients face-to-face care. As a frontline service as we enter a second 
national lockdown, dental services will remain open. However, the level of service and number of available appointments have not yet returned to pre-March 
2020 levels due to additional personal protective equipment (PPE) and infection prevention and control (IPC) requirements and current national guidance 
relating to social distancing measures. In addition, some practices may need to close for a short period if staff are required to self-isolate due to COVID-19. In 
this case, patients will be advised by the dental practice of how to access emergency and urgent dental care until face-to-face care is available again.

This means that dental practices may be unable to offer routine examinations and the full range of non-urgent care for some time. It will also mean extended 
wait times for some specialist dental services such as dental treatment under sedation or General Anaesthesia and Orthodontics. 

All dental teams are working on safely restoring services, whilst maintaining capacity for emergency and urgent dental care. Parents and carers should be 
advised to contact their usual dentist if their child has dental pain. They may be unable to get a routine check-up appointment unless the child has a high-
priority dental need which includes:
o child who has been taking painkillers and antibiotics and has continued to have dental pain or swelling
o treatment for a child whose general health affects their oral health such as those with diabetes 
o child at high risk of dental disease and in need of regular treatment
o child who has suffered dental trauma

Across GM, Oral Health Improvement programmes for children are recommencing. These include distribution of toothbrushing packs, supervised tooth 
brushing in early years settings and fluoride varnish application. There is a focus on phased returns of these programmes to ensure staff and child safety. For 

P
age 68



51

example:
• The GM Oral Health Transformation programme continues to reach over 40 000 children with tooth brushing packs distributed throughout the four 
priority areas.
• Training is now available online with bespoke packages available for health visitors, staff in early years settings and dental teams.

Dental commissioners are engaged with Local Dental Committees, Local Dental Networks and dental practices across GM to monitor and support the safe 
restoration of dental services, to improve access to dental treatment and reduce wait times as much as possible. For example:
• urgent dental centres will continue to operate, and additional urgent dental services are being commissioned
• children will be referred to community dental services or the hospital dental services for shared care and treatment so that patients may be offered 
the next available appointment at any GM site rather than waiting for an appointment closest to home that will take longer

People with dental problems are asked to contact their usual dental practice. Those who do not have a regular dentist can contact the local dental helpline 
0333 332 3800 or https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/find-a-dentist
Childhood Obesity
Provided by 
Michelle 
Whittaker 

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

Childhood Obesity National Child Measurement programme 
(NCMP)– academic year 2018/19

Reception Year 6
Overweight 
and obese 
combined

24.4% 37.6%

Obese 
(including 
severe)

11.3% 23.1%

Provisional data whilst waiting for data 
quality exercise.  

Reception Year 6
Overweight 
and obese 
combined

25.9% 38.7%

Obese 
(including 
severe)

11.2% 25.2%

The NCMP programme runs over 
each academic year.  Due to Covid 
the 2019-20 programme was ended 
early due to school closures 
however the 0-19 service had 
already achieved Y6 – 91.2 %
and Reception 67.5% 

Coverage for Reception year on 
67.5% below the national target of 

P
age 69



52

Severe 
Obesity

2.6% 6% Severe 
Obesity

Not 
available

Not 
available

85% due to school closures.  The 
coverage may also be 
disproportionate across 
ward/school clusters.

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Moderate
Possible

Children and young people have not been 
able to participate in structured physical 
activity in school or the community during 
lockdown.  Physical activity has been 
encouraged nationally but we don’t have 
insight to understand how this has been 
taken up.  More recently some community 
sports activity has been allowed to restart 
however these are mostly outdoors and 
other indoor activities planning restart.

Childrens food environment have also 
been changed whilst not being in school or 
childcare settings.  Food type and 
shopping has been impacted for some 
families due to isolation.  The financial 
impact on food has been significant with 
many families accessing food parcels and 
vouchers. The overall impact for obesity is 

Moderate
Possible

Physical activity in school will take some 
time to restart and will need to be adapted 
to reduce the risk of COVID-19 spread.   
Although some community sports have 
restarted these have been mostly outdoors 
and there are significantly more males than 
females participating in these sports and a 
possible gender inequality.

To reduce obesity requires intervention and 
only returning back to pre COVID19 activity 
will not on its own be sufficient.  Healthy 
environments need to be created and 
increase in services available to address the 
issue.   Increasing childrens obesity rates will 
have an increased longer impact on the 
family weight management service.  

P
age 70



53

unknown but lack of physical activity and 
consumption of high fat or sugar foods will 
increase risk of obesity. 

Delayed 
Operations 
Provided by Eejay 
Whitehead and 
Alison Pike

Data for period  Jan – July 2019 Data for period  Jan – July 2020 Comments

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Demand for urgent and 
emergency surgery has 
been met.

However waiting times 
for elective surgery are 
lengthening as infection 
risks and additional 
COVID-19 demand have 
continues to significantly 
reduce hospital capacity. 

Probable
Major

All patients on waiting lists have been 
reviewed and given a clinical priority in 
line with Royal College guidance. Clinical 
capacity has been allocated for the clinical 
urgencies and those that need their 
surgery within 3 months. However, this 
does not mean that the other less clinically 
urgent patients are not being reviewed. A 
full clinical validation has been completed 
3 times since lockdown to ensure any 
changes in condition are noted and the 
patient is expedited. This is a rolling 
process with particular focus given to 

Probable
Major

A national programme of Clinical 
Prioritisation & Validation of Elective 
Waiting Lists has been established.  This 
programme applies to both children and 
adults.  The Federation of Surgical Specialty 
Associations has produced a clinical guide to 
surgical prioritisation – this guide, which is 
kept up to date, prioritises different surgical 
procedures (e.g. complicated appendectomy 
-priority 1a to be performed <24hrs, dental 
extractions which are responsive to standard 
pain killers – priority 4 to be performed >3 
months).  Patients on waiting lists will be 

Focus will be to treat highest 
clinical priorities first and avoid 
52wk+ waiters.  Regular review and 
contact with patients whilst they 
wait will help mitigate clinical risks.

P
age 71



54

those waiting the longest - any patients 
approaching 52 weeks are subject to a 
harm risk assessment.

Quality Team in SCCG are seeking 
assurance on any 52 week breaches at 
RMCH - awaiting a response from the 
contracts team / commissioners at MCCG. 

contacted for review to mitigate any risks of 
their condition deteriorating and their 
priority needing to change.  This programme 
is likely to be in place for some time.  Once 
fully established data should be available to 
support monitoring. 

SCCG need assurance on how 
RMCH are manging any children 
who are waiting for 52 weeks plus.

SRFT Probable
Major

Quality Team in SCCG have been doing 
some work with SRFT to try to understand 
how those currently on waiting lists are 
being clinically reviewed in order to 
minimise risk of harm. The focus has been 
on diagnostics waiters and those waiting 
for non-surgical treatment as there is 
national guidance for those waiting for. 

Probable
Major

Long term impact on theatre capacity – will 
have extended waiting lists for some time to 
come with emergency / urgent cases 
receiving priority

BFT

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)
RMCH Increasing capacity to deliver elective surgery including new theatre at Wythenshawe and independent sector. A process has 

begun of allocating any additional sessions commissioned/allocated to the longest waiting patients across all specialities equally 
and fairly.

P
age 72



55

SRFT

BFT

Long Covid risks 
and implications 
on young people 
and families 
Provided by 

Data for period ? Data for period  ? Comments

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

Young People and Parents Lockdown Views 
Provided by 

Comments

P
age 73



56

COVID Impact analysis 
Impact description both 
positive and negative

Short term 
(6-12 Month) impact

Longer term 
(12 – 24 Month) impact

Comments 

Service related mitigations (Please describe current/planned work to address the impact – including detail on vulnerable cohorts, new learning and what 
we would like to keep)

P
age 74



57

P
age 75



58

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Covid 19 Recovery Plan 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: contained within the document 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

Page 76



59

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Multi agency review across 
Salford CCG, SRFT, MFT and SCC 

CONTACT OFFICER: TEL NO: Debbie Blackburn 
Deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk 0161 607 6678 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:

Page 77

mailto:Deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No.

REPORT OF Director of People Charlotte Ramsden  

TO
Childrens Commissioning Committee 

ON 

11 November 2020 

TITLE: Salford Transitions Policy 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the ongoing work to 
improve transitions for young people in Salford 

 To note the further work required and to support initial implementation
 To support the development a resource review to support the work  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: Work has been ongoing to support transitions in Salford 
for many years. This paper and presentation provides an update on progress. The 
policy document will be brought to the next Childrens Commissioning Committee and  
is an adaptation of the work and the opportunity to develop a shared vison. Often we 
know that young people do not fit only one criteria for transition and can sometimes 
fall between the gaps. The policy combines to create overarching principles and 
develop an approach to coordinate the transition effectively.  Using multi agency 
approaches and creating a shared system for identification Salford will ensure the 
right professionals support the transition. The policy document is the start of the 
journey. For some areas of transition processes are well established but where 
pathways have not been developed previously ongoing work will be needed to 
explore the risks and need for investment for some elements. This is an ambitious 
piece of work and is not replicated in other areas so is ground breaking and will see 
positive outcomes for the young people of Salford. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



2

DETAILS:
The Salford Multi- Agency Transition Policy and Process primarily sets out the young 
person’s expected journey to adulthood and the partnership working required 
between Salford Integrated Care Organisation, Salford Special Educational Needs 
(SEN), Children’s Social Care, Salford Royal Children’s Community Services, Salford 
Children’s and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)(Manchester Foundation 
Trust MFT), Greater Manchester Mental Health (GMMH) and Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG.
The policy draws together all current national, regional, and local strategies, policies 
and procedures to ensure that Salford’s health and social care services are  
compliant with our statutory duties across children’s and adult’s legislation to ensure 
Salford achieve high quality transition for the young people we support.
The aim of the policy is to provide a framework to practitioners to increase the quality 
of experiences and opportunities of young people moving from childhood to 
adulthood who have one or more difficulties which could include special education 
needs, disabilities, and mental health difficulties.
Young people experience a variety of transitions throughout their life from birth to 
early years and childhood into adulthood. Transitions are often defined as a process 
of psychological, social, and educational change at various points in time throughout 
the life course, and a young person’s experience of these are significantly influenced 
by the context, environment, family, and relationships in their life.

Some young people with health, or care needs and or who require services will often 
experience transitions across multiple services and systems, particularly when 
moving from childhood to adulthood. The more complex their need, the more 
challenging transitions can be for some young people; therefore it is important it feels 
seamless and positive to the young people

Salford’s Transitions Policy recognises these challenges and aims to make sure that 
service and processes are person centred and effectively co-ordinated through 
strong integrated governance arrangements that support the best possible outcomes 
for young people transitioning between services and from childhood to adulthood.

16-25 Multi Agency 
Transition Policy_Summary.pptx

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

KEY DECISION: NO

Page 80



3

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

 Salford’s All Age Mental Health Strategy 

 Salford’s Thrive Plan

 Salford’s Education and Inclusion Strategy and Action Plan

 Salford’s SEND Strategy 

 Salford’s Integrated Neighbour strategy

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
This policy will undergo an Equality Impact Assessment 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low currently 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

Page 81



4

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Adults, Childrens, Health

CONTACT OFFICER: Caitlin Chapman email 
Caitlin.chapman@srft.nhs.uk 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 

Page 82



Summary of Key Components 

Salford Multi-Agency Transition 

Policy and Process

• Salford’s Growing Up In Salford, Preparing for Adulthood Delivery 

Model

• The 16-18 Multi-Agency Hub

• Specialist Pathways/ Process to ensure smooth transition/ transfer

P
age 83



Who are we  talking about 
The Policy covers all young people with additional needs in Salford including:

• Young people with learning disabilities

• Young people with an EHCP

• Young people with Mental Health needs

• Young people with physical and sensory needs

• Young people at risk of being vulnerable as an adult

• Young people with autism and adhd

As the scope of the policy is so large and because Salford are committed to working with young 

people based on needs and outcome, the young person journey will be different depending on their 

needs, and should be suitably  differentiated and based on their needs, circumstance and aspiration.  

Therefore the policy set out what they should expect from people and services working with them.  

How services will deliver and implement the core elements of this plan will differ from service to 

service, but where more than one service is involved, a lead agency and worker should be identified 

who will ensure the transition feels holistic and seamless 

How services operationalize the policy will be developed though the operational framework and 

practitioner guide

P
age 84



Organisations signing up to the 

Policy
The policy is wide reaching, but the main agencies signing up to the policy include:

• SRFT ( Adult Social Care/ childrens/ adults health)

• Local Authority (SEN/ Social Care)

• GMMH

• MFT

• CCG

P
age 85



Policy and Supporting Documents

What 

The Multi – Agency Transition Policy and Process
This is the overarching document that sets  statement of purpose  and    are overarching principles  

what we are currently doing and intend to do going forward .  This maps out are statutory and best 

practice guidance and local agreements  - ensures complinacy

How

Challenges  

Impact

Operational 

Framework 

Multi Agency  Hub / 

delivery model 

Practitioner Guide: 
How to Guide- Pathways 

/lunch bowls

Strategic Implementation 

plan 

Including task and finish 

groups 

Risk Log 

Strategic Transition Group

Will tackle key  challenges annually –

continually developing  

Key Performance 

indictors:

- Is it making a difference 

to practice 

Impact assessment 

Is it making a difference to the 

people we support 

Where we are now:
- Baseline, What works well/ 

what doesn’t 

- Retrospective experiences 

of transition 

P
age 86



The Structure of Multi - Agency Transition Policy 

Introduction

• Purpose 

• Legislation/ policy/ guidance 

Salford Growing Up In Salford and Preparing for Adulthood Delivery Model 

• Categorises transition to adulthood into distinct phases  

• key elements of how all agencies will work with young people 

The Multi Agency Hub 

• The infra-structure of how actual smooth and positive  transfers from one 
service to another will happen 

Specialist Pathways 

- policy and guidance 

- Local agreements/ roles and responsibilities 

P
age 87



Salford’s Growing Up In Salford, Preparing for 

Adulthood Delivery Model

The delivery model should align closely to the young person experience and journey.  The journey should be 

about developing independence, positive risk taking, positive experiences and choice and control. To support 

staff and organisation to improve young people experience the delivery model has been developed.  This is 

the qualitative element of the process and should be part of the impact assessment

Stage 1: Growing up in Salford 14-16: 

Young Person and Family are starting to be supported to think 

about the future. Begin supporting young person to think about 

what they might want to do at college and what skills they 

might need to develop. Start to have Preparing for Adult 

Outcomes within their  EHCP plan/ review process

Stage 2: Preparing for Adulthood 16-18

Continuing to look at skill development. Start to ensure young 

person has things in place to support with adult life (ie, bank 

accounts, benefits, transition to college,  transition to adult 

service (health and social care)

Stage 3: Becoming an adult 18-25: Support young person to 

exit education, developing meaningful activity during the day 

(including employment).  Build young person’s skills to enable 

them to become more independent and develop self-

determination and autonomy

P
age 88



Supporting young people to 

thrive at their different stages 

All organisations working with young people 

need to focus on wellbeing, enablement, 

strengths and prevention and delay of long 

term services.

P
age 89



Key Elements to the Growing Up In Salford/ Preparing 

For Adulthood Delivery Model 

Young 

Person 

Skill 

development 

PfA action 

plan 

Engagement 

lead

MAM

Good quality 

information 

and advice 

Person 

centred 

planning

P
age 90



Engagement Lead

• All young people with additional needs should 

have a key worker who supports them to plan for 

the future and find out information.  Young people 

and families should be empowered to develop 

own skills around this 

• Where more than one service is involved a Mutli-

Agency decision will be made about which 

organisation/ person should lead. 

• The Engagement  Lead should be the young 

person main point of contact – regards transition 

• Engagement Lead should be up to date with the 

local offer

• Support should be offered using the principles of 

Thrive

P
age 91



Good Quality Information and 

Advice 
• Develop and update the local offer pages

• Emotional wellbeing directory

• Preparing for Adulthood information pack 

• Preparing for Adulthood road shows 

• 4 x yearly sessions for SENCO / engagement 

leads about how to source information 

P
age 92



Skill Development 

• TAG will be developing a series of workbook  

that will support young people to develop 

skills in keys areas.  These will be added to 

the local offer and available for young 

people, families and schools

• Development of Growing up In Salford 

Workshops 

• Preparing for Adult: Passport to 

Independence

P
age 93



Preparing For Adulthood (PfA) 

Action Plan 
• All young people with additional needs should 

start to be supported to formally plan for 

adulthood from 14

• This plan should be updated at least annually

• There is no set PfA action plan – rather the ethos 

of PfA outcomes should be incorporated into any 

plans that are currently being developed with 

young person.  For example an EHCP, A young 

people’s plan, CAMH/ YAMHs plan. 

• All plans should incorporate the PfA outcomes 

and the keys to citizenship

• Where more than one service is involved –

decisions should be made regards who will 

coordinate the PfA action plan – as young people 

should have one holistic plan

• Young people should have ownership over the 

plan and coproduce 

P
age 94



Multi – Agency Meeting (MAM)

• A MAM is any meeting where a  young person is 

supported to develop positive outcomes.   These 

include an EHCP review, LAC review, Young 

Person’s planning meeting.  Where possible a 

young person transition should be discussed in 

their MAMS meeting from age 14.

• Where more than once agency is involved the 

MAMs meeting ensures that the young person is 

full involved in the planning for their future and 

that plans are holistic

• There are some specific  MAMS meeting that 

have been developed to support people with 

transition and where requested training can be 

provided on these

• The first MAM should clarify peoples roles and 

responsibilities, especially where there are a 

number of agencies involved 

P
age 95



THE 16-25 MULTI – AGENCY HUB

F

Strategic 
Transition

Multi-agency 
Panel

Transition Register

16-25 Allocations and 
Referrals

Transition update and review

(Implementation group)

P
age 96



The 16-25 Multi Agency Hub

• The Multi – Agency Hub  describes a number of 

operational and strategic meetings that enable 

the transfer of cases from children to adult 

services and track the cases to ensure a smooth 

transition to adult services

• Young people should be referred to the hub if they 

require ‘more help’ or  are at risk.

• Currently the HUB manages the social care 

transitions, there is scope to widen this to other 

area – different services need to make decisions 

about whether they want to use the hub

• The hub requires representation from different 

services who work with young people

F

Strategic 
Transition

Multi-agency 
Panel

Transition Register

16-25 Allocations and 
Referrals

Transition update and review

(Implementation group)

P
age 97



The 16-25 Multi Agency Hub

• This is currently up and running already and 

manages all children social care to adult social 

care transitions

• Decision from partner need to be made about if 

they want the referrals from other  children team 

to adult teams to be incorporated into this system

• The Hub tracks and records all transitions from 

start to finish

• It also enable difficulties with individual cases to 

be raised

• Individual to strategic change occurs through the 

collation of information so demographic, trends 

and gaps can be identified and escalated 

F

Strategic 
Transition

Multi-agency 
Panel

Transition Register

16-25 Allocations and 
Referrals

Transition update and review

(Implementation group)

P
age 98



THE PATHWAYS/PROCESSES FOR 

DIFFERENT SERVICES 

P
age 99



The Pathways/Processes for different 

services 
• The Multi Agency Transition Policy works on the premise that every young person 

is different and that input should be based on need.  

• The pathways are ambitious and visionary.  Each pathway is at a different stage.  

Some  pathways are quite well embedded others are at the conception stage, 

therefore work will continue to develop the key areas.

• All pathway tie into the wider Multi Agency Transition Policy 

• However it also recognises that Transition is a huge area, and  the transfer from 

children's to adults services can be difficult and confusing for both young people, 

families, and professionals, therefore the pathways develop the process for 

transfer and what can be expected as a minimum.  They do not intend to map the 

experience or quality of a transition, rather to provide a road map for staff of what 

they should do.  These will form the basis of the qualitative performance indicators 

for individuals

• Young peoples experience  and journey will be developed in the practice guide, 

• What and how we will develop the area will be developed through the 

implementation plan, task and finish groups, and the operational framework

• Salford understand that young people may be being supported by more than one 

‘pathway/ /process’ and therefore the engagement  lead must ensure that the 

experience feels holistic and seamless.  Certain pathways have significant 

overlap – so it is the responsibility of those working with young people to prevent 

this.  The MAM meeting is key where young people  are being supported within 

more than one pathway

• Each Pathway will give an overview of the key legislation/ policy that governs it 

and   then the keep performance indicators.  The pathways help track quantitative 

data .

The 

Pathways 

Social Care 

Mental Health 

Transitional  
Safeguarding 

LAC/ Leaving 
Care

Health 

P
age 100



The Pathways/Processes: what to 

include: 
• Introduction to the  specialist area

• Legislation/policy/ guidance e that governs the 

area

• Overview of how you will support people (linked 

to thrive model(

• Process to transfer cases from children to adults 

when required 

• Process of transfer- what young people should 

expect / what professionals need to do by when 

(this will form the performance indicators) – this 

where possible should be depicted in a diagram

• Roles and responsibilities of staff/ teams (who 

does what)

The 
Pathways 

Social Care 

Mental 
Health 

Transitional  
Safeguarding 

LAC/ Leaving 
Care

Health 

P
age 101



Pathway 1: Social Care 

Social 

care 

Role of 

children's 
Finance/ 
budget 

pressure

What to 
expect post 

18

Roles and 
responsibilities 

How we are 
Care Act 

Compliant 

Local Area 
Agreements 

Key 
Performance 

Indicators 

Role of The 

Transition 

Support Team

P
age 102



Pathway 2: Mental Health: What 

It Covers  

Mental 

Health 

Pathway 

Thrive 

CAMHS to 

AMHS 

Mental 

Health and 

Social Care 

Roles and 
responsibilities 

Service 

Level 

Agreement 

P
age 103



Pathway 2: Mental Health: 

Headlines 
• Much more emphasis on primary care 

• Aim to get all Mental Health transfers referred , presented and allocated at the multi 

agency hub

• Agreement that operational managers will be the ‘Transition Champions’ who sit on 

the Multi Agency Hub’ 

• Where young people have social care needs and mental health needs that don’t meet 

criteria for secondary services – will be  joint worked 

• Where a young person is supported outside of the authority – case by case 

agreements will be made about how best to assess and support the young person

• The PfA action plan for young people supported by CAMHS will be there transition 

booklet 

P
age 104



Pathway 2: Mental Health: 

Things to Still work out
• How will we agree the engagement lead

• How can the hub be utilised or used to better escalate cases which are going into 

crisis (ie, quicker access to 42nd street/ primary care)

• Timings of assessment

• How we  mental health services link to the other pathways 

• Who would represent mental health on the Transition implementation and review 

group 

P
age 105



Pathway 2: Mental Health: 

Challenges 
• When young people are LAC and reside outside of Salford 

• Young people with ADHD/ ASD/ learning difficulties who primary care feel cannot 

because of their issues cannot engage with therapy – but do not meet criteria for 

Learning Disability service – fall through the gap – significant number of young people 

who come under this policy

• Young People with attachment/ trauma/ behavioural needs/ emerging personality 

disorder – struggle to engage with services, but needs are over and above what you 

would expect support staff to manage without specialist support 

• Self harm / care eliciting behaviours / frequent use of emergency services 

• Waiting lists for services 

P
age 106



Pathway 3: Leaving Care

- Roles and responsibilities 

- Lead agency agreement

- Care and Support: Options appraisals 

- Multi Agency Meeting

- Relationship between Adult Assessment and Pathway Plan

- Proportionate assessment of need

- Foster care to adult placement 

- Ordinary residency 

- Contact with families 

- Decision Making 

P
age 107



Pathway 4: Transitional 

Safeguarding  Things to think about:

- What legislation/ policy guidance informs work

- What young people are we talking about

- What work will be done with young people before their 18 to prevent and delay long 

term support and build resilience and capacity to make decisions

- When will young people be referred to the multi – agency hub

- What will it look like to young people and their families/ what can they expect (eg team 

around the adult) 

- Using the thrive model what support is available for young people?

- How will we ensure that:

- young people who are at risk of harm post 18 are supported 

P
age 108



Pathway 5: Health 
What currently complete:

- NHS Continuing Care Pathway (to be agreed)

Things to think about:

- What legislation/ policy guidance informs work

- What health transition does it cover (ie, AHP/ CHC/nursing etc)

- What transfer referral allocations will be part of the hub – those that aren't how will the 

transfer take place

- What will it look like to young people and their families/ what can they expect

P
age 109



Pathway 6: SEN 16+ Pathway 
• Process for new referrals  of young people 16+

• Process to ensure young people have the right representation at their annual reviews

• Process for young people whose EHCP will Cease

P
age 110



Pathway 7: Housing 
Purpose of the Protocol 

This protocol sets out the roles and responsibilities of Next Step, Adult Social Care and 

Salford Housing Options Point, (SHOP), in ensuring care leavers  and young people with 

complex care and support needs are supported to move on to suitable accommodation.

To clarify the statutory duties and responsibilities of partners

To establish a process that ensures care leavers have the best chance of achieving and 

sustaining their lives as successful adults, living independently

To promote co-operation and joint working between the partners

To prevent care leavers  and young people with care and support needs from becoming 

homeless when the care placement has ended and to avoid care leavers presenting as 

homeless in the future

To best ensure that care leavers and young people with care and support needs are 

appropriately accommodated and that the possibility of them becoming homeless after 

this time is mitigated as far as reasonably possible

Where it is not possible to prevent homelessness, to ensure, as far as reasonably 

possible, that a care leaver is not deemed to be intentionally homeless

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children’s Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information

11th November 2020

Report of: David Warhurst/Phillip Kemp

Date of paper: 11th November 2020

Subject: Integrated Fund Business Plan and Financial Implications

In case of query please contact: David Warhurst

Strategic priorities (please mark with an X which priorities the paper 
relates to)

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: 

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: X

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: X

Purpose of paper: This paper updates briefly in relation to the locality 
priorities, provides a high level overview of the costs and looks to 
provide the committees with adequate information to consider the 

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



continuation of priorities with the context of the overall financial 
position.

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

Continuous improvement of patient/resident 
services 

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

Raised expectations about what is feasible 
during this period of a Pandemic

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

Considered at an individual workstream 
level

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

No specific, single risk

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

N/A

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

N/A

Footnote:

Members of the Children’s Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once 
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 114



  

3

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X Developed with the Adults Advisory 
Board members

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?

X To be considered for individual 
projects

P
age 115



  

4

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

X To be considered for individual 
projects

Legal advice sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X Adults Advisory Group

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work

P
age 116



  

5

Children’s Commissioning Committee Annual Business 
Plan Update and Financial Implications

1. Executive summary

The locality refreshed its business plan for the remainder of 2020/21, with the proposal being 
presented to Health Care Commissioning Board and Commissioning Committees in 
September 2020. At the time of presenting the business plan, it was clear that the financial 
regimes for both the NHS and Local authorities still required a lot of clarity. Therefore at the 
time of presenting the plan, it wasn’t possible to ascertain the level of financial risk or the 
affordability of the proposed priorities. 

The committees have also been clear of the need to ensure the overall plan is considered, 
rather than business cases being considered in isolation.  Primarily as this could result in the 
allocation of funding on a first come basis, rather than on a holistic overview of priorities. 

This paper updates briefly in relation to the priorities, provides a high level overview of the 
costs and looks to provide the committees with adequate information to consider the 
continuation of priorities with the context of the overall financial position.  The paper includes 
the detail of all priorities and not just those where the decision to approve is governed by the 
meeting that the paper is being presented to. This is to provide an overview of the level of 
investment that is required of the integrated fund. 

Section 3 provides an overview of the localities financial position and affordability. Recognising 
there are still a significant number of unknowns relating to finances, the proposal is that the 
system priorities identified should be worked up into business cases, recognising that the 
locality agreed these are critical to recovery and restoration. 

For the Children’s Committee, after the inclusion of these strategies and also pre-committed 
investments agreed prior to COVID, there will be a £2.5m savings target, which is in line with 
the fund’s starting point at the beginning of the financial year. 

The Children’s Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Consider the proposed priorities, the affordability of the business plan and review the 
recommendation that the locality should continue with the proposed level of investment 
– noting that the final decision to invest will be predicated on the successful approval at 
a business case to the committee.

 Note the risks identified in section 5.

Page 117



  

6

2. Background and Process

2.1 After the business plan for each of the committees was signed off in July, finance and 
commissioning colleagues reviewed both the level of ambition in relation to the rising 
cases of COVID 19 and also the potential costs of investment. 

2.2 This aligned to further information being received regarding the context of the financial 
position of the CCG and Salford City Council leaving the system better placed to align 
the financial ask and the consequences to the fund. 

2.3 The Service Finance Group (SFG) held a meeting dedicated to the review and 
challenge of the strategies; primarily focusing on how likely it was that the locality would 
be able to actually spend the money – looking at limiting factors such as recruitment. 
Section 4 is the output of the SFG review. 

2.4 Additionally to the investment described in the paper, NHS providers have included 
significant expenditure plans to support the recovery of statutory constitutional targets. 
Where in a previous year, this would have been managed through commissioners and 
been included in our business plan, the command and control approach has meant that 
providers have received this funding directly, thus it doesn’t form part of the localities 
business plan.

3. Financial Overview

3.1 At the start of the financial year, the integrated funds, still includes a level of financial 
risk:

 Adults Commissioning Committee – At the start of the financial year, to afford the 
proposed expenditure and investments, the fund would have required a £2m saving 
target.
 

 Children’s Commissioning Committee – Whilst a £5m contingency was added to 
the fund, the 2019/20 overspend was c£7.5m. It was expected the Children’s 
Transformation investment would bridge the £2.5m (£7.5m - £5m) financial gap 
between 19/20 and the contingency.

 Primary Care Commissioning Committee - £0.2m saving target, although this 
didn’t include funding all the overspend of £0.5m in 19/20 and therefore as well as 
the savings target, there would be an inherent risk if expenditure didn’t reduce.

Page 118



  

7

3.2 As a result of the close locality working and the NHS financial regime, an element of 
financial risk for the first six months of the financial year have been mitigated. The 
summary position of the fund is highlighted below:

 Adults Commissioning Committee – Savings target, after the investments 
identified is now expected to be £1m until the end of the year. There is a rational for 
how this saving target will be delivered.
 

 Children’s Commissioning Committee – Forecast overspend is c£2.6m, in line 
with the potential overspend at the beginning of the year. This is a risk averse 
positon, recognising the likely impact of COVID 19 and therefore could reduce prior 
to the end of the financial year, 

 Primary Care Commissioning Committee – At the time of writing the report, this is 
still being finalised, but the main risks will relate to the cost of COVID services and 
increased costs of prescribing. The CCG has included these risks within its financial 
position. 

3.3 The level of allocation to the funds and financial risks identified above has been 
included within the financial potions of the Council and CCG. Whilst both organisations 
are currently forecasting a deficit year end position, work is on-going, including national 
discussions that are expected to improve these positions. 

3.4 The locality does need to continue to consider the implications recurrently of investment 
and the risk that the system doesn’t have oversight of future finance regimes. 

4. Potential cost of business plan

4.1 Table 1, below illustrates that the potential overall cost of the business plan could be 
£3.1m in year and £7.1m recurrently. 

Table 1 – Potential cost of business plan

Page 119



  

8

4.2 It should be noted, that costs could change when the business case underpinning the 
business plan are presented and this is an estimated costs based on the most upto date 
information.

5. Risks

5.1 Recurrent pressure - The risk that the funding available to the system changes 
fundamentally as a result of the pandemic.

5.2 COVID Wave 2 – The funding made available and services suggested may not cover 
the implications of the pandemic continuing to rise.

5.3 National Funding – There are a number of NHS national streams of funding that are 
expected in relation to Independent sector. If these are not received, there could be a 
risk to the Adults positon.

5.4 Grants - It is worth noting that the grants the council received were rolled over for 
2020/21 and at present it is unknown if any of these will continue beyond 2020/21 given 
they were set to end in March 2020. In particular for Adults’ there is a significant risk if 
any of the ASC grants are not renewed beyond 2020/21.

5.5 Grants - It is worth noting that the grants the council received were rolled over for 
2020/21 and at present it is unknown if any of these will continue beyond 2020/21 given 
they were set to end in March 2020. In particular for Adults’ there is a significant risk if 
any of the ASC grants are not renewed beyond 2020/21.

6. Recommendations

6.1 Consider the proposed priorities, the affordability of the business plan and review the 
recommendation that the locality should continue with the proposed level of investment 
– noting that the final decision to invest will be predicated on the successful approval at 
a business case to the committee.

6.2 Note the risks identified in section 5.

Page 120



  

9

DETAILED OVERVIEW OF THE KEY THEMES ADULTS

7. Theme 1 – Adults Mental health

OVERVIEW

7.1 Mental health is a key priority locally, regionally and nationally with ambitious 
expectations and targets identified in the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP), with expected 
increased investment aligned to the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS).  
Furthermore it is widely recognised that Covid-19 has had, and will continue to have, a 
significant impact on the mental health and wellbeing of the population, particularly in 
light of social distancing and self-isolation, anxiety regarding current and impending 
economic uncertainty, anxiety around contracting the virus and people experiencing 
complex grief on an unprecedented scale.

7.2 The following three key priorities have been identified which will support COVID 
recovery in Salford and which are aligned to LTP requirements:

 New models of Community Mental Health / Living Well
 Mental Health Crisis
 Psychological Therapies (including IAPT)

7.3 Consequently, the proposed investment detailed in this section will support Salford’s 
fidelity to the LTP requirements regarding mental health and also develop the support 
structures we need to respond to and recover from COVID and the impact this will have 
on our local population. Table 2, provides a high level overview of the key proposals:

Table 2 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary COVID 19 LTP  
Priority 

Bereavement 
Counselling

Bereavement Counselling for adults was a gap in Salford pre-COVID but 
has been particularly highlighted during the crisis.  Six Degrees has been 
commissioned to provide a Bereavement Support Service across GM, 
providing advice and support but this is not a counselling service.  Piloting a 
Bereavement Counselling service with Six Degrees would enable them to 
be the front door to bereavement support in Salford since as well as being 
the provider of the GM Bereavement Support Service they also operate 
Salford’s Shared Point of Access to IAPT so can take bereavement referrals 
and determine the most appropriate source of support 

Psychological 
Therapies

Page 121



  

10

Wellbeing 
Matters and 
Living Well

It was recognised at the outset of the work regarding Living Well that 
establishing operational links between Wellbeing Matters and Living Well 
will be crucial.  This will enable effective referral pathways to and from the 
two services providing the right support at the right time.  Pre-COVID 
approximately 30% of referrals to Wellbeing Matters we mental health 
related; post COVID this is nearer 50%.  Having a Mental Health 
Community Connector will help to further cement the links and pathways 
between these two elements of provision  

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

Crisis Beds & 
Safe Haven

Crisis Beds will prevent hospital admission and facilitate improved 
discharge.  This will not only provide an improved patient experience but will 
make better use of resources and see a reduction in costly out of area 
acute placements.   They will be 24/7 provision staffed by GMMH’s Home 
Based Treatment Team.  

Currently the only place in Salford to attend for people who are 
experiencing mental health crisis is A&E.  A Safe Haven is an alternative to 
A&E for lower level need and demand and is a gap in provision in Salford.  
This will reduce A&E attendances relating to mental health and ensure a 
more appropriate response to people’s presenting crisis  

Mental Health 
Crisis

Personality 
Disorders / 
Rehab

There are a number of people placed out of Salford in long term 
hospital/rehab placements.  This is because of the specific needs of these 
people and that there are not any appropriate local facilities to provide the 
very specific care and support; an example might be someone who 
specifically needs to be in a unit for females with personality disorders.  
Work is underway with GMMH to explore ways of repatriating some of this 
cohort to more local and possibly less restrictive settings.  This will see 
improved patient experience from being closer to friends and family and 
also reduced costs.  

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

IAPT

The GMMH IAPT service is now commissioned to meet the 25% access 
target. However the timing of when we added the recurrent funding and how 
the national team calculated GMMH’s contract means they have a short fall 
of £166K.

Psychological 
Therapies

MH Posts
Additional capacity in CMHTs to meet the neds of adults with serious 
mental illness  and ensure statutory duties regarding the Care Act and 
Mental Health Act are met 

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

MH 
Practitioners 
(MHPs)

This will be 
approved by 
Primary Care 

As part of the NHS Long Term Plan, localities are being asked to realign 
community mental health services with primary care networks (PCNs), 
creating ‘new and integrated models of primary and community mental 
health care’ by 2023/24.  To support these integrated models, Mental 
Health Practitioner (MHP) roles are included in the GP Contract Additional 
Roles Reimbursement Scheme from April 2021.

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

Page 122



  

11

Committee In Salford the remodelling of primary and community mental health care is 
being undertaken within the Living Well work.  There is therefore an 
opportunity for PCNs to have additional identifiable MHP input with further 
support via the Living Well MDT which would result in greater resilience and 
a more multi-disciplinary offer and ensure Salford has a cohesive and 
integrated front door to mental health in the future.

COSTING

7.4 The level of investment that is likely to be requested from the Adult’s Commissioning 
Committee is £0.8m in year and £1.1m recurrently as illustrated in the table below. As 
part of this theme, the Mental Health posts in primary care (£0.95m recurrently), will go 
to the primary care commissioning committee for decision.    

Table 3 – Proposed cost (High level)

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

7.5 The expectation is that developments such as Crisis Beds and Rehab will be ‘invest to 
save’ and  see cashable savings as people are prevented from accessing or repatriated 
from more expensive out of area placements.  

7.6 Developments such as the Safe Haven will reduce attendance at A&E seeing a more 
effective use of resources.

7.7 Bereavement counselling and the new models of Community Mental Health will see a 
more preventative approach to meeting need which it is hoped should see reduced 
acuity longer term.

Page 123



  

12

8. Theme 2 – Adult Social Care

OVERVIEW

8.1 To deliver a financially sustainable and diverse adult social care market underpinned by 
strengths based & place-based principles and practice, which will promote individual 
wellbeing.

8.2 To ensure we continue to meet our Care Act duties in securing an Adult Social Care 
Market that offers choice for people, delivers high quality services and provides good 
employment conditions/standards for the workforces.

8.3 To explore cost effective solutions to creating new service offers that enable people to 
be supported in their preferred environment with a primary focus on peoples’ own 
homes and on their communities of care and support

8.4 To ensure that ASC services are established in a strong partnership within the health 
and social care system in Salford.

8.5 To achieve and celebrate the successes of such developments through cooperation 
and co-creation and through positive promotion and communication of successes 

8.6 The starting point for our ASC investment strategy is to work within an appropriate 
commissioning investment envelope. This will be based on an intelligence led service 
and financial assessment of our local system, alongside regional and national 
benchmarking, to ensure we are confident that our (per capita) investment matches our 
Salford context and our Salford ambition for ASC services.

8.7 For 2020/21 our investment plan will be to work within the initial budget envelop agreed 
at the start of the financial year. This is a prudent position based on the impact of 
COVID on ASC service demands. For future years, further assessment will be 
undertaken to determine the levels of ASC investment required

Table 4 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Care Homes

To ensure our care home market is able to provide high quality support to older people with 
higher levels of need, typically needs associated with complex dementia and frailty include for 
people with and without nursing needs. This is a current commissioning gap in our market. 
This work will include a new service specification, free rates, service model and service 
pathways. It will require joint planning and delivery with market providers.

Page 124



  

13

Homecare

To ensure our Home Care (domiciliary care) services are able to ensure they are responsive 
to the overnight care needs of vulnerable people and also more responsive to variable levels 
of need. This will mean more people will be able to have their needs met in their own home 
environment, reducing the need to seek support from a care home setting.  While the current 
service specification describes approaches that would meet overnight needs and also to 
response to variation in the levels of need, the current service model does not respond to 
this. This project will seek to test and learn and apply an approach within the existing provider 
market. It will require a co-design approach and an increase in provision capacity. There will 
also be a focus on lower level needs support and ‘pop-in’ visits to review the current 
approach and test new approaches linked to strengths-based community led support. Salford 
benchmarks high (in GM) for the number for short, pop-in visits and therefore our ambition is 
to secure learning from other areas and develop a best-practice approach for Salford.

Extra Care

A new service specification was approved in January 2020. COVID as impacted on the 
progress for implementing this new specification but this work has now recommenced. The 
new specification will lead to a new service model that will enable a greater range of needs to 
be met within Extra Care service. This will mean a reduction in the need for care home 
placements at the lower end of need as more people will be able to take advantage of the 
‘home for life’ approach delivered by Extra Care. Over the next few months, we will be 
developing our approach (with SCO) to the tendering of the new care service within Extra 
Care. The recent business case for the expansion of Extra Care also identified the cost 
benefit of Extra Care and this will be applied to the tender process for the existing schemes.

Direct 
Payment

Direct Payments provide people with more choice and control about how the utilise their 
personal budget for care. Often people who have a direct payment make more cost-effective 
choices and those choices are more adaptable to the persons changing levels of need. 
Salford has traditionally had low levels of take up of Direct Payments amongst people with 
eligible care needs. We will be working through a project over this financial year to test and 
learn new approaches to delivering more Direct Payment solutions for people who have a 
personal budget, i.e., those people who have eligible needs under the Care Act.

Learning 
Disability and 
Complex 
Needs

There is an opportunity to review the care and support offered to people who live in our 
Support Tenancy Network. This includes overnight care options and technology enabled 
care. The LD and Complex Needs service will work with the Care Providers in the Supported 
Tenancy schemes to develop test of change for new service models. These will be founded 
on the Strengths Based approached and best value. There will be a stronger focus on 
technology including the knowledge and awareness amongst staff and people living in the 
schemes.

COSTING

8.8 No costing is included as it is anticipated that these strategies will be afforded within the 
current budget envelope for ASC.

Page 125



  

14

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

8.9 Potential cost saving by ensuring we place people in Salford care homes who have 
additional complexity and avoid making placements in more expensive out of area care 
homes.

8.10 Potential cost avoidance by maintaining care services in peoples’ own home, avoiding 
the need to apply a care home service.

8.11 Potential cost saving by reducing the number of pop-ins visits and replacing these with 
lower cost solutions that are more strengths-based.

8.12 Potential cost avoidance by support people with higher need/more complexity in Extra 
Care for their whole life, avoiding the need to apply a care home service.

8.13 Potential cost saving by creating novel solutions to meeting peoples’ eligible needs 
through a Direct Payment service offer.

8.14 Potential cost saving by re-shaping the care and support provided through our 
Supported Tenancy network.

9. Theme 3 – Adult Pathways

OVERVIEW

9.1 These are known reviews to adult’s pathway’s that are actively being looked at and are 
expected to have an incremental cost to improve the service offered to Salford people 
to reduce waits and/or to align to the preventative agenda.

Table 5 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Integrated 
Care 
Diagnostic 
Units

There is an aim to shift diagnostics away from hospital site and into the community to create 
hubs which are more integrated with primary care as well as outpatient provision.

Community 
Developments

This is a catch all for some of the known developments for community services including 
diabetes prevention and heart failure pathways.

Page 126



  

15

COSTING

Table 6 – Proposed cost (High level)

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

9.2 None identified – will be considered as part of the full business case.

Page 127



  

16

DETAILED OVERVIEW OF THE KEY THEMES CHILDRENS

10. Theme 4 – Children’s Social Care

OVERVIEW

10.1 Giving every child the best start in life is crucial to reducing health inequalities across 
the life course. The foundations for virtually every aspect of human development – 
physical, intellectual and emotional– are laid in early childhood. What happens during 
these early years (starting in the womb) has lifelong effects on many aspects of health 
and well-being– from obesity, heart disease and mental health, to educational 
achievement and economic status. 

10.2 Inequalities in the early years have lifelong impacts, secondly, it is the period of life 
when interventions to disrupt inequalities are most effective and thirdly and related to 
the first two points, and interventions in the early years have been shown to be cost 
effective and to yield significant returns on investment. Salford’s Locality Plan focuses 
on three key objectives for children: I am a child who is physically and emotionally 
healthy, feel safe and able to live life in a positive way, I am a young person who will 
achieve their potential in life, with great learning, and employment opportunities, I am as 
good a parent as I can be. Work has been developed to address these objectives and 
the funding request for children’s provision reflects the areas of transformation and 
programmes which seek to reduce demand for provision. 

10.3 The children’s spend request relates to a number of developments which have been 
funded for the last two years and some new developments which will require recurrent 
funding. There have been historic levels of discrepancy between investment adults and 
children based on population size. Recognising the long term investment by investing in 
children we are preventing the saving into adults albeit longer term. There is a changing 
population and increasing complexity in children’s services. Recognising that invest to 
save models which will ultimately create demand avoidance are required as provision is 
predominantly needs led.  

Table 7 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Young Carer's 
Working Group

Funding is anticipated to be required to invest in the earlier identification and support for 
young carers. Business case to be developed by March 2021.

Page 128



  

17

Complex 
Safeguarding Team 
-BOND

Achieving Change Together [ACT] is a strengths, relationship and evidence-based 
model for working with young people at risk of exploitation, who are also at risk of entry 
into care, placement breakdown or escalation of care. The model is built around an ACT 
worker, who works intensively with a small cohort of around 6 cases, typically for at least 
12 months. Business case at November 2020 CCC

Implement a whole 
system approach to 
Trauma and 
adversity BOND

Trauma informed response work continues, and an overarching strategy and action plan 
has been developed. A business case was submitted to Service and Finance Group to 
further invest in this thematic. Whilst the business case was agreed in principle as it was 
able to articulate the long-term investments that could be secured in developing trauma 
informed approaches across the city, the proposal to invest was agreed in principle at 
this point. The business case for Trauma and Adversity includes an investment in 
capacity around training, coordination and work with third sector organisations to create 
a social movement for change. Business case at November 2020 CCC

Domestic Abuse 
Services for 
Children BOND

As part of the BOND work Salford commissioned Trafford Domestic Abuse Services 
(TDAS) and Talk, Listen, Change (TLC) to run a two-year pilot, supporting children age 
5-18 who are affected by domestic abuse. The partnership project called Harbour is a 
trauma informed service and is designed to support children who have witnessed, been 
victim to or have portrayed behaviours deemed to be harmful to others under the 
definition of domestic abuse. Business case at November 2020 CCC

Route 29 BOND

Route 29 is an integrated service for adolescents with complex needs that brings 
together a team of specialists working together through a shared practice framework. 
The model operates as an edge of care/outreach service, focused around a re-purposed 
children’s home that acts as a hub to bring together a multi-disciplinary team Business 
case at November 2020 CCC

Supporting Parents 
Work

A parenting strategy is in development which will require resource to implement. 
Business Case to be developed by February 2021

Implementation of a 
new needs-led 
integrated neuro-
development 
pathway for 
children and young 
people aged 0-25:

Work is underway to implement a new way of working across Paediatrics, CAMHS, Early 
Help and our educational psychology service to better meet the needs of children with 
Autism and ADHD. Investment from the Population Health monies has allowed some 
testing. Business Case to be agreed as continuation of funding.    

Page 129



  

18

COSTING

Table 8 – Proposed cost (High level)

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

10.4 For the programmes listed as part of the Better Outcomes New Delivery Model the 
following cost avoidance will result: 

 Original estimated pressure reduction/cost avoidance against “do nothing” over 5 year 
period to 2023/24 £4.8m

 Actual placement cost avoidance to date against “do nothing” £2.315m

 Estimated cost avoidance from cases referred/open to all programmes not becoming 
Outside Placement £4m.

 Estimated long term cost avoidance of DA/Trauma Informed programme of £0.5m

 Maximum recurring cost of Bond programme to integrated fund £2.591m (21/22 prices)

10.5 Many of the programmes listed above will reduce demand on high cost services and will 
provide earlier intervention and support by managing need at a lower threshold such as 
the neurodevelopmental pathway. 

Page 130



  

19

10.6 Potential Savings - Remove current vacant posts within Route 29 (1*Portfolio Lead, 
1*Keyworker & 1 FGC Co-ordinator) which are currently either not required by the 
service or for the FGC role being provided from within existing Early Help resources. 
Saving £113k pa.

10.7 £0.2m Outreach Team saving.

11. Theme 5 – Children’s Physical Health

OVERVIEW

11.1 As per Children’s Social Care overview section 10.1 – 10.3

Table 9 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Review of Community 
Paediatric Services 
and re-specification of 
the service

This is to redesign the service to better meet the needs of the City. Business case to 
be developed by February 2021.

Implement SEND 
Recommendations

Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) jointly carried out an inspection of 
the local area and made recommendations for investment in a number of areas. 
Business Case to be developed by March 2021.

Review Access to 
Paediatric Acute 
Services

As part of the Theme 3 GM work a review of inpatient and emergency presentations 
is required.

Implement and 
evaluate the paediatric 
avoidable admissions 
care bundle

Salford was a pilot site for Greater Manchester to test new ways of working to reduce 
admissions for Asthma Epilepsy, Diabetes and Gastrointestinal admissions including 
a paediatric hotline for GPs, implementation of review of infant feeding practices

Ingleside Freestanding 
Birthing Unit

In order to continue to have babies born in Salford investment is required to support 
the development of an in reach model for maternity services in GM Business Case 
has been to CCC subject to approval of overall spend.

Start Well

Evaluate and embed agreed recommendations of the Start Well programme: we 
received GM investment to test a number of programmes and the programmes which 
evaluated well will require ongoing investment, including Universal Antenatal 
Parenting, Integrated Health and wellbeing work, work to support the 
neurodevelopment pathway and risky behaviours work Business Case to be 
developed by January 2021.

Page 131



  

20

COSTING

Table 10 – Proposed cost (High level)
 

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

11.2 None identified – will be considered as part of the full business case.

12. Theme 6 – Children’s Mental Health

OVERVIEW

12.1 As per Children’s Social Care overview section 8.1 – 8.3

Table 11 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Co-ordinate the 
approach for parent-
infant mental health

To provide early intervention to improve attachment and bonding. A business case 
has been approved for this work subject to overall approval of funding for a 
commission to join our Parent and infant mental health offer for adults with provision 
in Manchester Foundation Trust CAMHS child psychology service to improve mental 
health provision for 0-5 year olds. Business Case has been to CCC subject to 
approval of overall spending.

Children's Eating 
Disorder service

This is a contribution to the GM commissioned Eating disorders service Business 
Case to be developed by December 2020.

Page 132



  

21

COSTING

Table 12 – Proposed cost (High level) 

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

12.2 None identified – will be considered as part of the full business case.

Page 133



  

22

DETAILED OVERVIEW OF THE KEY THEMES PRIMARY CARE

13. Theme 7 – Primary Care

OVERVIEW

13.1 Primary Care investment includes proposed investments such as additional roles, 
aligning to the National GP contract. Additional capacity to support Primary Care 
through the pandemic and then a proposal 

13.2 The following three key priorities have been identified which will support COVID 19 
recovery align to the national GP contract and promote more effective pathways:

 Additional Roles in Primary Care
 Continuation of COVID services to support Primary care
 Review of services to support extended access, out of hour’s provision and 

reduction of patients attending the Emergency Department.

13.3 Consequently, the proposed investment detailed in this section will support Salford’s 
fidelity to the Long Term Plan and also develop the support structures we need to 
respond to and recover from COVID 19

Table 13 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary Key Area 

COVID 
Services

COVID 19 services related to the provision of additional primary care 
capacity, primarily via Salford Primary care Together to support the systems 
resilience and ability to manage the pandemic. This includes services that 
support shielding patients, visiting of COVID positive patients to reduce the 
risk to practices, COVID Testing as well as a number of other key work 
streams that provided support during the first wave of the pandemic.

Primary Care has worked through the services and have developed a 
proposed prioritisation that will underpin the ask. 

COVID 
Response

Urgent Care 
redesign

Pre COVID, the locality was already working on streamlining Urgent Care 
and Out of Hours services so that they more effectively align, reduce 
duplication and ensure we maximise what is often a limited workforce. This 
proposal will reflect effectively collaboration and bundling of services to 
deliver these aims but also provide a focus on a further Proof of Concept 
regarding ED. This includes Pre – ED Streaming and Call before you 

National/Local 
priority

Page 134



  

23

attend.

The overall ambition will be to minimise unnecessary Hospital attendances, 
but also ensure that we have a suitable community based alternative for 
patients. 
 

MH 
Practitioners 
(MHPs)

As part of the NHS Long Term Plan, localities are being asked to realign 
community mental health services with primary care networks (PCNs), 
creating ‘new and integrated models of primary and community mental 
health care’ by 2023/24.  To support these integrated models, Mental 
Health Practitioner (MHP) roles are included in the GP Contract Additional 
Roles Reimbursement Scheme from April 2021.

In Salford the remodelling of primary and community mental health care is 
being undertaken within the Living Well work.  There is therefore an 
opportunity for PCNs to have additional identifiable MHP input with further 
support via the Living Well MDT which would result in greater resilience and 
a more multi-disciplinary offer and ensure Salford has a cohesive and 
integrated front door to mental health in the future.

COVID 
Response

COSTING

Table 14 – Proposed cost (High level) 

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

13.5 Expected savings are outlined below:

Page 135



  

24

 Duplication – The Urgent Care work stream should reduce duplication and inefficiency 
within current services. Additionally, if the proof of concept works as expected, Salford 
Royal FT should see a significant reduction in ED attendances and cons3equently this 
should reduce their costs that they can contribute to the model.

 Long Term health – Early intervention within Mental Health is key in preventing longer 
term more acute episodes of care. The locality has recognised the benefits to patients 
and an evaluation of the impact will be included as part of the living well project.

END OF REPORT

Page 136



 

                                                          

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

PART I 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

November 2020 

Report of: Debbie Blackburn, Assistant Director 
Public Health Nursing and 
Wellbeing, Salford City Council

Date of Paper: November  2020

Subject: Better Outcomes New Delivery 
(BOND) programme 
(previously known as Best Value 
Programme: Children’s Service 
Redesign - Case for Change 
Investment Proposal

In case of query 
Please contact:

Jane Case Senior Integrated 
Commissioning Programme 
Manager jane.case@salford.gov.uk

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper 
relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

 Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:   
To seek approval from Childrens Commissioning Committee for the continued funding 
of the BOND  Better Outcomes New Delivery Programme. The report details provision, 
a summary of delivery, financial profiling and independent evaluation findings. 
                                

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Providing a preventative approach to 
managing demand will improve the 
outcomes residents of Salford experience.
There will be a more joined up system wide 
response to a number of elements which 
will reduce longer term impacts from 
adversity

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  
HOW CAN THEY BE 
MITIGATED?
 

Risks and mitigations are identified in the 
paper.

WHAT EQUALITY RELATED 
RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  
HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

An equality Impact assessment will be 
undertaken if funding is approved and will 
be presented to a future commissioning 
committee 

DOES THIS PAPER HELP 
ADDRESS ANY EXISTING HIGH 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES 
THIS PAPER REDUCE THEM?

The paper updates the board on the 
preventative nature of the BOND 
programme. It highlights opportunities to 
manage demand of future high-end service 
provision through invest to save 
opportunities. 

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY 
POSSIBLE CONFLICTS OF 
INTEREST ASSOCIATED WITH 
THIS PAPER.

None envisaged.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY 
CURRENT SERVICES OR 
ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN 
THIS PAPER:

The provision of the BOND programme 
seeks to orchestrate a step change in the 
transformation for children’s services. 
The scale of the change and the 
investment made will provide opportunity 
for current workforce in the future. 

Footnote:

Page 138



 

                                                          

Members of Childrens Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 139



  

Document Development

Process
Y
e
s

N
o

Not
Applica

ble

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual 

report)
Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

 Professionals have contributed 
to the development, evaluation 
and outcomes described in this 
paper 

Consensus view from 
specific project leads 
and wider partners has 
been reached 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value 
and the impacts on the Salford socially, 
economically and environmentally?

 The social value impact of keeping 
children local to Salford, less travel 
and keeping investment within 
Salford

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and 
how these will be managed) 

 The TCS model is a specialist 
service for children with learning 
disabilities and autism.  Some of 
the families / children have any 
equality related characteristics – 

An equality impact 
assessment will be 
undertaken subject to 
approval and will be 
presented to the 
commissioning 
committee 

Legal Advice Sought  Legal advice has been sought 
on the constituent parts of the 
commissions 

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) for 

Salford City Council Childrens 
Leadership Team 27/08/2020

Endorsed and noted 

P
age 140



  

engagement or other formal governance 
groups for comments / approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

 Service and Finance Group 
01/09/20
Childrens Leadership Team 
22/10/20
Service and Finance Group 
23/10/20 
Childrens Lead Member 
Briefing 29/10/20 
 

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 141



Better Outcomes New Delivery (BOND) Programme Evaluation

1  Executive Summary

This report provides a further update on the report received in September 2020 and 
provides summary information of the programmes in the Better Outcomes New 
Delivery (BOND) programme formally known as Best Value. 

The report provides the background for the programme and details the investment by 
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group into four programmes of Childrens 
transformation. Each programme has interdependencies and seek to improve the 
outcomes of Salford children and families. 

The programmes were implemented based on evidence of effectiveness from other 
parts of the country and localised to work with our existing systems. Each programme 
was funded on an invest to save basis and this paper sets out the savings and cost 
avoidance for each programme.  

Finance Summary

 Original estimated pressure reduction/cost avoidance against “do nothing” over 
5 year period to 2023/24 £4.8m

 Actual placement cost avoidance to date against “do nothing”  £2.315m
 Estimated cost avoidance from cases referred/open to all programmes not 

becoming  Outside Placement £4m
 Estimated long term cost avoidance of DA/Trauma Informed programme of 

£0.5m
 Maximum recurring cost of Bond programme to integrated fund £2.591m 

(21/22 prices)

Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to note the contents of the evaluation 
report and approve the recurrent business case request. 

2 Background and Context 

2.1 The Better Outcomes New Delivery (BOND) Programme (previously known as 
Best Value) saw the clinical commissioning group establish an investment into 
Childrens services. The programme looked to intervene and invest in strategic 
pressure points to develop different delivery models that could deliver better 
outcomes for Children in Salford and reduce the budget pressure caused by very 
high cost high need interventions.  As part of this development, the trauma and 
resilience work has always featured as a key component to all the projects, Route 
29, Achieving Change Together, Transforming Care Salford, and Domestic Abuse. 
All these services users are in receipt of services due to the context of adversity they 
have experienced. As such, developing this as a trauma informed programme has 
been key to understanding and approaching service design has been paramount. 

Page 142



£4m was set aside from the CCG’s allocation to support invest to save 
transformational change in Children’s services - known as Best Value Transformation 
Fund. The CCG and Council approved a Case for Change Investment Proposal in 
July 2019 for £3.3m non-recurrent funding, to enable a level of double running and 
support a detailed evaluation to underpin a full business case. The full business case 
is to be presented in the third quarter of 2020. Salford also received £0.7m from the 
GM Transformation Fund to support Year 1 costs. Salford Council and CCG 
established the Programme to identify, develop and implement service change to 
deliver efficiencies across Salford health and care services. 

2.2 As part of the agreement a number of principles were established to ensure rigour 
and accountability, financial sustainability, better outcomes and future proofing for all 
service developments, specifically that:

 Programmes must be financial sustainable in their own right or aligned 
as “support” to other projects that are financially sustainable, 

 Include plans for continual review and evaluation to ensure proposed model 
remains fit for purpose,

 A clear work-force plan. Benefits realisation proposal - including 
proposed outcomes, outputs, inputs and impact,

 A clear plan for tracking and monitoring - including support service 
requirement [finance, BI and contracting]



2.3 The initial focus and biggest investment for the BOND programme was to implement 
the Route 29 programme which is based on  the No Wrong Door model, a nationally 
recognised model that is also being implemented in 4 other GM localities The No 
Wrong Door model has been further developed by the Salford team and is renamed 
Route 29. The Hub was formally opened on 6 January 2020 and went live in February 
2020.  Route 29 is an integrated service for adolescents with complex needs, aimed 
at young people aged 12 to 17 on the edge of care, edging to care, and in care. It 
brings together a team of specialists working together through a shared practice 
framework. Where Salford differs to other localities is we have extended No Wrong 
Door to also include 3 other transformational programmes linked to placement 
pressure:
 Transforming Care in Salford [TCS] / Special Educational Needs [SEND], 
 Achieving Change Together [ACT], and
 Domestic Abuse and a Trauma Informed Response to Adversity. 

2.4 We believe by aligning all these services we are better able to develop the whole 
system change to Salford Children’s Services to deliver the service outcomes and 
value for money to the Salford population. The 4 programmes are separately 
managed, each with its own programme team and performance metrics. There is a 
detailed programme plan for each. However, the 4 programmes will be considered 

Page 143



together for the financial evaluation; this will help ensure all costs and benefits are 
considered, minimising risk of duplication and omission.

2.5 A key impact of this programme was to be a reduction in high-cost care packages, 
particularly for those young people having to be placed out of borough. Each placement 
costs around £200k per annum - and there were 46 at March 2019. 

2.6 Further benefits are outlined in the original paper and included the aim to mitigate 
significant need in terms of emotional health & well-being and mental health across the life 
course.

2.7 It was difficult to predict the likely benefits in view of uncertainty over future growth, the 
timing of bringing placements back into borough, and interdependencies between the 
various programmes; however, we have evaluated potential benefits using 3 scenarios, 
which we have compared to the expected “Do Nothing” scenario. Please see appendix 1 
(SFG report June 2019) 

2.8 Potential benefits range between a “worst case” scenario of £3.9m and a “best case” 
scenario of £8.0m. 

2.9 The most “likely” scenario delivers a recurrent [cost-avoidance] benefit of £5.3m: this is 
based on detailed work-force costings by the children’s team.

2.10 The original cases set out were pre COVID and the impact of that has been felt 
across all of the programmes of work as detailed in the previous update report (appendix 
2 Childrens commissioning committee report ) it is fair to assume that without these 
interventions in place the growth of out of borough placements would have grown 
significantly . 

3.1 Route 29

Route 29 is an integrated service for adolescents with complex needs that brings 
together a team of specialists working together through a shared practice framework. 
The model operates as an edge of care/outreach service, focused around a re-purposed 
children’s home that acts as a hub to bring together a multi-disciplinary team: including 
a clinical psychologist, police, speech & language therapist and keyworkers. This is to 
reduce number of adolescents that come into care and for most it can be very short 
periods and also prevent placement breakdown and OOB placements. 
Headlines live since February 2020

• Cases in total: 145
• Currently supporting 87 CYP 
• Of the 126 referrals to R29, 30 have subsequently closed to the service - of these:
• 2 have become LAC
• 10 have not become LAC
• 18 were LAC at the point of referral

3 Service evaluation

Page 144



• Of these 18 that were LAC at the point of referral:
• 16 remained in the same placement so avoiding a placement breakdown
• 2 changed placement after or during the R29 work
• 2 are no longer looked after
• 39 R29 cases open to Specialist Safeguarding Nurses (not including complex 

safeguarding hub cases)
• Full health assessments completed on 19 / others in progress (often takes more 

than 1 contact)
• Key top risk areas identified as part of the health assessment -  Drug Use, 

Mental/Emotional health, Sexual activity under 16, Sexual Health Risks
• Key top areas of intervention undertaken by nurses has been around - Physical 

Health, Immunisation, Mental Health (based on SDQ scores), Self-Harm, Sexual 
Health, Healthy Relationships, Contraceptive Advice, Drug Awareness 

• Referrals into specialist services – sexual health, Paediatrics, GP and school 
health

• Predominant ages 14-17 years
Estimated save to the future system the average cost of an IFA is £805 per week 
(£42,000 per annum, an average cost of external placement is £4000 per week 
(£207,000 per annum) respectively per annual placement. 

Risk of stopping; there has been significant investment into Route 29 in terms of staffing 
and capital, linked with wider regional and national piloting of the No Wrong Door model, 
Salford has successfully embedded the overarching approach and the Hub is now up 
and running. There is significant reputational risk to ceasing the R29 programme. 
However, there are a number of savings to be made and potential options to explore.  As 
the data indicates there is a significant cohort who are currently precluded from R29 due 
to age, it is suggested that the age range of the cohort be flexed so that there is more 
delivery to meet identified need within the current funding envelope. 
Transforming Care Salford [TCS]
Transforming Care Salford Model (TCS Model) is based on the principles of the original Ealing 
service and embodies the wider transformation care agenda.  This is a specialist service 
providing intensive support to children and young people with learning disability and autism 
who are at risk of a move to residential placement or are at risk of being admitted to a Tier 4 
hospital bed. Before TCS, these families fell into crisis with the potential for children to be 
placed in out of borough education and care facilities. 
Headlines live since February 2019
Currently supporting 8 children and young people and their families.  All are rated as at high 
risk of escalation to community CETRs and potential admission or entering the care system.
Covid response saw bespoke respite provision being secured for vulnerable families 
preventing family crisis and potentially preventing 19 children coming into the care system.    
Estimated save to the future system
Approximate cost of out-of-borough residential placement for this cohort is a minimum of 
£350,000 per year combining residential and educational costs. Which means a potential cost 
avoidance of £2,100,000 for a cost of the current model £158,000.  The activity over the 
summer also supported 19 families who were at crisis point seeing a cost avoidance of 
£6,650,000

Page 145



There are also the costs associated with hospital admissions and the community packages 
that emanate from NHSE CETRs upon discharge.  By targeting TCS work to those individuals 
at high risk, community solutions have been successful without the need for admission and 
thereby avoiding the associated costs.  Sometimes, discharge planning can lead to out of area 
placements which again can be avoided by effective TCS interventions.  
Risk of stopping;   there is a risk that those families supported would fall into crisis and come 
into the care system, R29 is not currently set up to meet the needs of this cohort and so these 
cases would exacerbate and fall into crisis. 
There is also a high risk of admission to Tier 4 beds for many of the young people.  They are 
often identified as requiring CETRs which in turn can lead to planned admissions. However, 
TCS has been key to outcome focused solutions that have emerged from CETRs and which 
have been targeted upon the needs of the individual as well as supporting positive behaviour 
planning with families.   As part of the wider Greater Manchester Combined Authority work, as 
Salford piloted the Ealing model (which is the TCS programme) Salford has been chosen  to 
pilot the next transformational aspect of the wider SEN transformation agenda. This is the 
Children and Young People Community Keyworker pilot.  This would potentially see £115,000 
coming into the Salford system, to build upon the TCS model. 

3.3 Achieving Change Together [ACT]

Achieving Change Together [ACT] is a strengths, relationship and evidence-based 
model for working with young people at risk of exploitation, who are also at risk of entry 
into care, placement breakdown or escalation of care. The model is built around an ACT 
worker, who works intensively with a small cohort of around 6 cases, typically for at least 
12 months. 

Ultimate aim of the model is to improve outcomes for young people and their families 
and provide effective alternatives to high-cost and secure accommodation. Further work 
to explore the links to the Young Persons Plan work in Salford is required and 
sustainability of the provision will be explored.

Since ACT came into operation it has supported 21 young people 

Currently supporting 10 young people 

Estimated save to the future system cost avoidance figure for those CYP supported 
the successful prevention of sexual exploitation saves on average £12.000 in law 
enforcement and health service / victim support costs . Although the broader societal 
impact cannot be conveyed in financial terms, a recent GMCA Cost benefit analysis of 
the ACT programme stated that the valuation of wider economic social costs of child 
sexual exploitation is over £300,000 per case. An estimated cost avoidance of external 
placement is approximately £180,000 depending on placement spend assumed to have 
been avoided. Meaning, potential cost saving to the system is £3,780.000.

Risk of stopping; the risk of stopping this provision is that the good relational work 
implemented to prevent sexual exploitation and re victimisation would result in high cost 
care placements and wider human and societal costs.
3.4 Domestic Abuse (DA) & Trauma Informed Reponses to Adversity 

Page 146



As part of the BOND work Salford commissioned Trafford Domestic Abuse Services 
(TDAS) and Talk, Listen, Change (TLC) to run a two-year pilot, supporting children age 
5-18 who are affected by domestic abuse. The partnership project called Harbour is a 
trauma informed service and is designed to support children who have witnessed, been 
victim to or have portrayed behaviours deemed to be harmful to others under the 
definition of domestic abuse. The service supports children who live in the Salford area. 
Both intervention and prevention services are available in the form of safety planning, 
121 emotional support, counselling, group engagement and education. The service 
works in partnership with other voluntary organisations to support families affected by 
domestic abuse. 

Headlines live since April 2020

Currently supporting (52) CYP 

Estimated save to the future system; £2,622,000 if all children supported did not go 
on to become a victim or perpetrator of abuse.
However, if even only 25% of the children supported didn’t go on to become a victim or 
perpetrator of domestic abuse the long term saving would be £522,000
If Harbour was able to prevent only 13 children per year in Salford from becoming victims 
or perpetrators in the future the service would have paid for itself. 

Risk of stopping; prior to the provision the demand and need for a Childrens DA 
provision was clearly highlighted with the Salford Domestic Abuse Needs assessment. 
Since the provision was contracted they have worked with over 200 children and young 
people in 1-1 and group settings. As well as aligning and dovetailing provision with 
Operation Encompass to ensure schools are confidently supporting children impacted 
by domestic abuse. Ensuring those most at risk have access to specialist provision. 

Operation Encompass system over a six month period from 01/01/20 to 30/06/20. In this 
period there were 904 events generating 1613 referrals. (Referrals are notifications put 
through from frontline officers regarding individual police call outs)  Weekly There have 
been an average of 60 referrals made per week.  The most being 123 in week 26 (wc 22 
June 2020). Monthly there have been an average of 269 referrals each month.  The 
highest being 404 in June 2020. Over the period, the 1613 referrals relate to 1435 
children (although some may have been referred on more than 1 occasion) with an 18 
year age range. The oldest young person referred was 18 and the youngest was 2 weeks 
old. There has been an increase in DA during Covid, over the last year the Salford 
MARAC cases have increased by 200. Domestic abuse is one of the known adverse 
childhood experiences. 

366 children (71.7% of the total) are currently under child protection with an underlying 
risk factor Domestic Abuse and 787 Children are currently at child in need for the primary 
concern of Domestic Abuse. Over 79 percent of cases held and supported by children’s 
service within the council have a concern relating to domestic abuse. The national 
domestic abuse helpline reports an increase of 25% over the Covid period with the 
death rate of Domestic Abuse victims reaching an increasing high.

The current delivery of Harbour was secured with the premise of a two year pilot period 
and as such Salford has a contract to that effect. Should BOND cease there would be a 

Page 147



6 month break clause to work to, whilst the provision tapers down. Should the provision 
end there would be increased demand of high costs CAMHS and a risk of increase in 
placements as well as the human cost and exacerbation of behavioural issues and 
emotional and mental health needs, all of which are highly associated with living with 
domestic abuse. There is a clear need for this provision.
As well as this a more recent addition to the BOND programme was the agreement to fund 
a perpetrator pilot as part of the COVID response. Whilst this is an adult provision funding 
was taken from the BOND provision to secure delivery. This will see delivery of a 
perpetrator pilot in Salford costing an additional £ 108,476. Building on this and through 
the valuable work of the DA lead Clare Baddley, Salford are now named on a national bid 
to secure additional perpetrator interventions in partnership with  Talk, Listen, Change. 
They are the only RESPECT accredited provider who are able to carry out this work safely. 
The outcome of this match funding opportunity are not yet known.  The perpetrator TLC 
provision pilot funded by the CCG is now match funded by the home office /PCC for 200k 
to support in the pilot.
Standard, medium and high risk provision is now offered for a platform for change with 
additional resource for working with the BME and LGBT community. Salford’s been 
chosen has a lead area along with Wigan to roll out the provision, which will be evaluated 
by the GMCA.
The partnership between the PCC and CCG enhances the offer and strengthens the 
potential for future funding opportunities.
MARAC repeats are at 50% percent with a predicted 27% increase in cases for 2020/2021. 
The need for the new approach will be aimed at a reduction in repeats for high risk cases 
by working intensively with DA perpetrators who use harm in intimate relationships.

3.5 Trauma Informed Approaches 
The Trauma and Resilience strategy sets out the overarching vision and road map to 
develop trauma informed and responsive systems to mitigate the impact of trauma and 
to further embed Resilience practice across the city. This will review and refine our ways 
of working so that we prevent the cyclical nature of adverse childhood experiences 
(ACEs). This will see the further development of resilience across the pathways and 
systems and enhance adult, child and family health and wellbeing by understanding how 
to deliver care and support that is trauma informed. The work undertaken with the Bond 
leads highlighted the need to support and develop individual and family resilience to 
mitigate and strengthen response to crisis.    
Trauma informed response work continues, and an overarching strategy and action plan 
has been developed. A business case was submitted to Service and Finance Group to 
further invest in this thematic. Whilst the business case was agreed in principle as it was 
able to articulate the long-term investments that could be secured in developing trauma 
informed approaches across the city, the proposal to invest was agreed in principle at 
this point. The business case for Trauma and Adversity includes an investment in 
capacity around training, coordination and work with third sector organisations to create 
a social movement for change. The total financial value is £239,180 with a phased exit 
plan once the work is embedded. This element will enable the true prevention agenda 
across Salford.

3.7 The impact of the investment has seen transformational work in terms of culture, 
reorganisation of services and testing of new and innovative approaches. Each 

Page 148



programme is contributing to improving outcomes and in turn reducing long term 
costs for the system. In isolation each programme contributes to an element of those 
improvements but as a whole system long term approach to reducing poor outcomes 
each has a part to play. These elements are reactionary and support those families 
and individuals who are already in receipt of targeted services. The evaluation 
undertaken by Dartington highlighted the need to support and build resilience to 
support families during time of duress. Understanding the nature of that duress 
(trauma/ adverse childhood experiences) is essential. Developing a system that 
actively supports Family resilience and is trauma responsive has been highlighted as 
foundational aspects to truly begin to understand on how we work with families, which 
should be more system wide. This investment will further promote and establish this. 
The business case for this work has been awaiting approval subject to funding 
discussions, the funding would pay for a coordinator further workforce development 
and will progress work across Salford across the lifecourse and benefits would be 
realized in both Adults and Childrens services. 

Risk of Stopping: Greater Manchester have recognized Salford as a beacon of good 
practice and there is a reputational and system wide risk if we don’t implement this 
programme which is a true public health intervention and will ultimately reduce the need 
for high end responses from services.  

4  Dartington Evaluation

4.1 BOND evaluation questions
The commissioning team proposed a stream of work to draw the four BOND programmes 
together and identify indicators that could be used to measure the synergised and combined 
success of these programmes.  The evaluation document in Appendix 4 addresses the 
original questions in the invitation to tender (which our proposed work plan indirectly 
addressed). 

5 Financial Overview 

5.1 Original Case for Change
The original case for change established the baseline position of numbers of Looked 
After Children within the city who were in external Outside Placements (OP’s) and 
Independent Foster Agency (IFA’S) as at the end of March 2019 and established the 
potential impact of the BOND programme against a “do nothing” scenario, over a 5 year 
period to 2023/24 and the financial consequences to the Integrated Fund of these 
scenarios.
The “do nothing” scenario was a conservative estimate of continued growth in the use of 
outside placements of approximately a third of the trend in the previous 2 years (12 per 
year) and a standstill position in the number of IFA’s as detailed below
Do Nothing - Figures in £000s 18/19 23/24 To Sept 

Page 149



Baseline Year 5 2020
Baseline 48 OOBPs @ £200k £9,600 £9,600 £9,600
Growth @ 4 per year = 20 [33% of 
trend growth]

£4,000 £1,200

IFAs 63 @ £40k £2,520 £2,520 £2,520
In-house provision [excluding 
fostering increase]

£9,552 £9,552 £9,552

Fostering Increase £460 £460
Total Costs £21,672 £26,132 £23,332

5.2 This was set against three possible scenarios from the impact of Route 29 
(Worst/Likely/Best) with the mid (likely) scenario demonstrating a potential cost 
avoidance/growth containment impact of circa £5.3m as detailed below.
Likely Scenario - Figures in £000s 23/24 

Year 5
Do 
Nothing

23/24 
Year 5
Bond 

To Sept 
2020

Baseline 48 OOBPs @ £200k £9,600 £9,600 £9,600
Growth @ 4 per year = 20 [50% of 
trend growth]

£4,000 £4,000 £1,000

43 of the 66 OOBPs brought back 
to Salford 

(£8,600) (£2,200)

Baseline IFAs 63 @ £40k £2,520 £2,520 £2,520
43 Additional IFAs [1 for each 
OOBP avoided]

£1,720 £360

In-house provision [excluding 
fostering increase]

£9,552 £9,552 £9,552

Fostering Increase £460 £460 £460
Additional No Wrong Door Hub 
Costs

£1,619 £1,619

Total Costs £26,132 £20,871 £22,911
Cost avoidance / growth 
containment

£5,261

5.3 The estimated recurrent cost of the three remaining elements of the programme for 
ACT, Transforming Care (TCS) and Domestic Abuse (DA) totalling circa £0.5m were also 
identified reducing the impact to circa £4.8m. However, it should be noted these 
elements of the programme are primarily focussed on cost avoidance from early 
intervention and the prevention of children becoming looked after.   

5.4 Current Position
The Route 29 programme commenced in mid-2019/20, with the Hub being formally 
opened in February 2020. The initial work focussed on a review of the existing baseline 

Page 150



cohort of placements, whilst the Hub was established and staffing recruited. This review 
has resulted in a significant reduction in baseline cohort numbers, which have in part 
been offset by growth from new placements.
The current position is detailed in table below  

Current Position Numbers Cost 
£000’s

Baseline 48 OOBPs @ £200k 48 9,600
Reduction in baseline (21) (4,820)
Net New Placements 15 3,323
Current OOBP’s 42 8,103
Baseline IFAs 63 2,520
Reduction in baseline (32) (1,266)
Net New Placements 20 927
Current OOBP’s 51 2,181
In-house provision 9,646
Total Placement Costs 19,930
Bond Programme Cost 2,791
Total Costs 22,721

Estimated “Do Nothing” cost (see below) 25,036

Cost avoidance / growth containment 2,315

5.5 It should be noted that whilst new placement growth has exceeded that assumed in 
the case for change, approximately 17 are for children under 12 and therefore outside 
the scope of Route 29 and 19 have started since the start of the Covid lockdown period 
in March 2020. However, reduction in the baseline cohort of OP’s has far exceeded that 
anticipated and overall number of IFA’s has fallen by 22 rather than grown. We have also 
seen improved placement stability which will potentially have avoided a more costly 
placement e.g. foster care to out of borough

Under a “Do Nothing” scenario only a small number of the reduction in baseline 
placements would have happened and therefore the potential costs would have been 
approximately £2.3m higher at £25m due to the actual growth in new placements. This 
compares with anticipated position included in the case for change of doing nothing at 
this stage in the programme of circa £23.332m against a broadly similar cost with the 
Bond programme intervention of £22.911m, giving cost avoidance of £421k. 

In addition to the significant reduction in baseline cohort placements, the programme has 
been successful in preventing children from either becoming LAC or experiencing 
placement breakdown. There has been 145 referrals to Route 29 of which 30 have now 
been closed with 10 not becoming LAC and 16 remaining in their existing placement. 

Page 151



There are currently 56 children on the edge of care within the remaining cases open to 
Route 29 with a further 16 being managed by the other placement elements of the 
programme in ACT and TCS. All of these cases could also have become Looked After 
under a “Do Nothing” scenario, placing further significant cost pressures on the 
integrated fund. Based on a cautious estimate of only 25% of these children becoming 
LAC the cost pressure to the fund could be up to circa £4m.  
It is also the intention to expand the age range of children open to route 29 from 12 years 
and over to 8 years and over. This can be achieved from within the existing Route 29 
staffing structure whilst maximising the opportunities for further cost savings / cost 
avoidance.

The Domestic Abuse element of the programme is currently working with 52 children 
with an estimated long term cost avoidance of £0.5m if only 13 do not to become a victim 
or perpetrator of domestic abuse.

5.6 Impact on Integrated Fund

Placements

The cost of external placements has been a significant pressure on the integrated fund, 
making up approximately 60% of the overall overspend on the fund of £7.4m in 2019/20. 
Whilst this area continues to be a pressure on the fund in 2020/21, the bond programme 
has delivered real cost reductions to the fund over the last 18 months, with a projected 
cost reduction in 20/21 of circa £0.9m on cost incurred in 19/20. However, it should also 
be noted that the projected full year cost to the fund of baseline placements at the end 
of March 2019 (pre bond investment) was £11.784m which is approximately £0.7m 
higher than 19/20 outturn and £1.6m higher than current year projection. 

The table below provides an analysis of number of placements over the last 5 years and 
total outturn cost, which reflects this increasing demand and impact of the bond 
programme to contain / reduce these pressures.

Year 
(end of 
year)

Budget Actual Surplus / 
(Shortfall)

Number of Placements 

£000’s £000’s £000’s Outside 
Placem
ents

IFA’
s

2016/17 6,208 6,814 (606) 25 59
2017/18 6,208 7,543 (1,335) 37 67
2018/19 6,591 10,454 (3,863) 48 63

Page 152



2019/20 6,591 11,072 (4,481) 43 43
2020/21 6,591 10,284 (3,693) 42 51

Bond Programme 

The costs of the programme are currently funded from one off CCG monies and are not 
a call on the Integrated Fund in 2020/21. However this funding will cease on the 31st 
March 2021 and future costs will therefore need to be met from within the existing fund 
budget. The estimated recurrent cost of these programmes is detailed in the table below.

Programme Area Recurrent Cost (21/22 
prices)
£000’s

Route 29 1,724
Achieving Change Together (ACT) 136
Transforming Care (TCS) 158
Domestic Abuse 348
Trauma Informed 239
Management & Support Costs 186
Total Cost 2,791

Nb. 2020/21 cost is lower due to recruitment to Route 29 being phased, with the recurrent 
cost reflecting the full year cost of the structure.

Existing Services 

There has been an element of double running of existing services alongside the 
implementation of the bond programme.  These existing services are currently under 
review as part of the evaluation of the bond programme to identify opportunities to 
change and/or making savings efficiencies. To date full year savings of circa £200k have 
been achieved from reductions in the Outreach Service, from the non-recruitment to 
vacancies within the team as they arise during this financial year. This is a 20% reduction 
in the size of this team and currently reflects the element of the team caseload which will 
now come within the scope of route 29. The other main service to be reviewed will be 
the council’s in house children’s home provision.

In addition to the existing council services, the programme is anticipated to provide 
benefit to other services including:-

 Police – Missing from Home incidents
 NHS – A&E attendances

Page 153



 CAMHS / Adults Mental Health Services

Whilst no direct benefit to the integrated fund is currently assumed within the financial 
projections for these elements, all of these wider benefits will be considered in the 
evaluation of the programme (including within the wider GM evaluation). 

6 Financial Options

Whilst there are clear financial benefits to the bond programme, these are a mix of real 
cost savings/pressure reductions and significant cost avoidance from a “do nothing” 
option. However this investment will need to be considered within the context of available 
resources and other pressures within the integrated fund and members may wish to 
consider the level of recurrent investment to be made in these services. Potential options 
for members to consider are

7 Full Implementation 
 
The maximum annual recurrent cost to the fund (at April 21 prices) would be £2.791m less 
£0.2m Outreach Team saving already achieved so £2.591m. This would be a maximum cost 
which could be offset by further placement savings in future years.
 
Members may however wish to consider potential reductions / cost saving to the programme 
which are detailed below.

Non/minimal service impact

- Remove current vacant posts within Route 29 (1*Portfolio Lead, 1*Keyworker & 1 
FGC Co-ordinator) which are currently either not required by the service or for the 
FGC role being provided from within existing Early Help resources. Saving £113k pa

- Fund support costs for finance/commissioning/data analysis from within existing 
budgets (ie business as usual activity). Saving £59k pa

Service Reduction

- Don’t renew / extend perpetrator intervention contract entered in to as a direct 
response to Covid demand. Saving £108k pa

- End / reduce Domestic Abuse contracts with TDAS and TLC at renewal (currently 
contracted up to 31st March 2022. Saving of up to £177k pa

- Further reduction / removal of remaining outreach team. Saving of up to £785kpa
- Reduction in Route 29 staffing

However the risk is that none of these are real savings as ending these contracts will lead to 
an escalation of need again with unavoidable costs of us needing to bring children into care. 

Page 154



As detailed above the cost to the fund can be reduced from current projected full cost in 
21/22 of £2.791m by savings already achieved and reductions which will have no/minimal 
impact on the service totalling £0.372m reducing the cost to £2.419m per year.

Further savings could be achieved from the reduction/ending of contracts and reductions in 
staffing within the Route 29 Hub.  However, these would impact directly on the services 
being provided and will in all likelihood be offset by increases in demand on other services 
from more children becoming LAC and in particular a return to increasing year on year 
placement costs.

Discontinue Programme Services

Members may choose to discontinue the services delivered through the bond 
programme completely. This option would require 6 months’ notice to be given to 
providers for the contracted services being delivered by TLC and TDAS and redundancy 
costs for up to 35 staff (although this would depend on individuals length of service and 
entitlement to mandatory redundancy payments) which would be one off costs in year.

However in discontinuing it is highly likely that the demand currently being managed by 
these services and the resulting pressure/cost reduction and avoidance benefits will be 
lost placing further significant pressures on the fund. Whilst the impact cannot be 
quantified definitively, as detailed above Route 29 is currently working with 56 children 
who are on the edge of care, with a further 16 children and vulnerable families under 
ACT and TCS. If only a quarter of these children became LAC cost of care to the fund 
could be up to £4m per annum..

LAC numbers were 582 at the end of August 2019 and were 572 at the end of 
September. So numbers have fallen slightly. Currently there are 42 OP’s and 51 IFA’s 
these numbers have fallen at a significantly greater rate than overall LAC numbers. 

8 Financial Summary Impact
 Original estimated pressure reduction/cost avoidance against “do nothing” over 

5 year period to 2023/24 £4.8m
 Actual placement cost avoidance to date against “do nothing”  £2.315m
 Estimated cost avoidance from cases referred/open to all programmes not 

becoming  Outside Placement £4m
 Estimated long term cost avoidance of DA/Trauma Informed programme of 

£0.5m
 Maximum recurring cost of Bond programme to integrated fund £2.591m (21/22 

prices)

9 Conclusions

Page 155



9.1 All aspects of the programme are delivering cost benefits however due to the 
compounding nature of COVID and its impact on OOB placements it may be pertinent 
to extend and mainstream and harmonise aspects of the programmes to maximise 
long lasting change. The external evaluation from Dartington highlights the step 
change this investment has had on children’s services, with clear opportunities to 
truly implement earlier intervention across the wider People’s directorate. 
Understanding and responding to trauma, to build resilience, both an individual, and 
family level will support the further prevention agenda. The Board are asked to 
consider the external evaluation findings and the impact this programme has had on 
the wider budget constraints. 

10.1 The Childrens Commissioning Committee is asked to: consider the options 
contained in this report and support recurrent funding, note the costs to stop BOND, 
note the continuing rise and the growth of demand should BOND cease.  

Contact Officer: Jane Case 
Job Title: Senior Programme Manager Integrated Commissioning 

Appendix 1 original SFG report June 
SFG 4th June 19 - 

Childrens BV Investment FINAL VERSION.docx

Appendix 2 Childrens commissioning committee report September 

CCC Report BOND 
Update September 2020.docx

10 . Recommendations

Page 156



Appendix 3 BOND Theory of Change 
TOC BOND.docx

Appendix 4 Dartington Measures of success 
Have the programmes delivered outcomes and impact as originally envisaged in 
the theory of change? If not, why not? 
Programme data from each of the BOND programmes suggests that they are achieving 
the outcomes set out in their respective theories of change. However the work that we 
have undertaken with programme leads suggests that should the programmes 
orientate their work towards explicitly addressing family resilience as a driver of family 
reducing family breakdown, their might achieve reduced numbers of children placed in 
external placements and increased family functioning. 
Should the BOND programmes have the opportunity to embed the practices outlined in 
the systemic BOND theory of change we are confident that this would catalyse the 
effects seen.
Did the programmes address the inequities and achieve outcomes for all groups 
of children in Salford?  
In terms of equity of life chance, those eligible for the BOND programme experience 
significantly compromised equity. By preserving access to these programmes, and the 
positive outcomes seen, the programmes address inequity. 
In terms of addressing structural inequity (racial or socioeconomic for example), the 
contribution of these programmes should be subject to further attention and enquiry 
when data on this is made available.
How and why have these outcomes been achieved or not achieved? 
Since the initial pandemic lockdown in March and the subsequent limitations, 
practitioners have reported creative problem-solving approaches to delivering the 
programmes, within the limits set by the pandemic response.  I also understand that 
Salford has encouraged a flexible working pattern, diverse approaches and innovative 
methods to allow practitioners to flex their availability to the needs of their client group 
and improve outcomes for families.   
What contextual factors and unintended consequences affected the delivery of 
programmes and associated outcomes as single programmes and system 
working  
Through a series of workshops, the BOND programmes decided on four strategies that 
they would work against as a system to increase family resilience, with the goal or 
reducing family breakdown. This approach was finalised in early September 2020, and 
work began on deciding the appropriate measures that would be used to assess 
progress against these strategies and their associated outcomes. 
There is some work that needs to be done before the strategies can be fully 
implemented and outcomes achieved, (for example trauma informed practice training 
for all practitioners, developing a shared family-centred, resilience focused 
assessment).  In addition, the wider system (Early Help and universal services) will 
need to be brought into the way of working that the BOND programmes have defined. 
For example, adopting assessments that put the family at the centre and build on their 
existing assets, and working in an asset-based way.

Page 157



Although the Best Value/BOND programme has been in existence since July 2019, 
delivery has only been happening since Spring 2020, when the Covid lockdown 
occurred. This has had an inevitable impact on the programme ability to deliver 
according to their aspirations.
Have the programmes combined developed a whole systems approach to 
working to prevention and support for young people and families?
Yes, this has been achieved through the systemic BOND theory of change. The BOND 
programmes recognise the importance of the shared outcome of increasing family 
resilience, which has contributed to a shared system identity and direction.
At present the work now needs to shift towards embedding the changes to practice 
outlined within the theory of change, which will require time and focus on the part of 
programme managers, and collaboration and shared learning across the programmes. 
As such this is becoming a programme of change management that should be 
sustained by the work that has gone before it in order to see the outcomes in the longer 
term.   
What needs to be in place for the outcomes to be sustained? 
A key strategy within the systemic theory of change is for programme managers and 
their staff to have the time and space to incorporate new ways of working into their 
business as usual. This strategy will help them avoid the capability trap, we often seen 
in public systems. This is where the creation and embedding of longer term, effective 
and sustainable solutions are forfeited because of the daily pressures of service 
delivery; staff fight fire rather than building for the longer term. 
Should the BOND programmes be given the time and space to embed the strategies 
they have created, and avoid the capability trap, I am confident that the family 
resilience and the associated benefits of this (engagement with other services, 
improvements in health and wellbeing, reduced crises, in addition to reduced family 
breakdown) will be sustained over the longer term.
The family partnership model and employed and embedded in the Early Help service, 
will further reinforce the asset-based approach stated in the system theory of change, 
as it becomes mainstreamed into children’ social care. This dual focus, both upstream 
in Early Help, and downstream through the BOND programmes, should secure the 
positive outcomes of an asset based service.
Is there evidence that the Best value investment is having an impact on 
delivering better outcomes for Children in Salford? 
As stated previously, analysis of performance data produced by the BOND 
programmes thus far suggests strong evidence of improved outcomes for children and 
families, even before the system theory of change has been implemented. Case 
studies and audits also indicate positive change for children in Salford.
Are we capturing the right outcomes? 
Given this fresh focus on family resilience, it is unsurprising that family resilience is not 
yet being routinely measured by any of the programmes. Once we have confidence 
that the activities from the systemic theory of change have been successfully 
implemented, measurement of family resilience will be a valuable piece of information 
to gauge current and future success of the BOND programmes. 
Is the Best Value investment delivering value for money? 
The outcomes demonstrated so far suggest that there is strong evidence for cost 
avoidance at this point in service delivery for all of the BOND programmes individually, 
before implementing any of the changes suggested in the systemic theory of change. 
Should these changes be implemented, we are confident that further savings could be 

Page 158



made through reductions in family breakdown that necessitate external placements, 
and the other associated benefits from have more family resilience in the community.
Does the evaluation team think the projects has, for example, obvious unmet 
needs; is there spare capacity or would further roll out need step-change new 
investment? 
Should programme leads be supported to make time for practitioners to embed the 
small changes outlined within the systemic theory of change, thus avoiding the 
capability trap, then outcomes and subsequent savings would be realised. If there is no 
capacity in the system to create this space and time then small further, short-term 
investment might be needed to properly embed the changes. 

Next steps. Through a series of workshops, managers and practitioners across the 
BOND programme came together to discuss the current work they’re undertaking, the 
needs for the families they support, as well as the root causes of these needs. Through 
this work, they identified a common outcome, family resilience that is key as a 
protective factor against family breakdown.

Dartington recommendations 
What is family resilience?
Family resilience is the ability of a family to endure and bounce back – often stronger – 
from challenges, stress and adversity (Walsh, 2016). Innovative social care best-
practice guides advocate for practice that centres on building family resilience (Child 
Welfare Information Gateway, 2020; Center for the Study of Social Policy, 2018) as 
many of the risk factors for family breakdown are associated with poor resilience 
(Walsh, 2015; Devaney et al, 2013; Davydov, 2010; Bentovim, 2009; Walsh, 2003).

Families at risk of breakdown
Research the causes of family breakdown is quite limited; looking at a narrow range of 
simple individual factors (Simkiss, Stallard and Thorogood, 2012). Where there is no 
research that looks at the role of resilience in family breakdown, research into each 
suggests a clear connection.
Families where a child has autism and/or learning difficulties are subject to significant, 
chronic stress (Plumb and Mandell, 2011) and at greater risk of breakdown (Muir and 
Strnadová, 2012). 
An aspect of domestic abuse is social isolation from support networks (Zautra, 2014), 
which means that families experiencing domestic abuse will be without the social 
network that might help them endure the abuse as well as any other stresses or 
adversities they may face.
Risk factors for poor family resilience, leading to increased risk of breakdown map onto 
risk factors for child sexual exploitation (Lakey, 2011). Furthermore, since most 
abusers are known to the family and often part of their social network (ibid), 
safeguarding a child by protecting them from the abuser naturally involves alienation 
from part of the family’s social network. 
The overarching BOND Theory of Change (Full version in Appendix 3)
Together with the programme managers for the BOND programmes we have created a 
theory of change with four strategies that will work in a combined way, enhancing each 

Page 159



other, and we believe will grow family resilience, and therefore reduce the likelihood of 
breakdown and out of borough placement:
1. Better information and emphasis on family centred practice sharing among 
practitioners
Recommendations of best practice from the UK include family-centred care planning 
(Boddy et al, 2009). Family centred practice has been found to improve family living 
situation stability, decrease family/caregiver stress and improve the health and 
wellbeing for the young person and their family among other benefits (MacKean et al 
2012). This review also found benefits to the system in improved cost-effectiveness, 
earlier access to services, more effective use of services, reduced out of home 
placements and reductions in stigma through creating opportunities for dialogue 
(MacKlean et al 2012).

2. Asset-based working 
Asset- or strength-based support involves identifying and building on a family’s assets 
to empower them (Devaney et al, 2013). It is considered essential to a strong 
foundation for good practice in family support (ibid; Daly et al, 2015). It also helps 
families identify those who might be potential supporters from within their existing 
network. 

3. Families build independence from services, and increase interdependence in 
the community 
The research recognises that despite the wealth of evidence, currently, the children’s 
social care system in England neglects the importance of social support networks for 
young people receiving support (Berridge et al, 2010). We know that social and 
community networks and helping them to build these are a key factor in and a valuable 
source of family resilience, providing support in times challenges, stress and adversity 
(Black and Lobo, 2008; Devaney et al, 2013; Ungar, 2010; Walsh, 2002; Ungar, 2010), 
although it is noted that not many interventions target the risk of poor family 
relationships through prevention (Stantham and Smith, 2010).

4. Staff have the capacity to learn and adapt
Our work in system dynamics work has highlighted to us that that staff in Salford are 
subject to similar pressures as other workers across the system. This pressure creates 
a capability trap where capability cannot be improved to the level that it is needed to 
relieve the pressure, precisely because of this pressure. In a capability trap staff 
manage problems as they occur (firefighting) rather than creating space to plan 
strategically for longer term solutions (Fowler 2018). Our final strategy will enable the 
others strategies to be implemented through identifying addressing this capability trap. 

Dartington References
Bentovim, A. (2009) Safeguarding Children Living with Trauma and Family Violence. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
Berridge, D., Biehal, N., Lutman, E., Henry, L. and Palomares, M. (2010) Raising the bar? Evaluation of the Social Pedagogy 
Pilot Programme in residential children’s homes. London: Department for Education. [online] Available at: 
dera.ioe.ac.uk/11857/1/DFE-RR148.pdf
Black, K. and Lobo, M. (2008) ‘A Conceptual Review of Family Resilience Factors.’ Journal of Family Nursing, 14(1): 33- 55.
Boddy, J., McQuail, S., Owen, C., Petrie, P. and Statham, J. (2009) Working at the ‘Edges’ of Care? European Models of 
Support for Young People and Families. London: Department of Children, Schools and Families.

Page 160

https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/11857/1/DFE-RR148.pdf


Center for the Study of Social Policy (2018) Parental Resilience: Protective and Promotive Factors. Washington, DC. [online]
Available at: cssp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/ProtectiveFactorsActionSheets.pdf
Child Welfare Information Gateway (2020) The 2019/2020 Prevention Resource Guide. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services. [online]
Available at: www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/guide_2020.pdf
Daly, M., Bray, R., Bruckauf, Z., Byrne, J., Margaria, A., Pecnik, N. and Samms-Vaughan, M. (2015) Family and Parenting 
Support Policy and Provision in a Global Context. New York, NY: UNICEF. [online]
Available at: www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/01%20family_support_layout_web.pdf
Davydov, D. M., Stewart, R., Ritchie, K. and Chaudieu, I. (2010) ‘Resilience and mental health.’ Clinical Psychology 
Review, 30(5): 479- 495.
Devaney, C., Canavan, J., Landy, F. and Gillen, A. (2013) What Works in Family Support? Dublin: Child & Family Agency. 
[online] Available at: www.tusla.ie/uploads/content/Tusla_What_Works_in_Family_Support.pdf
Fowler, P. J., Wright, K., Marcal, K. E., Ballard, E., & Hovmand, P. S. (2019). Capability traps impeding homeless services: A 
community-based system dynamics evaluation. Journal of social service research, 45(3), 348-359.
MacKean, G., Spragins, W., L’Heureux, L., Popp, J., Wilkes, C., & Lipton, H. (2012). Advancing family-centred care in child and 
adolescent mental health. A critical review of the literature. Healthc Q, 15, 64-75.
Lakey, A. (2011) Exploring Parental Coping with Childcare After the Disclosure of Child Sexual Abuse. Cape Town: 
The University of the Western Cape.
Available at: etd.uwc.ac.za/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11394/5403/Lakey_a_ma_arts_2011.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
Plumb, J. C. and Mandell, D. S. (2011) ‘The Impact of Social Support and Family Resilience on Parental Stress in Families with 
a Child Diagnosed With an Autism Spectrum Disorder.’ Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania. [online]
http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations_sp2/14
Simkiss, D. E., Stallard, N. and Thorogood, M. (2012) ‘A systematic literature review of the risk factors associated with children 
entering public care.’ Child: care health and development, 39(5): 628- 642.
Stantham, J. and Smith, M. (2010) Issues in Earlier Intervention: Identifying and supporting children with additional needs. 
London: Department of Children, Schools and Families. [online] Available at: 
www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_21812-5_0.pdf
Ungar, M. (2010) “Families as navigators and negotiators: Facilitating culturally and contextually specific expressions of 
resilience.” Family Process, 49: 421- 435.
Walsh, F. (2016) ‘Family resilience: a developmental systems framework.’ European Journal of Developmental Psychology, 
13(3), 313- 324.
Walsh, F. (2015) Strengthening Family Resilience. 3rd edition. New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
Walsh, F. (2003) ‘Family Resilience: A Framework for Clinical Practice.’ Family Process, 42(1): 1- 18.
Walsh, F. (2002) “A family resilience framework: Innovative practice applications.” Family Relations, 51(2): 130- 137.

Page 161

https://cssp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/ProtectiveFactorsActionSheets.pdf
https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubPDFs/guide_2020.pdf
https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/01%20family_support_layout_web.pdf
https://www.tusla.ie/uploads/content/Tusla_What_Works_in_Family_Support.pdf
https://etd.uwc.ac.za/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11394/5403/Lakey_a_ma_arts_2011.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
http://repository.upenn.edu/edissertations_sp2/14
https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_21812-5_0.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Therapies ERG (SLCN & OT / PT) Lead:  Eejay Whitehead

Work programme context:

OT/PT

This is a continuation of the therapies test for change work. It builds on the SLCN review and re-specification and is a joint service review of OT / PT with a view to 

developing a new joint, outcome-focussed, service specification across the CCG and LA.

SLCN
Focussed on implementation of the new specification based on the new schools based delivery model

COVID has caused significant disruption to service delivery but the provider has developed proposals to ensure provision for children in the current context.

Programme structure and implementation:

OT / PT working group that meets to review current service and develop new service specification feeding into Therapies ERG.

SLCN implementing the new specification, reporting to Therapies ERG with task & finish groups established around particular issues.

Exception reporting through to POG

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)

SLCN

• Informed schools around the reduction in F2F time – therapists are attending link 

meetings & some clinics & SEND / EHCP meetings are F2F. 

• Attending Head Teachers meetings to explain the new management structure.

• Developing a virtual training offer for schools & parents

• Interviews taking place for 2 Band 7’s.

• Wellcomm – very few screens took place over the summer term

OT / PT

• The team has started back in schools. About 50% of children with a physical disability 

are being seen in clinic, the rest are seen virtually.

• A few schools are still not admitting the staff, mainly secondary schools. 

• The team is looking at an MDT model for children with complex needs 

• Schools are not booking onto training with the team, probably due to the pressures 

on schools at the moment. 

• Review report went to POG on 23.10.20

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
SLCN

• Continue to risk assess service delivery

• Development of the virtual training offer

• Continue to push Wellcomm

• Induct new staff

OT / PT

• Continue to risk assess service delivery

• Raise issues around attendance at training & admittance to schools at 

Support to Schools meeting.

• Progress MDT model

• Complete costings for interim splinting solution & orthotics pathway as 

requested by POG

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 163

A
genda Item

 10



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Costings for interim splinting solution & Orthotics pathway to come back to POG 23.10.20

Risks 

1. Estates: lack of adequate therapy space in some schools and difficulties in travelling across a number of school sites where staff are often not trained to be able to 

support the child. Any new specialist input into schools needs additional resource that needs to be factored in. 

2. 16-19 yr olds: increasing numbers with EHCPs are accessing post 16 learning pathways e.g. 213 young people in City College with EHCPs requiring input, albeit not 

all with therapeutic needs, 75 young people who have moved from Year 11 to college who would require ongoing SALT input. The majority have EHCPs with SALT 

hours, with many of them continuing to stay on at Oakwood and Chatsworth college provision.

3. Achievement of stated EHCP hrs:  if EHCP hrs are prioritised in the current situation then preventative work is not being done which will impact in the longer term, 

potentially with increased numbers of EHCPs.

4. Addressing issues raised in the OT / PT review requires additional investment, potential to affect child development if service cannot expand to meet the growing 

need.

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Additional investment required in OT/ PT 1. Request highlighted at SFG

Estates issues 1. Proposed Changes to education estate shared at LA/CCG Liaison Meeting

2. LA/CCG  planning on health services in special schools – meetings to be 

resumed

Financial spend/requests:

Re-specification of the OT / PT service will require additional investment if it is to address all of the gaps and issues identified within the review report.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

Service offer for 16-19 yr olds and beyond that have left school and are accessing college with EHCPs.

Achievement of stated EHCP hrs: if EHCP hrs are prioritised in the current situation then preventative work is not being done which will impact in the longer term,

potentially with increased numbers of EHCPs.

P
age 164



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Lead: 

Work programme context:
Salford Thrive: supporting children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing

Programme structure and implementation:

Our structure chart will need updating to reflect recent developments, especially around MHiE which will have 

a dedicated  Thrive in Education Programme Oversight Board, and the TIE expert reference group, which replaces

the longstanding working group and will advise the board and undertake work to further develop and support the 

Thrive in Education Agenda.

The Early Years working Group no longer exists but other working groups have met to feed into/develop PIMH 

Plans.

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)

• MHIE ‘Thrive in Education’ programme development - substantial over recent 

weeks: financial envelope agreed by GM to support all elements of the bid except 

for dedicated Commissioning Manager Post - this continues to be a significant 

pressure. MFT have successfully recruited to a number of posts & Trainees with 

further interviews planned in Oct/Nov. An Operational Management team has 

been established (MFT, 42nd St, P2B, EOS, and EH Schools Co-Ordinator), 40+ 

schools involved in briefings in September. 39 schools (of which 11 Secondary) 

have accepted a targeted TiE offer to participate year 1, and a further 16 

identified to received a co-ordinated ‘team around the school’ approach, and  

Jewish schools to be engaged and supported as a sector. 

• Kooth activity in Q1 below capacity, and increased marketing and promotion and 

direct engagement work with Schools planned from September. 

• Neuro Devt: communications developed and awaiting sign off to go live

• In Q2, Gaddum recruited additional capacity for bereavement support and are 

rolling out their offer and pathways through service engagement events in Oct 

and Nov. 13 new referrals were received July – Sept (without promotion), of 

which 4 were COVID related. There are 7 ongoing cases from Q1. 

• Transitions Policy & pathways in final draft following extensive engagement and  

consultation

• COVID impact, recovery  & surge planning ongoing and subject to regular review.

• Start Salford review of CYP counselling by UoS (start up meeting 1st Oct)

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• Consider/agree MHIS/LTP financial investment in CYPMH from April 

2021 (paper provided in August), which includes:

• Kooth continuation to allow for GM integrated approach

• Recurrent ring-fenced continuation funding for MSEDS (subject 

to SFG approval in Nov/Dec)

• Non recurrent funding for 43nd st pressures

• Funding for Gaddum bereavement Counselling 

• Ongoing delivery of Thrive and Trauma Training programme – evaluation 

report and recommendations to be provided by Jane Roberts in 

December.

• Transitions Policy approval required via CYP and Adult governance

• By end of November, all 39 schools will have met with the TiE team that 

will be supporting their schools and have agreed start dates for TiE

Practitioners and pathways for referrals. 

• Kooth GM commissioners have agreed a pan GM review and 

commissioning approach. 

• Plans to test collaborative MAP approach with CAMHS, 42nd st, EH and 

the Bridge to be finalized.

Ongoing - Thrive Network: email bulletins continue to be sent out on a 

weekly basis providing service updates, information and resources 

alongside the EHWB webpages being kept updated, online directory format 

revised and updated

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 165



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

As described on previous outlook, plus:

• Complete recruitment of Salford TiE team (MFT)

• TiE Practitioners start in Schools

• Approval of MSEDS funding (process agreed)

• GM proposal for integrated approach to LTP (CAMHS Transformation plan) review to be considered by NHSE, RAG review 

planned in Nov. 

Risks 

Ongoing pressure of managing Thrive / CYP MH work programme which has expanded significantly since February, with no dedicated commissioning management

support since March. Wider pressures in SCC CYP commissioning team have further impacted with lack support for programme. No dedicated CCG MH

Programme/Contracts Management Support since March.

Surge demand and pressures in MH services, particularly when 42nd st paper referrals re-open and anticipated further impact on waiting times/lists.

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Commissioning pressure Consider options for match funding (SCC funding in 20-21, LTP funding from 

2021 onwards to be built into CYPMH programme)

COVID surge / service demand pressures 1. Continued COVID Surge planning 2. consider non recurrent funding for 42nd st

as per paper provided in August.

Financial spend/requests:

• See MHIS paper submitted in August 2021.

• SCC/CCG to identify match funding for £22,000 recurrent funding to enable recruitment of a permanent CM post to support CYPMH programme (see below risk).

Total costs for WTE incl. on costs = £48-52K dependent on starting salary.

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

n/a

P
age 166



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:        Lead: 

Work programme context:

The Better Outcomes New Delivery (BOND) Programme (previously known as Best Value) saw the clinical commissioning group establish an investment into

Childrens services. The programme looked to intervene and invest in strategic pressure points to develop different delivery models that could deliver better

outcomes for Children in Salford. As part of this development, the trauma and resilience work has always featured as a key component to all the projects, Route

29, Achieving Change Together, Transforming Care Salford, and Domestic Abuse. All these services users are in receipt of services due to the context of adversity

they have experienced. As such, developing this as a trauma informed programme has been key to understanding and approaching service design has been

paramount.

• Route 29 ( No Wrong Door)

• Transforming Care in Salford [TCS] / Special Educational Needs [SEND],

• Achieving Change Together [ACT], and

• Domestic Abuse and a Trauma Informed Response to Adversity.

Programme structure and implementation:

We believe by aligning all these services we are better able to develop the whole system change to Salford Children’s Services to deliver the service outcomes 

and value for money to the Salford population. The 4 programmes are separately managed, each with its own programme team and performance metrics. 

There is a detailed programme plan for each. However, the 4 programmes will be considered together for the financial evaluation; this will help ensure all costs 

and benefits are considered, minimising risk of duplication and omission.

Dartington Service Design Lab have been working with project and strategic leads to further refine and understand the change needed, and a series of 

workshops have been undertaken to facilitate this as per the contract . These have focused on developing a principal theory of change for the wider 

Programme.

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)

• Over the last 8 weeks a report detailing performance and case studies of the 

overarching programme was presented to Service and Finance Group and Childrens 

Commissioning Committee to assure outcomes 

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 
• The final evaluation is currently being drafted to take to Childrens 

Commissioning Committee 

0-25 Transformation: Highlight Report

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 167



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Key decisions re recurrent funding will go via 

Service and Finance Group 

Childrens commissioning Committee 

Friday 23rd October

Risks 

Detailed within the reports

Bond Programme is not funded

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Financial spend/requests:

Issues for escalation ( through 0-25 Advisory Board and/or Commissioning Committee)

P
age 168



| 1

Sub-Group/Programme: Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG) 

Lead: Becky Bibby, Assistant Director, Early Help and School Readiness Contact: Clare Hopton, 0-25 Advisory Board Business Manager 

Work programme context:

The Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG) was established in October 2019 following a refresh of previous arrangements for Early Help

and will oversee the work plan for Early Help across the City. It will provide deep dive exploration and intelligence on the Early Help system to identify

areas for further connectivity and escalate potential barriers and challenges to the appropriate forums and boards.

In response to Covid-19, the group has revisited its key priorities and opportunities for partnership working to develop a revised Living with Covid-19

work plan that will be implemented over the next 12 months.

Programme structure and implementation:

• Reports to POG (joint Council and CCG governance) and 0-25 Advisory Board 

• Assurance reporting arrangements also established with the Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP) 

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)

• Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group met on 8 September and 

identified leads, opportunities for partnership working and agreed timescales 

for the Living with Covid work plan. Reporting template created and regular 

updates will start to come through the group. 

• Deep dive on neighbourhood working at the 0-25 Board on 9 October. Actions 

were identified for further partnership working an are  currently being 

followed up. 

• Quarterly Early Help Newsletter developed, and the first edition circulated 

across the partnership. The newsletter has been well received and positive 

feedback has been received on the layout and content. Please see attached. 

• PID and Project Plan for the 1001 Days Antenatal and Postnatal Pathway 

developed with leads from Early Help and Health and awaiting sign off. 

• Schools coordinators  and police engagement officers programme re-

established 

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 

• Early Help System Guide Workshop scheduled for 10 December. 

• Development of Strengthening Families Project Plan. 

• Salford  Relationship Matters Campaign to support partner 

awareness of parental conflict (this is being supported by the 

Early Intervention Foundation). 

• First updates on progress on the Early Help Living with Covid Plan. 

• Home Safety launch on the 2nd November 2020.

• School Nurse resource pages for professionals and young people 

parents being added to the Salford Family Partnership online 

website.

• Strengthening Families online resources being added to the 

Salford Family Partnership online website.

0-25 Transformation 

Highlight Report

P
age 169



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

• Early Help System Guide workshop arranged for 10 December. 10 December 

Risks 

No immediate risks identified.

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Financial spend/requests:

Not applicable.

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 170



 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

  

 

 

  

Update from  

Becky Bibby - 

Assistant Director, 

Early Help and 

School Readiness 

Chair of the Early 

Help Neighbourhood 

Operational Group 

(EHNOG) 

EARLY HELP NEWSLETTER 

 

As we continue to manage Covid and make plans for living with Covid, we are 

conscious that now, more than ever, our children and families are needing support. 

We know that lockdown has likely caused exacerbated tensions in families and that 

issues may well have gone unreported due to the lack of contact with professionals. 

 

The collaborative response from the early help system in supporting children, young 

people and families during the pandemic has been remarkable and is a real testament 

to the strong partnership working that exists in Salford. The Early Help Neighbourhood 

Operational Group Recovery Plan identifies our joint key priority areas for supporting 

recovery and will ensure that we continue to deliver integrated services to improve 

outcomes for children, young people and families.  

 

Regards  

Becky  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Autumn 2020            

P
age 171



 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Early Help and the Youth Justice Service 

Whilst every family within Salford is unique with their own different support needs it has been identified that Early Help and the Youth Justice 

Service, particularly within their Pre-Court offer are often working with families of similar need. On occasion, requests for family/young person 

support has been sent to and opened at both services simultaneously without any communication between the two. For families this is frustrating 

as multiple professionals make contact at the same time or the family experience being passed from one service to another where their experiences 

have to be retold.  

It has been acknowledged that a more holistic and tailored package of support for families could be offered via a collaboration between the two 

services. There is a wealth of knowledge and resources which can be shared between the two services which can be used to support a family’s 

requirements within one plan. This collaboration also provides staff with excellent opportunities for continued professional development and 

increased awareness of other services within Salford which families who they work with could be supported by. It is hoped this improved 

knowledge and awareness will make for improved exit strategies from services, increasing the ability of families to sustain positive changes on 

closure. 

For further information please contact Nicola Campbell, Early Help Team Manager nicola.campbell@salford.gov.uk or Kay Davidson, Head of Youth 

Justice Service kay.davidson@salford.gov.uk.  

 

 

 

Salford Family 

Partnership 

Webpages 

 

 

Over the summer, a piece of work was undertaken to develop a series of webpages for the Salford Family 

Partnership. The pages have been updated to reflect our move to becoming known as Family Hubs to ensure 

families know we are providing support, advice and guidance for 0-25 year olds and their families as a partnership. 

Our partners in health have created the health visiting section which contains a wealth of information and links 

with our integrated approach for families.  

The webpages also contain links to lots of useful information for families and links to book onto our online sessions.  

Please share with colleagues and families you are working with to help us raise awareness.  

https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/early-help-for-families/ 

The webpages will be added to over the coming months as we further develop our partnership.  We are also 

developing an identity for the Salford Family Partnership and this will be shared with you all soon.  

If you have any comments or further suggestions to help improve the webpages then please contact Kate Berry 

kate.berry@salford.gov.uk or Kim Scanlan  Kim.Scanlon@srft.nhs.uk.  

P
age 172

mailto:nicola.campbell@salford.gov.uk
mailto:kay.davidson@salford.gov.uk
https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/early-help-for-families/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/early-help-for-families/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/early-help-for-families/
mailto:kate.berry@salford.gov.uk
mailto:Kim.Scanlon@srft.nhs.uk


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Early Help Service Antenatal and Postnatal Pathway 
In response to Covid-19 the Early Help Service and the 0-19 Heath Service have devised an antenatal and postnatal pathway which can be delivered virtually 

and through face to face contact when needed. This is to ensure families receive key information and are supported to focus on bonding and forming strong 

attachments with their baby from pregnancy onwards.  

The offer includes an evidence-based Solihull Antenatal course 'Understanding pregnancy, labour, birth and your baby' to all families virtually across Salford. 

The Solihull antenatal online course has been developed by registered midwives and gives parents practical information about pregnancy and birth, whilst at 

the same time introducing parents to their baby. It explains how and why those around the baby are so important, whether they are the mother, father, 

partner, grandparent or birth partner. It integrates the traditional information given on an antenatal course with a new approach to starting a relationship 

with their baby before baby even makes an appearance!  

In addition to the universal pathway we have identified Early Help Practitioners who have the relevant skills, experience and training to become Baby Leads 

to support families who have been identified by partners  as requiring additional support in addition to the universal offer.  These practitioners will develop a 

partnership with the family using the Family Partnership Model approach to ensure all the family’s needs have been explored and a plan to support them is 

coordinated and sustained throughout pregnancy and when baby arrives.  

In order to ensure targeted families are supported to access the full offer we are reliant on receiving referrals at the earliest opportunity from all partners. 

If you have any further queries or questions, please contact Kate Berry, Early Help Locality Manager kate.berry@salford.gov.uk or call the Salford Early 

Help Team on 0161  686 7235 

.  

 

 

 Flu 

Vaccinations 

for Children 

Who should have the nasal flu vaccine? 

The nasal spray flu vaccine is free of charge on the NHS for:  

• Children aged 2 or 3 years on 20 August 2020 – born between 1 September 2016 and 31 August 2018 (this will be done by 

the GP) 

• All primary school children (reception to year 6 done in school) 

• All year 7 (done in secondary school)  

• Children aged 2 – 17 years with long term health conditions  

If a child is aged between 6 months and 2 years an is in a high-risk group for flu, they’ll be offered a flu vaccine injection instead of a 

nasal spray. This is because the nasal spray is not licensed for children under 2 years old. 

Children aged 2 to 17 years may also have the flu vaccine injection if the nasal spray is not suitable for them.  

 

For further information please visit the NHS Child Flu Vaccine web pages.                                                                             

P
age 173

mailto:kate.berry@salford.gov.uk
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/vaccinations/child-flu-vaccine/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/vaccinations/child-flu-vaccine/


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

Supporting 

School 

Attendance  

 

 

Supporting school attendance at school this term (Autumn 2020)  
Children returning to school is a key priority this term to ensure our young people achieve their full potential. The council is seeking 
support from all agencies to promote school attendance with children, young people and their families and reassure families as much 
as possible that all agencies, including schools, want to work in partnership to support all children’s safe return to school. Fining for 
non-attendance will only be used as an absolute last resort.  Further information can be found here.  
 
We know that many children and young people are happy to return to school to see their friends, but we completely understand 
that others will be anxious about going back and being away from their families after spending so long at home. Take a look at our top 
tips page or watch a short film to help your child prepare for their return to school. If your child is starting school for the first this 
September, see our tips for starting school page. 
 
The GM Mental Health & Wellbeing partnership have collated a range of information leaflets, short films, advice and guidance to 
support children and young people in returning to educational settings. 
 
To access please use the following links:  

• Primary School 
• Secondary School 
• Further Education 
• Government Guidance 

EBSA (Emotionally based school avoidance)Thrive Support Pathway 

                                                                                                                                                                            

As part of Thrive in Education and the Inclusion Strategy there will be a new way to co-ordinate multiagency support around children 

and young people who are anxious about returning to school in September 2020, either as a result of pre-existing concerns about 

attending school (Emotionally Based School Avoidance; EBSA) or more specific COVID-19 related anxieties.  This will include a single 

referral point (via the Education Welfare Service) and a graduated response to meeting need using the Thrive Framework. 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/ebsa.  

Staff training is available from the Educational Psychology Service and a number of resources have been developed for parents/carers 

and young people which are available to download: https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/salford-thrive-

ehwb/ehwb-school-resources/emotionally-based-school-avoidance-ebsa/ 

If you have any questions please contact EPS@Salford.gov.uk  or EWS@salford.gov.uk.  

 

P
age 174

https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/coronavirus/children-young-people-and-families/schools/returning-to-school/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/coronavirus/children-young-people-families-and-carers/schools/returning-to-school/top-tips/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/coronavirus/children-young-people-families-and-carers/schools/returning-to-school/top-tips/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/coronavirus/children-young-people-and-families/schools/returning-to-school/school-experiences/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/coronavirus/children-young-people-and-families/schools/starting-school/
https://hub.gmhsc.org.uk/mental-health/primary-schools/
https://hub.gmhsc.org.uk/mental-health/secondary-schools/
https://hub.gmhsc.org.uk/mental-health/further-education/
https://hub.gmhsc.org.uk/mental-health/government-guidance-schools-and-colleges/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/ebsa
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/salford-thrive-ehwb/ehwb-school-resources/emotionally-based-school-avoidance-ebsa/
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/salford-0-25-advisory-board/salford-thrive-ehwb/ehwb-school-resources/emotionally-based-school-avoidance-ebsa/
mailto:EPS@Salford.gov.uk
mailto:EWS@salford.gov.uk


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Skills and Work 

support for 

Young People 

 

 

Find my Future 

On the Find my Future webpage there is information provided for different ages: 14-16/16-18/19-24, on a range 

of different topics to support young people into the next steps into education, employment or training.  

Each page has a section for: 

• Education  

- College and University details 

• Employment 

- Job help / Job searches / Work experience 

• Information Advice & Guidance 

- I.A.G to help support your next steps 

• Financial support 

- Information and help to get you back on track financially. Benefit information, debt advice and funding 

to increase employment opportunities  

• Emotional Health 

- Support, help and advice for anyone struggling with their emotional health 

• Apprenticeships & Training 

- Learning opportunities, training programmes, refresher courses and support to gain an apprenticeship 

• Careers information and Employability skills 

- Gain confidence and learn new skills to improve your prospects when seeking employment  

-  

Each section has lots of information, but if you struggle to find what you are looking for and need further 

support, you can email the Skills and Work team at skillsandwork@salford.gov.uk or call the Spirit of Salford 

helpline on 0800 952 1000.  

 

 

P
age 175

http://www.salford.gov.uk/findmyfuture
mailto:skillsandwork@salford.gov.uk


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Skills and Work 

support for 

Young People 

 

Career Connect  

Support is available to: 

• Young people aged 16-24 who are not in Education Employment or Training or are concerned about 
becoming unemployed 

• Year 11 young people who are at risk of becoming unemployed, or who are worried about their future 
• Care Leavers  
• Young Offenders 
• 16-25-year olds with an Education Health Care Plan  

They can help you with: 

• Careers information advice and guidance 
• Job search and interview preparation  
• Confidence building  
• Labour market information  
• Referrals and placing into employment, education or training opportunities  
• Support to overcome barriers to finding education, employment or training  
• Support with making decisions about your future 

Contact Salford Connexions on 0161 393 4500 - Calls will be answered from Monday to Friday between 9am and 
4.30pm (you may be called back by a member of staff using their mobile). Or email: 
Salford@careerconnect.org.uk.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 176

mailto:Salford@careerconnect.org.uk


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

YMCA Manchester 

We believe all young people should be given the chance to reach their full potential and as such we see our role as assisting in the exploration of 
their abilities. We take a holistic view of each young person, in context, and work in ways that are flexible and responsive to their needs. 
 

Education Department 
We work with young people aged 13-24 that may be at risk of exclusion, struggling in a school setting (or in some cases other alternative education 
provisions), experiencing trauma, have SEND, face SEMH challenges, are a young carer or are Looked after Child. We offer a range of accredited 
education and skills-based training programmes in Sports, Fitness, Employability, Personal Development and Functional Skills.  
 

Alongside the academic programme, our Education Team offers:  

• One to one coaching and personal development sessions.  

• An enrichment programme to equip our students for adult life. 
 

Mental Health Champions 
We co-produce and co-deliver mental health campaigns to raise mental health awareness, break stigma and promote mental well-being strategies. 
Our approach involves coaching and training young people in leadership and mental health thus promoting and encouraging early mental health 
initiatives. In response to the COVID-19 we set up online and remote solutions to continue to engage young people in activities and support their 
mental health and wellbeing. At present (due to current restrictions) this includes virtual volunteering opportunities so that young people can 
contribute their skills and expertise in social media and technology.  
 

 

For more information regarding the services YMCA Manchester offer please contact: 
Nicole Joseph (Head of Services): nicole@ymcamanchester.org.uk                      
Info account: info@ymcamanchester.org.uk  
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

 

 
@ymcamanchester 

 

www.ymcamanchester.org.uk 

P
age 177

mailto:nicole@ymcamanchester.org.uk
mailto:info@ymcamanchester.org.uk


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Help and support for money worries 

We know that navigating the benefits system without specialist help can be difficult. Since the 23rd March 2020 the City Council’s Welfare Rights 

and Debt Advice Service has continued to provide specialist welfare rights and debt advice with rising numbers contacting the service for help as 

a result of the impact of Covid 19. Enquiries into the debt advice team alone have increased by 71% compared to the same period last year. 

The service is key to the City’s efforts to tackle poverty and can demonstrate a real impact achieving nearly £2.5 million in direct financial gains to 

households who have received advice over the past 6 months.  

In order to strengthen the Council’s response to the predicted rise in citizens experiencing financial hardship, the service is appointing an additional 

temporary Debt Adviser to support families referred into Children’s Services via The Bridge. Public Health colleagues have also enabled us to 

provide a part time temporary Welfare Rights Officer to provide specialist benefit advice and representation as part of Test and Trace to support 

people who have financial concerns about self-isolating. 

Salford mum Jenny (not her real name) contacted the welfare rights and debt advice service and explained that she was struggling to pay her 

priority bills including rent and council tax. The debt adviser was able to stop the eviction and set up affordable payments for rent and council tax 

arrears. Jenny was also missing out on extra benefits, which he helped her to claim to boost her income. “I now feel more in control and know that 

help is out there if I need it” said Jenny.  

Welfare Rights and 

Debt Advice  

Contact Details  

 

 

Welfare Rights advice (benefits): Phone 0800 345 7375  

Monday to Friday between 10am and 12pm   

 

Debt advice: Phone 0800 345 7323  

Mondays and Wednesdays between 1pm to 4pm.  

 

You can also refer yourself or someone else via the Welfare Rights and Debt Advice Service online 

referral form. 

 

P
age 178

https://www.salford.gov.uk/advice-and-support/welfare-rights-and-debt-advice-service/contact-us-for-advice/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/advice-and-support/welfare-rights-and-debt-advice-service/contact-us-for-advice/
https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/documents/s21854/10%20Tackling%20Poverty%20Strategy%20Year%203%20Progress.pdf
http://services.salford.gov.uk/tapestry/WelfareRightsAndDebtAdvice/enquiry.aspx
http://services.salford.gov.uk/tapestry/WelfareRightsAndDebtAdvice/enquiry.aspx


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

The Salford Way: Working with/regulating Trauma (Webinar) 

The webinar will cover:  

• The neurobiology of threat: why people do not usually react in ‘logical’ or ‘active’ ways when faced with intimate interpersonal threat; the 

impact of the lack of understanding of why the person did not behave ‘logically and actively’, on the individual him or herself (often resulting 

in guilt, shame and feelings of responsibility); how, and why, people become vulnerable to repeated victimisation. 

• Working with guilt and shame: the psychological underpinnings of guilt; the importance of recognising that reassurance rarely reassures; 

knowing that if you cannot believe something as fundamentally true (from the survivors perspective) as “it was my fault” you won’t be able 

to hear the other stuff the survivor wants/needs to tell you. how to hear the guilt and also challenge it. 

 

The webinar will be delivered by Zoe Lodrick: Zoe is a Trainer, Consultant and Psychotherapist, and a specialist in the field of trauma informed 

practice, with expertise in sexualised trauma, domestic abuse, victim behaviour, sex offending and the interviewing of victims of sexual crimes is 

nationally recognised.   

The webinar will be delivered in 2 parts, as follows: 

 Date Time 

Part 1 Friday 23rd October 2020 9.00am – 12.00pm     OR      1.00pm – 4.00pm 

Part 2 Tuesday 3rd November 2020 9.00am – 12.00pm     OR      1.00pm – 4.00pm  

 

The training will be delivered via Microsoft Teams and you will receive an email with a link to the online session. 

Who should attend: the course is aimed at anyone directly working with children and young people in Salford, such as professionals from health, 

children’s social care, housing, hospital staff, police, schools and education (FE/HE).  

How to request a place: please email Debbie.hulme@salford.gov.uk with the following information: 

• Name & Job title / role 

• Manager name 

• Agency / Team based with 

• Email address 

• Please provide your choice of session for both Part 1 and Part 2 (AM or PM)  
 
 

P
age 179

mailto:Debbie.hulme@salford.gov.uk


 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Home Safety 

Launch   

The Early Help Newsletter will be collated and circulated on a quarterly basis through the  

Early Help Neighbourhood Operational Group (EHNOG).  

We would welcome any feedback or suggestions to help us to improve the content of the newsletter or  

if you would like to submit an article then please contact  

Clare Hopton, 0-25 Advisory Board Business Manager clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk 

The 0-19 Health and Early Help Teams are working in partnership with the Royal Society for the Prevention 

Accidents (RoSPA) to take action alongside parents/carers to protect children from the risks of household cleaning 

products. 

The latest phase of the Take Action Today campaign, supported by Fairy, is being launched on Monday 2nd 

November 2020.   

This follows the scheme’s success in Birmingham, Liverpool, and other areas across the UK, where over 400,000 

families have been helped to prevent poisoning and eye injuries. Over the next few months, the campaign will be 

delivered across the North West. 

In Salford, accidental poisonings accounted for 105 emergency admissions for 0 – 4-year olds between 2016/17- 

2018/19. This is significantly above the average for the North West and England for the period. 

As part of the campaign, a handy magnetic notepad featuring key safety advice will be handed out to families at 

their child’s development check at 9-12 months, 18 months and 2 years.  

Take action today, put them away advice to parents includes: 

• Store household cleaning products out of reach of children, preferably in a locked cupboard  

• Always store chemicals in their original containers 

• Never pierce or break laundry capsules or tablets 

•  Always close the lid of any product 

•  In the event of an incident, follow advice on the product pack and seek medical attention 

Please use the following link for further information on the Take Action Today Campaign  or contact Kate 

Berry kate.berry@salford.gov.uk or Claire Beswick claire.beswick@srft.nhs.uk.  

 

 

 

P
age 180

mailto:clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk
mailto:Take%20Action%20Today%20Campaign
mailto:kate.berry@salford.gov.uk
mailto:claire.beswick@srft.nhs.uk


| 1

Sub-Group/Programme:  SEND  Partnership                                                  Lead: Geoff Catterall    Date: October2020

Work programme context: Our ambition in Salford is for a well-planned continuum of provision from birth to age 25 that meets the needs of

children and young people with Special Educational Needs or Disability (SEND) and their families at the earliest point.

Most of the work programme is captured in the Highlight reports from CAN ERG and Therapies ERG.

The overarching SEND Joint Action Plan now comprises the combined priorities from:-

• Ofsted/CQC SEND Inspection Outcomes

• SEND Strategy Priorities

• JSNA recommendations.

Monitored by SEND Board

Progress summary (last 8 weeks): (high level and by exception)

• Delivery of Individual budgets to children and young people with EHCPs who 

were affected by ‘lockdown’ and not eligible for other routes of support

• 53 requests for EHC needs assessments received (51 for same period 2019)

• 70 new Education Health & Care Plans  issued  ( 60 for same period 2019)

• In 19 cases, the COVID exception was applied  - this means that timescales were 

extended due to reasons directly linked to COVID.

• 0 EHC Plans ceased  (10 in same period 2019)

• Overall performance at 20 weeks down to 74% (from 89% in previous year at this 

point) 

• All SENCOs and SEN team trained in preparation for ‘Go Live’ EHC Hub.

• Multi agency meetings have continued during lockdown and , in the main, have 

worked well on a virtual platform. 

• 2 c Community CETRs, leading to 1 x planned admission to Tier 4 LD Bed.

• 2 x NHSE CETRs for Salford young people, both leading to planned discharges 

from hospital. 

• Increased number of requests for SEND children to be home educated.

Outlook summary: (next 8 weeks) 

Continued support for SEND children and young people to return

safely to school and to receive their entitlement under EHC Plans

when in self isolation.

Now that the relaxation of duties under the Coronavirus Act 2020

have come to an end, focus is upon ensuring full delivery of the

securing and arranging of provision described in EHC plans

0-25 Transformation 

Highlight Report

P
age 181



Upcoming Milestones/Next steps/Key Decisions Date

Inaugural Salford Parent Assembly 

EHC Hub Live – Improved experience for families of the SEN process.

a) EHC assessments  - City Wide

b) Annual Reviews – Special Schools and Salford City College

Phase 2 developments of new Salford special school – to be run by King’s Academy Trust.  Estimated opening date summer 2023. 

Summary of Risk Summary of Mitigation RAG Rating 

Delayed Go Live of EHC Hub Senior officer engagement with provider to keep timeline on track  

Delivery of statutory duties to SEND Weekly performance management data and priorities setting.  Close working 

with SPV.

Financial spend/requests:

Nothing immediate but awareness that increased demand on statutory SEND services will impact across all partners. Performance is dipping in discharge of statutory

duties so capacity to deliver on increasing demand will be a risk.

Please return to Clare Hopton clare.hopton@salford.gov.uk

P
age 182



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report: Ingleside Birth & Community Centre Update 

Committee: Children’s Commissioning Committee

Date: 11/11/20

Category of exemption applied (from list below): 2 and 3

1 Information relating to any individual
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of any individual
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the Authority holding that information)
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the Council, or a Government minister, and any employees 
of, or office holders under, the Council.

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings.

6 Information which reveals that the Council proposes:

a) give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person (including an organisation) or

b) to make an order or direction under any enactment
7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

Standards Committee Only
7a Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality
7b Information which relates in any way to matters concerning national security
7c The deliberations of a standards committee or of sub-committee of a 

standards committee established under the Provisions of part III of the Local 
government Act 2000 in reaching any finding on any matter referred under 
the provisions of section 64(2) of 71(2) of the Local Government Act 2000

Page 183

Agenda Item 13



Public Interest Test Questionnaire

This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality.

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in public 
debate about current issues?

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions? 

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers? 

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)  

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred?

Page 184



FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information? 

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving the 
public useful information? 

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or individuals 
at risk? 

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general would 
benefit more from information being withheld? 

 

Justification of decision
(Please provide details of reasoning)

Information within the report is commercially confidential. It may also impact 
on staff, and therefore the effective delivery of services, and in addition, may 
lead to concern amongst patients.

Other documents attached? N/A

Name of Author: Eejay Whitehead

Title: Senior Service Improvement Manager

Date: 03 /11/ 20

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 187

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 9 September 2020
	5 Finance Report (David Warhurst)
	6 Children, Young People and Families Impact Assessment of Covid-19 (Debbie Blackburn)
	7 Salford Transitions Policy (Debbie Blackburn / Caitlin Chapman)
	Transition Policy Presentation

	8 Integrated Fund Business Plan and Financial Implications (David Warhurst)
	9 BOND Programme Business Case (Debbie Blackburn / Jane Case)
	10 0-25 Highlight reports from sub groups (For Information)
	THRIVE - 0-25 Highlight Report Oct 2020
	BOND Programme - 0-25 Highight Report Oct 2020
	Early Help - 0-25 Highlight Report - Oct2020
	Early Help Newsletter - Autumn 2020
	SEND Partnership - 0-25 Highlight Report Oct 2020

	13 Ingleside Birth and Community Centre update (Eejay Whitehead)
	Ingleside BCC Update Report to CCC November 2020 V2


